# RECLANATION Managing Water in the West

Technical Memorandum 86-68210-2010-03

Literature Synthesis on Climate Change Implications for Water and Environmental Resources

Second Edition



U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Reclamation

#### **Mission Statements**

The U.S. Department of the Interior protects America's natural resources and heritage, honors our cultures and tribal communities, and supplies the energy to power our future.

The mission of the Bureau of Reclamation is to manage, develop, and protect water and related resources in an environmentally and economically sound manner in the interest of the American public.

## Technical Memorandum 86-68210-2010-03

## Literature Synthesis on Climate Change Implications for Water and Environmental Resources

## **Second Edition**

**Prepared by:** 

Technical Service Center Water Resources Planning and Operations Support Group Water and Environmental Resources Division Mark Spears, Alan Harrison, Victoria Sankovich, Jade Soddell, and Levi Brekke (peer reviewer)

External Review by Staff From the Following National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration – Regional Integrated Science and Assessment Centers:

Joe Barsugli – Western Water Assessment Tapash Das – California Applications Program Gregg Garfin – Climate Assessment for the Southwest Nathan Mantua – Climate Impacts Group Gary McManus – Southern Climate Impacts Planning Program



U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Reclamation Research and Development Office Denver, Colorado

## Contents

	Page
Acronyms	v
1.0 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 About This Document	2
2.0 Literature Summary	5
2.1 Pacific Northwest Region	5
2.1.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology	5
2.1.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and	
Water Resources	8
2.1.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources	11
2.2 Mid-Pacific Region	15
2.2.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology	15
2.2.2 Projected Future Climate and Hydrology	18
2.2.3 Studies of Impacts on Natural Resources	21
2.2.4 Studies on Historical Sea Level Trends and Projected	
Sea Level Rise Under Climate Change	25
2.3 Lower Colorado Region	27
2.3.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology	27
2.3.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and	2.
Water Resources	34
2.3.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources	40
2.4 Upper Colorado Region	45
2.1 Opper Colorado Region	45
2.4.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and	15
Water Resources	50
243 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources	55
2.4.5 Creat Plains Region	58
2.5 Creat Flams Region	58
2.5.1 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and Water	50
2.5.2 Chinate Change impacts on Hydrology and water Resources	62
2.5.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources	65
2.5.5 Chinate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources	60
3.1 Decific Northwest Perion	60
2.1.1 Dunoff and Surface Water Supplies	60
3.1.2 Flood Control	70
3.1.2 Flood Colluloi	70
3.1.5 Trydropower	70
3.1.4 FISHELIES allu Wildine	71
3.1.5 Sufface water Quality	/1 71
3.1.0 Glouinuwater	/1 71
3.1.7 Water Defination	/1 7/
3.2 WHU-FAULIE REGION	/4 7/
5.2.1 Kunon and Surface water Supplies	74

## **Contents (continued)**

		Page
3.2.2	Flood Control	75
3.2.3	Hydropower	75
3.2.4	Fisheries and Wildlife	76
3.2.5	Surface Water Quality	76
3.2.6	Groundwater	77
3.2.7	Water Demand	77
3.3 Lower	Colorado Region	79
3.3.1	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	79
3.3.2	Flood Control	80
3.3.3	Hydropower	80
3.3.4	Fisheries and Wildlife	81
3.3.5	Surface Water Quality	81
3.3.6	Groundwater	82
3.3.7	Water Demand	82
3.4 Upper	Colorado Region	85
3.4.1	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	85
3.4.2	Flood Control	85
3.4.3	Hydropower	86
3.4.4	Fisheries and Wildlife	86
3.4.5	Water Quality	87
3.4.6	Groundwater	87
3.4.7	Water Demand	87
3.5 Great l	Plains Region	90
3.5.1	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	90
3.5.2	Flood Control	90
3.5.3	Hydropower	90
3.5.4	Fisheries and Wildlife	91
3.5.5	Surface Water Quality	91
3.5.6	Groundwater	92
3.5.7	Water Demand	92
4.0 Graphical R	esources	95
4.1 Backg	round on Available Downscaled Climate Projections	95
4.2 About	the Map Summaries of Projected Regional Climate	
Chang	e	96
4.3 Interpr	eting the Map Summaries for Each Region	97
5.0 References (	Cited	101
Appendix A Li	iterature Bibliographies	A-1
Appendix B. G	raphical Resources – Downscaled Climate Changes	
Proiected	d over Reclamation Regions	<b>B-1</b>
Appendix C. G	lossary of Terms	C-1
11		

## Acronyms

AOGCM – Atmosphere-Ocean General Circulation Model AR4 - the IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report CA DWR – California Department of Water Resources CAT – Climate Action Team CBO - Congressional Budget Office C-CAWWG – Climate Change and Western Water Group CCSP – Climate Change Science Program CIG – Climate Impacts Group CIMIS – California Irrigation Management Information System CLIMAS - Climate Assessment for the Southwest cm - centimeter CMIP - Coupled Model Intercomparison Project CMIP3 - Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phase 3 (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms) CNAP – California Nevada Applications Program CNAP  $CO_2$  – carbon dioxide COOP - Cooperative Observer Program CRSS - Colorado River Storage System CT – center timing EIS – environmental impact statement ENSO – El Niño Southern Oscillation (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms) ESA – Endangered Species Act ET - evapotranspiration FAR – IPCC Fourth Assessment Report GCM – global climate model or general circulation model (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms, Climate Model) GFDL – Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory GHG – greenhouse gas (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms) **GP** – Great Plains IPCC – International Panel on Climate Change IPO – Interdecadal Pacific Oscillation ISB - Independent Science Board LC – Lower Colorado MAF – million acre-feet (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms)

MP – Mid-Pacific

NCAR – National Center for Atmospheric Research

NEPA - National Environmental Policy Act (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms)

NPI – North Pacific Index

NOAA - National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

PCM - Parallel Climate Model

PCMDI – Program for Climate Model Diagnosis and Intercomparison

PDO – Pacific decadal oscillation (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms)

PDSI – Palmer Drought Severity Index

PN - Pacific Northwest

PRISM - Precipitation Regression on Independent Slopes Method

R&D – research and development

Reclamation – Bureau of Reclamation

RISA - regional integrated sciences and assessments

SAP – Synthesis and Assessment Product

SCIPP – Southern Climate Impacts Planning Program

SFE -- snowfall liquid water equivalent

Shortage Guidelines FEIS – Final Environmental Impact Statement, Colorado

River Interim Guidelines for Lower Basin Shortages and Coordinated Operations for Lake Powell and Lake Mead

SRES – Special Report on Emissions Scenarios

SST - sea surface temperature

SWE - snow water equivalent (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms)

Tmin – minimum temperature

UC – Upper Colorado

UNEP - United Nations Environmental Programme

UNFCCC – Framework Convention on Climate Change

U.S. - United States

USGS – United States Geological Survey

USHCN - United States Historical Climatology Network

VEMAP - Vegetation/Ecosystem Modeling and Analysis Project

VIC – Variable Infiltration Capacity Model (see Appendix C, Glossary of Terms)

WACCIA - Washington Climate Change Impacts Assessment

WCRP – World Climate Research Programme

WMO – World Meteorological Organization

WWA – Western Water Assessment

°C – degrees Celsius

- °F degrees Fahrenheit
- % percent
- $\sim$  approximately

## 1.0 Introduction

The Bureau of Reclamation's (Reclamation) mission involves managing water and power systems in an economically efficient and environmentally sensitive manner. Mission requirements often involve conducting planning studies for the longer term, potentially involving proposed system changes (e.g., changes in criteria that would govern operations for the long term, changes in physical system aspects). For these longer-term studies, questions arise on how consideration of climate change might affect the assessment of benefits and costs for the various planning alternatives under evaluation. Such questions may lead to the analytical treatment of climate change implications for the study. However, such analysis would be predicated on a documented understanding that chosen analytical methods and usage of climate change information are consistent with the scientific understanding of climate change and the published scientific and assessment literature.

This report aims to support longer-term planning processes by providing regionspecific literature syntheses on what already has been studied regarding climate change implications for Reclamation operations and activities in the 17 Western States. These narratives are meant for potential use in planning documents (e.g., National Environmental Policy Act [NEPA] environmental impact statements, biological assessments under Federal/State Endangered Species Act [ESA], general planning feasibility studies). It is envisioned that this report would be a living document, with literature review and synthesis narratives updated annually to reflect ongoing research developments.

## 1.1 Background

Development of this report was motivated by discussion at the February 2008 research scoping workshop convened by the Climate Change and Water Work Group (C-CAWWG).<sup>1</sup> The primary purpose of C-CAWWG is to ensure efficient research and development (R&D) collaborations and sharing of information across Federal agencies toward understanding and addressing climate change and water resources impacts in the United States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Originally, C-CAWWG had a Western United States focus, stood for Climate Change and Western Water Group, and consisted of three Federal entities: Reclamation, the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). Since 2009, C-CAWWG interests have broadened to a national view with membership now including the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Federal Emergency Management Agency.

At the February 2008 workshop, water operations and environmental compliance managers discussed Reclamation's water resources planning processes, their perceptions on required capabilities in incorporating climate change information into such planning processes, and their views on the status of capabilities at that time. Gaps between required and current capabilities were discussed (later documented in USGS Circular 1331 [Brekke et al. 2009a]). One such gap was having region-specific literature syntheses that could be used to provide common support to the multitude of longer-term planning processes that might be occurring in a given region at any given time. Motivations for addressing this gap included ensuring consistent discussion of climate change implications in a given region's planning documents and, also, efficient development of these narratives rather than reinventing the narrative uniquely for each planning process.

Development of this literature synthesis for use in long-term planning processes was given high priority during a February 2008 C-CAWWG workshop. Following the workshop, Reclamation's Research and Development Office commissioned the Technical Service Center Water Operations and Planning Support Group to conduct literature reviews and develop a collection of regionspecific literature syntheses to address this capability gap. The first such review was completed in September 2009 (Reclamation 2009). This document is the second issue and maintains with the original issue's synthesis framework. Key changes in this update include the representation of new literature published since approximately mid-2008 and also featuring additional synthesis in underrepresented areas or sectors from the 2009 issue, as indicated in the next section.

## 1.2 About This Document

The scope of this report is to offer a summary of recent literature on the past and projected effects of climate change on hydrology and water resources (chapter 2) and then to summarize implications for key resource areas featured in Reclamation planning processes (chapter 3). In preparing the synthesis, the literature review considered documents pertaining to general climate change science; climate change as it relates to hydrology, water resources, and environmental resources; and application of climate change science in Western United States and region-specific planning assessments. Most of the documents reviewed consist of anonymously peer-reviewed scientific literature. Certain other documents, such as national and regional assessments, were included because of their comprehensive nature and/or for management-related perspectives. The effort did not involve conducting any new analyses. The following list provides a brief overview of document contents.

Chapter 1 provides context for document scope and intent. The synthesis is meant to tell a representative story covering significant climate change

literature from the last couple of decades, but it does not provide an exhaustive citation of all the literature.

Chapters 2 and 3 offer Reclamation region-specific "starting-point" narratives for including climate change background in planning documents associated with NEPA and ESA compliance.

Chapter 4 discusses graphical resources in Appendix B that show a centraltendency of projected climate changes over the each Reclamation region. It is significant to note that there are many ways to graphically package the projected climate information—this is only one way.

Chapter 5 is a bibliography of all cited references.

Appendix A provides a tabulated summary of all cited and related literature and an associated comprehensive bibliography.

Appendix B provides map resources which describe geographic climate change information evident in current climate projections. The data used to generate Appendix B are at: http://gdo-dcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip3\_projections/ dcpInterface.html.

Appendix C offers a glossary.

The report and appendices are organized with respect to each of Reclamation's five regions: Pacific Northwest, Mid-Pacific, Lower Colorado, Upper Colorado, and Great Plains. The primary audience for this report is meant to be Reclamation staff involved in planning and environmental compliance activities. Other potential audiences include staff from other Reclamation divisions, other government agencies, and nongovernment entities associated with Reclamation projects and activities.

It is envisioned that the various sections of the report will be used by Reclamation staff as boilerplate narratives, and the authors invite these staff to use these narratives as a starting point for literature review sections in their planning documents (e.g., NEPA environmental impact statements, biological assessments under Federal/State ESA, general planning feasibility studies). In such applications, study teams may wish then to abbreviate or augment these starting narratives, depending on the needs of the given study document.

This 2010 version of the report generally is informed by literature surveyed through summer 2010. As with the first issue (Reclamation 2009), this synthesis update was subjected to external review provided by staff from each of the five western NOAA Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISAs) located in the Western United States (http://www.climate.noaa.gov/cpo\_pa/risa/: Climate

Impacts Group [CIG]<sup>2</sup>, Climate Assessment for the Southwest [CLIMAS], California Nevada Applications Program CNAP, Western Water Assessment [WWA], and Southern Climate Impacts Planning Program [SCIPP]). Reviews of the first issue also were conducted by staff from each of Reclamation's regional offices.<sup>3</sup> When the first issue was released, it was emphasized that it provided an initial synthesis and that the report would be a living document undergoing annual updates. It also was noted that readers may have found the content in Reclamation (2009) to be sparse for some resource and geographic areas. Attempts were made during this synthesis update to address such areas (e.g., climate change impacts on ecosystems and water demands and climate change impacts for the eastern Great Plains Region).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CIG was formerly funded by RISA, although they are no longer a RISA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Reclamation regional offices reviewers included: Stephen Grabowski and Robert Hamilton, Pacific Northwest Region; Michael Tansey, Mid-Pacific Region; Carly Jerla, Lower Colorado Region; Nancy Coulam, Katrina Grantz and Jim Prairie, Upper Colorado Region; and Gary Davis, Great Plains Region.

## 2.0 Literature Summary

This chapter presents a synthesis of climate change literature relevant to hydrology and water and environmental resources impacts in each of Reclamation's regions. Summaries generally are divided in terms of studies focused on historical or projected impacts and studies including projected climate change impacts to environmental resources and ecosystems. Contrasting from other regions' summaries, the summaries for Mid-Pacific Region also include a discussion on sea level rise.

While the authors attempted to craft consistent narratives across the regions, the disparity of literature and different review emphases led to some differences in content between the narratives. For example, note the additional wealth of information in on the Lower Colorado (LC) Region studies of historical drought (section 2.3.1) critique of climate models' projections over the LC Region (section 2.3.2). It is intended to create parallel discussions for the other regions with more consistent narratives in the next edition of this report.

## 2.1 Pacific Northwest Region

Numerous studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources in Reclamation's Pacific Northwest (PN) Region. This section summarizes findings from recent studies (1994–2010) demonstrating evidence of regional climate change during the 20<sup>th</sup> century and exploring water and environmental resources impacts associated with various climate change scenarios.

## 2.1.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology

Over the course of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, it appears that all areas of the PN Region became warmer, and some areas received more winter precipitation. Cayan et al. (2001) report that Western United States (U.S.) spring temperatures increased 1–3 degrees Celsius (°C) (1.8–5.4 degrees Fahrenheit [°F]) between 1970 and 1998. Regonda et al. (2005) report increased winter precipitation trends during 1950–1999 at many Western United States sites, including several in the Pacific Northwest, but a consistent region-wide trend is not apparent over this period.

Coincident with these trends, the Western United States and PN Region also experienced a general decline in spring snowpack, reduced snowfall to winter precipitation ratios, and earlier snowmelt runoff between the mid- and late-20<sup>th</sup> century. Reduced snowpack and snowfall ratios are indicated by analyses of 1948–2001 snow water equivalent (SWE) measurements at 173 Western United States stations (Knowles et al. 2007). Regonda et al. (2005) evaluated 1950–1999

data from 89 stream gauges in the Western United States and reports trends of earlier peak runoff at most stations during the period, and significant trends toward earlier runoff were found in the Pacific Northwest. Luce and Holden (2009) report on distribution of streamflow reductions observed during 1948– 2006, showing significant trends in annual streamflow reductions during dry years.

Villarini et al. (2009) analyzed annual peak discharge records from 50 stations in the United States with 100 years of record and attempted to document reduced stationarity. However, their results were equivocal, due to evidence of human modifications affecting runoff generation (e.g., changes in land use and land cover), fluvial transportation (e.g., construction of dams and pools), and changes in measurements, all of which can induce nonclimatic nonstationarity. Consequently, they reported that they were "not able to assess whether the observed variations in annual maximum instantaneous peak discharge were due to natural climate variability or anthropogenic climate change."

Focusing on changes in precipitation extremes, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued Synthesis and Assessment Product (SAP) 3.3 (CCSP 2008), wherein chapter 3 focuses on mechanisms for observed changes in extremes and reports that heavy precipitation events averaged over North America have increased over the past 50 years (Gutowski et al. 2008). Kunkel (2003) presents an analysis of extreme precipitation events and indicates there has been an increase in their frequency since the 1920s/1930s in the United States. Madsen and Figdor (2007) evaluated 1948–2006 trends in extreme precipitation events for each State using the method of Kunkel et al. (1998) and report similar findings. Rosenberg et al. (2010) examined both historical precipitation records and simulations of future rainfall to evaluate past and prospective changes in the probability distributions of precipitation extremes across Washington State and found evidence suggesting that drainage infrastructure designed using mid-20<sup>th</sup> century rainfall records may be subject to a future rainfall regime that differs from current design standards. Extreme runoff due to changes in the statistics of extreme events will present flood control challenges to varying degrees at many locations.

It is important to note that linear trends in hydrologically important variables (including springtime SWE, indices of runoff timing, and surface air temperature) depend on the time period considered in the analysis. Mote et al. (2008), for instance, show that SWE trends for the Washington and Oregon Cascades computed with an end date of 2006 and a start date within a decade of 1955 are robust, while those computed through 2006 from later start dates differ dramatically (but are statistically insignificant because the shorter-term variability is much larger than the longer-term linear trends). This sensitivity to start date is a direct result of the combined influences of natural climate variations on

interdecadal time scales and longer-term anthropogenic trends that are part of many climate records for the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

On explaining historical trends in regional climate and hydrology, chapter 4 of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program<sup>4</sup> SAP 4.3 discusses several studies that indicate most observed trends for SWE, soil moisture, and runoff in the Western United States are the result of increasing temperatures rather than precipitation effects (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This assertion is supported by a collection of journal articles that targeted the question of *detection* and *attribution* of late 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in hydrologically important variables in the Western United States, aimed directly at better understanding the relative roles of anthropogenically forced versus naturally originating climate variations in explaining observed trends. Barnett et al. (2008) performed a multiple variable formal detection and attribution study and showed how the changes in minimum temperature (Tmin), SWE, precipitation, and center timing (CT) for 1950–1999 co-vary. They concluded, with a high statistical significance, that up to 60 percent (%) of the climatic trends in those variables are human-related. Similar results are reported in related studies by Pierce et al. (2008) for springtime SWE; Bonfils et al. (2008) for temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States; Hidalgo et al. (2009) for streamflow timing changes; and Das et al. (2009) for temperature, snow/rain days ratio, SWE, and streamflow timing changes. An additional key finding of these studies is that the statistical significance of the anthropogenic signal is greatest at the scale of the entire Western United States and weak or absent at the scale of regional scale drainages with the exception of the Columbia River Basin (Hidalgo et al. 2009).

While the trends in Western United States river flow, winter air temperature, and snow pack might be partially explained by anthropogenic influences on climate, Hoerling et al. (2010) show that it remains difficult to attribute historical precipitaton variability to anthropogenic forcings. They evaluated regional precipitation data from around the world (observed and modeled) for 1977–2006. They suggest that the relationship between sea temperatures and rainfall changes are generally not symptomatic of human-induced emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Rather, their results suggest that trends during this period are consistent with atmospheric response to observed sea surface temperature variability. Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in the Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) are consistent with forcing by tropical seasurface temperature (SST) trends and discuss that the SST trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the West.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Now known as the U.S. Global Change Research Program.

McAfee and Russell (2008) examined connections between the observed poleward migration of the Northern Hemisphere storm track (a global warming response suggested by current climate projections, sometimes referred to as Hadley Cell expansion [Seager et al. 2007]), atmospheric circulation over North America, and precipitation and temperature responses in the Western United States. They found that during the transition to spring, following a Northern Annular Mode (also called Arctic Oscillation) high-index winter, which is associated with poleward storm track shift, there is a weakening of the storm track over the northeastern Pacific, resulting in warmer and drier conditions west of the Rocky Mountains. They note that these results are consistent with observations of early spring onset in the Western United States.

Several recent studies have examined the climate sensitivity of snowpack in Washington's Cascade Mountains. Stoelinga et al. (2010) and Smoliak et al. (2010) estimated the contribution of variations in circulation patterns to the observed trends and interannual variations in Cascade Mountain snowpack over the 1930–2007 period. Using similar regression techniques, Stoelinga et al. (2010) identified three atmospheric circulation patterns that account for 71% of the variance in their springtime snowpack time series, while Smoliak et al. (2010) identified two circulation patterns that account for 70% of the variance in the same snowpack timeseries. Casola et al. (2009) used scaling arguments to estimate the sensitivity of Cascades springtime snowpack to be a 16% loss per °C of warming. Minder (2010) used idealized, physically based models of mountain snowfall to simulate Cascade Mountains snowpack accumulation under current and warmed climates, estimated a 14.8-18.1% loss per °C warming, and noted that circulation changes might influence the loss of mountain snowpack under climate warming via impacts on orographic precipitation enhancement. Moreover, Stewart (2009) examined global snowpack and melt responses and noted that the greatest responses have been observed for areas that remain close to freezing throughout the winter season.

These findings are significant for regional water resources management and reservoir operations because snowpack traditionally has played a central role in determining the seasonality of natural runoff. In many PN Region headwater basins, the precipitation stored as snow during winter accounts for a significant portion of spring and summer inflow to lower elevation reservoirs. The mechanism for how this occurs is that (with precipitation being equal) warmer temperatures in these watersheds cause reduced snowpack development during winter, more runoff during the winter season, and earlier spring peak flows associated with an earlier snowmelt.

#### 2.1.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and Water Resources

Several studies have been conducted to relate potential future climate scenarios to PN Region runoff and water resources management impacts. A recent paper by

the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) (CBO 2009) presents an overview of the current understanding of the impacts of climate change in the United States, including that warming will tend to be greater at high latitudes and in the interiors of the United States. CBO 2009 suggests that future climate conditions will feature less snowfall and more rainfall, less snowpack development, and earlier snowmelt runoff. The report also suggests that warming will lead to more intense and heavy rainfall that will tend to be interspersed with longer relatively dry periods. Lundquist et al. (2009) report similar findings. In general, there is greater agreement reported between model projections and, thus, higher confidence in future temperature change relative to precipitation change.<sup>5</sup>

The CBO findings are qualitatively consistent with findings in the Washington Climate Change Impacts Assessment (WACCIA), developed and reported by the University of Washington Climate Impacts Group. The WACCIA reports on future climate change possibilities and associated impacts to hydrology, water resources, ecosystems, and other sectors. The WACCIA's report on future climate conditions over the greater Columbia River Basin (Mote and Salathé 2010) suggests increases in average annual Pacific Northwest temperature of 1.1–3.3 °F by the 2020s (2010–2039), 1.5–5.2°F by the 2040s (2030–2059), and 2.8–9.7 °F by the 2080s (2070–2099), compared to 1970–1999. Projected changes in average annual precipitation, averaged over all models, are small (+1 to +2%), but some models project an enhanced seasonal precipitation cycle with changes toward wetter autumns and winters and drier summers. Although the multimodel average suggested small chnages in average-annual precipitation, the range of changes from individual models was relatively broad. For example, among the 39 different future climate scenarios based on 20 climate models and 2 greenhouse gas emissions scenarios, the WACCIA reported that 2080s annual average precipitation change relative to historical conditions could vary from -10 to +20%. These climate changes translate into impacts on hydrology, particularly regional snowpack and runoff seasonality (Elsner et al. 2010). For example, WACCIA findings suggest that under a multiprojection average representing 10 of the 20 climate models referenced above, each simulating the A1b<sup>6</sup> emissions scenario, April 1 snowpack is projected to decrease by 28% across Washington State by the 2020s, 40% by the 2040s, and 59% by the 2080s (relative to the 1916–2006 historical average). As a result, seasonal streamflow timing likely will shift significantly in sensitive watersheds.

Switching focus to extreme precipitation events, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008), which focuses on mechanisms for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Note that some researchers caution that agreement between models is not a sufficient metric for judging projection credibility (Pirtle et al. 2010), noting that the modeling community has yet to demonstrate sufficient independence between models that can be similarly flawed or biased as a result of sharing code or parameterizations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As defined by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) *Special Report on Emissions Scenarios* (SRES) (Nakićenović, N., and R. Swart [eds.] 2000).

observed changes in extreme precipitation to better interpret projected future changes in extremes (Gutowski et al. 2008). SAP 3.3 suggests that climate change likely will cause precipitation to be less frequent but more intense in many areas, and suggests that precipitation extremes are very likely to increase. Sun et al. (2007) also report on climate change and precipitation extremes. Using regional climate models for Washington State, Salathe et al. (2009) predict positive or very small statewide trends and considerable increases in future extreme precipitation events relative to 20<sup>th</sup> century conditions.

These recent assessments on future climate and hydrology are consistent with earlier studies. Hamlet and Lettenmaier (1999) evaluated potential future changes to Pacific Northwest climate relative to the ability of the Columbia River reservoir system to meet regional resource objectives. The authors report decreased summer streamflows up to 26% relative to the historic average, which would create significant increased competition among water users. A subsequent study by Mote et al. (2003) included evaluations of impacts associated with climate change scenarios from numerous climate projections available at that time and reported findings suggesting that regional resources have a greater sensitivity to climate relative to what was previously understood. Mastin et al. (2008) predicted Yakima River basin runoff impacts given average annual termperature increases of 1 and 2 °C combined with no change in precipitation. Their results suggest modest decreases in annual runoff and significant late spring and summer runoff decreases under both scenarios. Rauscher et al. (2008) used a high-resolution, nested climate model to investigate future changes in snowmelt-driven runoff over the Western United States. Results include that runoff could occur as much as 2 months earlier than present, particularly in the Northwest, and earlier runoff timing of at least 15 days in early-, middle-, and late-season flow is projected for almost all mountainous areas where runoff is snowmelt driven. On extreme hydrologic events, Raff et al. 2009 introduced a framework for estimating flood frequency in the context of climate projections or time-developing climate information. The framework was applied to a set of four diverse basins in the Western United States (i.e., the Boise River above Lucky Peak Dam, the San Joaquin River above Friant Dam, the James River above Jamestown Dam, and the Gunnison River above Blue Mesa Dam). Results for three of the four basins (Boise, San Joaquin, and James) showed that, under current climate projections, probability distributions of annual maximum discharge would feature greater flow rates at all quantiles. For the fourth basin (Gunnison), greater flow rates were projected for roughly the upper third of quantiles. Granted, this study represents a preliminary effort and primarily focuses on introducing a framework for estimating flood frequency in a changing climate. Results are limited by various uncertainties, including how the climate projections used in the analysis did not reflect potential changes in storm frequency and duration (only changes in storm intensity relative to historical storm events).

Such future impacts on hydrology have been shown to have implications for water resources management. Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources effects and suggests that management of Western United States reservoir systems is very likely to become more challenging as net annual runoff decreases and interannual patterns continue to change as the result of climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). The WACCIA includes assessment of reservoir operations in the Yakima River Basin under a multimodel average climate change scenario (Vano et al. 2010) and suggests that impacts to snowpack and runoff seasonality translate into reduced ability (compared to 1970–2005) to supply water to all users, especially those with junior water rights. Without adaptation, their results suggest that shortages likely would occur 32% of years in the 2020s, 36% of years in the 2040s, and 77% of years in the 2080s (compared to 14% of years 1916–2006). Focusing on the greater Columbia River Basin, Payne et al. (2004) evaluated reservoir operations under projected hydrologic conditions and explored mitigation options that might become necessary to balance the needs of the various water users. Their findings included that increased winter runoff may necessitate earlier dates of winter flood control drawdown relative to current dates. The most significant operational result was an increased competition for water supply between demands associated with instream flows and hydropower production. To maintain current levels of instream flows, a 10–20% reduction in firm hydropower production would be required. Lee et al. (2009) performed a similar analysis on the Columbia River Basin system with findings consistent with Payne et al. (2004). Their results suggest that current Columbia River Basin reservoir systems could be operated to provide flood control and reservoir refill under climate change scenarios, provided that current flood rule curves are updated.

#### 2.1.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on the impacts of climate change for individual species and ecosystems.<sup>7</sup> Predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include species range shifts poleward, adjustment of migratory species arrival and departure, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack (Ryan et al. 2008). Cayan et al. (2001) document earlier blooming of lilacs and honeysuckles correlated to increasing spring temperatures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ansu and McCarney (2008) offer a categorized bibliography of articles related to climate change and environmental resources impacts. Readers are encouraged to review this bibliography for additional articles relevant to their specific interests.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.3 discusses the effects of climate change on agriculture and water resources (Hatfield et al. 2008). It addresses the many issues associated with future agricultural water demands and discusses that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands. These limited study findings suggest significant irrigation requirement increases for corn and alfalfa due to increased temperatures and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and reduced precipitation. Further, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons grow longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Christidis et al. (2007) point out that increases in growing season length also have ramifications for phenological events, with possible cascading impacts related to water storage, peak flows, and pollinators. The International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Technical Paper on Climate Change and Water includes similar discussions (Bates et al. 2008) on the above issues and noting that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands.

Increased air temperatures could increase aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. In general, studies of climate change impacts on freshwater ecosystems are more straightforward with streams and rivers, which are typically well mixed and track air temperature closely, as opposed to lakes and reservoirs, where thermal stratification and depth affect habitat (Allan et al. 2005). Ficke et al. (2007) present an extensive synthesis and bibliography of literature on climate change impacts on freshwater fisheries. Fang et al. (2004a and 2004b) predicted changes to cold water fisheries habitat in terms of water temperature and dissolved oxygen under a doubled CO<sub>2</sub> climate change regional warming scenario for 27 lake types in the United States, including Western United States lakes. Their findings suggest an overall decrease in the average length of good-growth periods, and the area for which lakes cannot support cold water fish would extend significantly further north. Reported average reductions in the number of locations where lakes presently have suitable year-round cold water fish habitat are 28, 90, and 65 locations for shallow, medium depth, and deep lakes, respectively. Williams et al. (2009) predict future adverse impacts to several species of cutthroat trout due to increased summer temperatures, uncharacteristic winter flooding, and increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Haak et al. (2010) present similar predictions for various salmonid species of the inland Western United States.

The WACCIA (Mantua et al. 2010) reports that rising stream temperatures likely will reduce the quality and extent of freshwater salmon habitat in Washington

State. The WACCIA goes on to suggest that the duration of periods that cause thermal stress and migration barriers to salmon is projected to at least double (low emissions scenario, B1) and perhaps quadruple (medium emissions scenario, A1B) by the 2080s for most analyzed streams and lakes. The WACCIA indicated regions of greatest expected increases in thermal stress, including the interior Columbia River Basin. These findings are consistent with other studies in the region. Battin et al. (2007) focused on the impacts of climate change on the effectiveness of proposed salmon habitat restoration efforts in the Snohomish River basin of western Washington State. Based on climate model estimated mean air temperature increases of 0.7 to  $1.0 \,^{\circ}$ C (1.1 to  $1.8 \,^{\circ}$ F) by 2025 and 1.3 to  $1.5 \,^{\circ}$ C (2.3 to  $2.7 \,^{\circ}$ F) in 2050 relative to 2001 conditions, impacts on freshwater salmon habitat and productivity for Snohomish basin Chinook salmon were found to be consistently negative. However, Battin et al. (2007) also suggested that scenarios for freshwater habitat restoration could partially or completely mitigate the projected negative impacts of anthropogenic climate change.

Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts with feedbacks to runoff volume, water quality, evapotranspiration, and erosion (Lettenmaier et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2008). Burkett and Kusler (2000) discuss potential impacts to wetlands caused by climate change. Potential impacts to five different types of wetlands are discussed as well as how impacts may vary by region. Allan et al. (2005) suggest that, although freshwater ecosystems will adapt to climate change as they have to other stresses (e.g., land use change, acid rain, habitat degradation, and pollution), the adaptation to climate change likely will entail a diminishment of native biodiversity.

Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive species issues (e.g., quagga mussel reproduction cycles responding favorably to warmer water temperatures). Moreover, climate changes could decrease the effectiveness of chemical or biological agents used to control invasive species (Hellman et al. 2008). Warmer water temperatures also could spur the growth of algae, which could result in eutrophic conditions in lakes, declines in water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), and changes in species composition.

Switching to nonaquatic species and ecosystem impacts, McCarty (2001) reports the abundance of Sooty Shearwaters (a seabird) declined by 90% between 1987 and 1994 associated with rapid warming of the California current. Ray et al. (2010) present a synthesis of existing climate change prediction data sets adjusted and downscaled to support efforts to determine the need of listing the American Pika under the Endangered Species Act. Significant increasing temperature trends and earlier snowmelt implications to Pika habitat are presented. Beever et al. (2010) report study findings associated with potential climate change impacts to the American Pika that include results of testing alternative models of climatemediated extirpations. Another potential effect of climate change impacts on ecosystems and watershed hydrology involves changes in vegetation disturbances due to wildfires and forest dieback. In the Western United States, increases in spring-summer temperatures leads to attenuated snow melt, reduced soil moisture, and reduced fuel moisture conditions. This, in turn, affects wildland fire activity. Such effects are discussed in chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 (Ryan et al. 2008) and also Westerling et al. (2006), which documents large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations, in the Western United States. Coincident with trends toward warmer and drier climate in the Western United States over the past two decades (1990–2009), forest fires have grown larger and more frequent. Both the frequency of large wildfires and fire season length increased substantially since 1985, and these changes were closely linked with advances in the timing of spring snowmelt. Hot and dry weather also allows fires to grow exponentially, covering more acreage (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

Several studies have focused on potential future forest impacts under climate change. Westerling et al. (2006) document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations. The WACCIA reports similar potential impacts (Littell et al. 2009), suggesting that due to increased summer temperature and decreased summer precipitation, the annual area burned by fire regionally is projected to double by the 2040s and triple by the 2080s (relative to 1916–2006 annual average). These findings are consistent with earlier studies. Brown et al. (2004) evaluated future (2006–2099) Western United States wildfire potential based on climate change scenarios relative to current climate conditions and current wildfire potential quantified using the Forest Service National Fire Rating System. The study predicts increased potential for large wildfires throughout most of the Western United States with the exception of the Pacific Northwest and with the greatest increase in the northern Rockies, Great Basin, and the Southwest United States. McKenzie et al. (2004) project increases in numbers of days with high fire danger and acres burned, respectively, as a result of increasing temperatures and related climate changes. These authors also discuss how some plant and animal species that are sensitive to fire may decline, whereas the distribution and abundance of species favored by fire may be enhanced due to increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Beukema et al. (2007) discuss the potential for increased fire risk and insect and pathogen impacts to East Cascades ponderosa pine forest ecosystems resulting from climate change. Robinson et al. (2008) describe and compare several ecological models that estimate vegetation development (productivity or vegetation type) under climate change conditions.

Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems through triggering multiple nonlinear or threshold-like processes that interact in complex ways (Allen 2007). For example, increasing temperatures and their affects on soil moisture are a key factor in conifer species die-off in western North America (Breshears et al. 2005). Increased temperatures are also a key factor in the spread and abundance of the forest insect pests that also have been implicated in conifer mortality (Logan et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2008). For example, Ryan et al. (2008) report that several insect outbreaks recently have occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks. Climate change appears to have affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack. The WACCIA also reports that in areas primarily east of the Cascades, mountain pine beetles likely will reach higher elevations, and pine trees likely will be more vulnerable to attack by beetles.<sup>8</sup> The one-two punch of temperature driven moisture stress on trees and the enhanced life cycles and ranges of insect pests kill large swaths of forest, triggering changes in ecosystem composition and flammability, hence a cascading series of impacts such as decreased soil retention and increased aeolian and fluvial erosion.

## 2.2 Mid-Pacific Region

Numerous studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources in Reclamation's Mid-Pacific (MP) Region. This section summarizes findings from recent studies (1994–2010) demonstrating evidence of regional climate change during the 20<sup>th</sup> century and exploring water resources, environmental resources, and sea level impacts associated with various climate change scenarios.<sup>9</sup>

#### 2.2.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology

Over the course of the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century, it appears that all areas of the MP Region became warmer, and some areas received more winter precipitation. Cayan et al. (2001) report that Western United States spring temperatures increased 1–3 °C between the 1970s and late 1990s. Increasing winter temperature trends observed in central California average about 0.5 °C per decade from the late 1940s to the early 1990s (Dettinger and Cayan 1995). Regonda et al. (2005) report increased winter precipitation trends during 1950–1999 at many Western United States sites, including several in California's Sierra Nevada; but a consistent region-wide trend is not apparent.

Other notable assessments of historical climate trends include Bonfils et al. (2007), which report that 1914–1999 and 1950–1999 observed temperature increase trends at eight California sites are inconsistent with model-based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For the MP Region within California, Vicuna and Dracup (2007) offer an exhaustive literature review of prior studies pertaining to climate change impacts on California hydrology and water resources.

estimates of natural internal climate variability, which imply that there were external agents forcing climate during the evaluation period. The authors suggest that the warming of California's winter over the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century is associated with human-induced changes in large-scale atmospheric circulation. Cayan et al. (2001) report that warmer-than-normal spring temperatures observed in the Western United States were related to larger scale atmospheric conditions across North America and the North Pacific, but whether these anomalies are due to natural variability or are a symptom of global warming is not certain. Gershunov et al. (2009) report on the positive trend in heat wave activity over the entire California-Nevada region that is expressed mostly in night time rather than daytime temperature extremes. The authors discuss the relative contributions of the factors identified and possible relations to climate change.

Coincident with these trends, the Western United States and MP Region also experienced a general decline in spring snowpack, reduced snowfall to winter precipitation ratios, and earlier snowmelt runoff from the late 1940s to early 2000s. Reduced snowpack and snowfall ratios are indicated by analyses of 1948– 2001 SWE measurements at 173 Western United States stations (Knowles et al. 2007). Regonda et al. (2005) report monthly SWE trends during 1950–1999 and suggest that there were statistically significant declines in monthly SWE over roughly half of the Western United States sites evaluated for 1970–1998. Peterson et al. (2008) also found earlier runoff trends in an analysis of 18 Sierra Nevada River basins with various periods beginning between 1947 and 1961 and ending between 1988 and 2002. Stewart (2009) examined global snowpack and melt responses and noted that the greatest responses have been observed for areas that remain close to freezing throughout the winter season.

Villarini et al. (2009) analyzed annual peak discharge records from 50 stations in the United States with 100 years of record and attempted to document reduced stationarity. However, their results were equivocal, due to evidence of human modifications affecting runoff generation (e.g., changes in land use and land cover), fluvial transportation (e.g., construction of dams and pools), and changes in measurements—all of which can induce nonclimatic nonstationarity. Consequently, they reported that they were "not able to assess whether the observed variations in annual maximum instantaneous peak discharge were due to natural climate variability or anthropogenic climate change."

Focusing on changes in precipitation extremes, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008), wherein chapter 3 focuses on mechanisms for observed changes in extremes and reports that heavy precipitation events averaged over North America have increased over the past 50 years (Gutowski et al. 2008). Kunkel (2003) presents an analysis of extreme precipitation events and indicates there has been an increase in their frequency since the 1920s/1930s in the United States, although very small trends (1931– 1996) were shown for the climate divisions of the MP Region. Madsen and Figdor (2007) evaluated 1948–2006 trends in extreme precipitation events for each State using the method of Kunkel et al. (1998) and report similar findings.

It is important to note that linear trends in hydrologically important variables (including springtime SWE, indices of runoff timing, and surface air temperature) depend on the time period considered in the analysis. For example, Mote et al. (2008), show that SWE trends for the Washington and Oregon Cascades computed with an end date of 2006 and a start date within a decade of 1955 are robust, while those computed through 2006 from later start dates differ dramatically (but are statistically insignificant because the shorter-term variability is much larger than the longer-term linear trends). This sensitivity to start date is a direct result of the combined influences of natural climate variations on interdecadal time scales and longer-term anthropogenic trends that are part of many climate records for the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

On explaining historical trends in regional climate and hydrology, chapter 4 of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program SAP 4.3 discusses several studies that indicate most observed trends for SWE, soil moisture, and runoff in the Western United States are the result of increasing temperatures rather than precipitation effects (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This assertion is supported by a collection of journal articles that targeted the question of *detection* and *attribution* of late 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in hydrologically important variables in the Western United States, aimed directly at better understanding the relative roles of anthropogenically forced versus naturally originating climate variations explaining observed trends. Barnett et al. (2008) performed a multiple variable formal detection and attribution study and showed how the changes in Tmin, SWE, precipitation and CT for 1950–1999 co-vary. They concluded, with a high statistical significance, that up to 60% of the climatic trends in those variables are human-related. Similar results are reported in related studies by Pierce et al. (2008) for springtime SWE, Bonfils et al. (2008) for temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States, Hidalgo et al. (2009) for streamflow timing changes, and Das et al. (2009) for temperature, snow/rain days ratio, SWE, and streamflow timing changes. An additional key finding of these studies is that the statistical significance of the anthropogenic signal is greatest at the scale of the entire Western United States and weak or absent at the scale of regional scale drainages with the exception of the Columbia River Basin (Hidalgo et al. 2009).

While the trends in Western United States river flow, winter air temperature, and snow pack might be partially explained by anthropogenic influences on climate, Hoerling et al. (2010) show that it remains difficult to attribute historical precipitation variability to anthropogenic forcings. They evaluated regional precipitation data from around the world (observed and modeled) for 1977–2006. They suggest that the relationship between sea temperatures and rainfall changes are generally not symptomatic of human-induced emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Rather, their results suggest that trends during this period are consistent with atmospheric response to observed sea surface temperature

variability. Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in PDSI are consistent with forcing by tropical sea-surface temperature trends and discuss that the SST trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the West. McAfee and Russell (2008) examined connections between the observed poleward migration of the Northern Hemisphere storm track (a global warming response suggested by current climate projections, sometimes referred to as Hadley Cell expansion [Seager et al. 2007]), atmospheric circulation over North America, and precipitation and temperature responses in the Western United States. They found that during the transition to spring, following a Northern Annular Mode (also called Arctic Oscillation) high-index winter, which is associated with poleward storm track shifts, there is a weakening of the storm track over the northeastern Pacific, resulting in warmer and drier conditions west of the Rocky Mountains. They note that these results are consistent with observations of early spring onset in the Western United States.

These findings are significant for regional water resources management and reservoir operations because snowpack traditionally has played a central role in determining the seasonality of natural runoff. In many MP Region headwater basins, the precipitation stored as snow during winter accounts for a significant portion of spring and summer inflow to lower elevation reservoirs. The mechanism for how this occurs is that (with precipitation being equal) warmer temperatures in these watersheds cause reduced snowpack development during winter, more runoff during the winter season, and earlier spring peak flows associated with an earlier snowmelt.

#### 2.2.2 Projected Future Climate and Hydrology

Several studies have been conducted to relate potential future climate scenarios to MP Pegion runoff and water resources management impacts. In general, there is greater agreement reported between model projections and, thus, higher confidence in future temperature change relative to precipitation change.<sup>10</sup> A recent paper by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO 2009) presents an overview of the current understanding of the impacts of climate change in the United States, including that warming will tend to be greater at high latitudes and in the interiors of the United States. CBO 2009 suggests that future climate conditions will feature less snowfall and more rainfall, less snowpack development, and earlier snowmelt runoff. The report also suggests that warming will lead to more intense and heavy rainfall that will tend to be interspersed with longer relatively dry periods. Lundquist et al. (2009) report similar findings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Note that some researchers caution that agreement between models is not a sufficient metric for judging projection credibility (Pirtle et al. 2010), noting that the modeling community has yet to demonstrate sufficient independence between models that can be similarly flawed or biased as a result of sharing code or parameterizations.

Moser et al. (2009) report specifically on future climate possibilities over California<sup>11</sup> and suggest that warmer temperatures are expected throughout the State during the 21<sup>st</sup> century, with an end-of-century increase of 3–5.5 °F under a lower emissions scenario (B1), 8–10.5 °F under a higher emissions scenario (A1FI), and intermediate temperature increase under the A2 emissions scenario.

Switching focus to extreme precipitation events, chapter 3 of SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008) comments on projected future changes in extremes (Gutowski et al. 2008), suggesting that climate change likely will cause precipitation to be less frequent but more intense in many areas, and suggests that precipitation extremes are very likely to increase. Sun et al. (2007) report that under 21<sup>st</sup> century modeled emissions scenarios B1 (low), A1B (medium), and A2 (high), all models consistently show a trend towards more intense and extreme precipitation for the globe as a whole and over various regions.

Several studies have examined potential hydrologic impacts associated with projected climate change. Rauscher et al. (2008) found consistent results using a high-resolution, nested climate model to investigate future changes in snowmeltdriven runoff over the Western United States. Their analyses showed that runoff could occur as much as 2 months earlier than present, and earlier runoff timing of at least 15 days in early-, middle-, and late-season flow is projected for almost all mountainous areas where runoff is snowmelt driven. Maurer (2007) examined global climate model (GCM) and hydrologic model based climate change impacts for four river basins in the western Sierra Nevada and reports that the majority of GCMs show increased winter precipitation; but this was quite variable among the models while temperature increases and associated SWE projections appear more consistent. Null et al. (2010) report on climate change impacts for 15 westernslope watersheds in the Sierra Nevada under warming scenarios of 2-, 4-, and 6-°C increase in mean-annual air temperature relative to historical conditions. Under these scenarios, total runoff decreased and earlier runoff was predicted in all watersheds relative to increasing temperature scenarios, and decreased runoff was most severe in the north where there is more vegetation evapotranspiration (ET) forcing. The model also predicted that the high elevation southern-central region appears most susceptible to earlier runoff and the central areas appear most vulnerable to longer low flow periods. On extreme hydrologic events, Raff et al. 2009 introduced a framework for estimating flood frequency in the context of climate projections, or time-developing climate information. The framework was applied to a set of four diverse basins in the Western United States (i.e., the Boise River above Lucky Peak Dam, the San Joaquin River above Friant Dam, the James River above Jamestown Dam, and the Gunnison River above Blue Mesa Dam). Results for three of the four basins (Boise, San Joaquin, and James) showed that, under current climate projections, probability distributions of annual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Moser et al. (2009) provide an interim summary on the latest climate change science for California and implications for multiple resource sectors. It was prepared as part of the Second Biennial Science Report to the California Climate Action Team.

maximum discharge would feature greater flow rates at all quantiles. For the fourth basin (Gunnison), greater flow rates were projected for roughly the upper third of quantiles. Granted, this study represents a preliminary effort and primarily focuses on introducing a framework for estimating flood frequency in a changing climate. Results are limited by various uncertainties, including how the climate projections used in the analysis did not reflect potential changes in storm frequency and duration (only changes in storm intensity relative to historical storm events).

Such future impacts on hydrology have been shown to have implications for water resources management. Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources effects and suggests that management of Western United States reservoir systems is very likely to become more challenging as net annual runoff decreases and interannual patterns continue to change as the result of climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Many studies have been conducted on projected future climate and hydrology in California's Central Valley and what that could mean for related water and environmental resources. A summary of studies through 2005 is offered by Vicuna and Dracup (2007). Representative findings from these studies are illustrated by Van Rheenan et al. (2004). They identified potential impacts of climate change on Sacramento-San Joaquin River Basin hydrology and water resources and evaluated alternatives that could be explored to reduce these impacts. Five climate change scenarios were evaluated under various alternatives. Under the current operations alternative, releases to meet fish targets and historic hydropower levels would decrease during the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Under a conceptual "best case" comprehensive management alternative, average annual future system performance to meet fish targets would improve over current operations slightly; but in separate months and in individual systems, large impairments still would occur.

Recent studies by Moser et al. (2009), Anderson et al. (2008), and Brekke et al. (2009b) suggest water resources impacts generally consistent with those reported by Van Rheenan et al. (2004) but for more recently developed climate projection scenarios. Moser et al. (2009) suggest that current climate projections over California would lead to decreased snowpack by the end of the century (20 to 40% depending on emissions scenarios), increased risk of winter flooding, earlier timing of meltwater runoff and greater vulnerability to summer shortfalls, decreased hydropower generation (under dry warming), and decreased quality of winter recreation. Brekke et al. (2009b) also explored impacts possibilities within a risk assessment framework, considering a greater number of climate projections, and considering how assessed risk is sensitive to choices in analytical design (e.g., whether to weight projection scenarios based on projection consensus, whether to adjust monthly flood control requirements based on simulated runoff changes). Results showed that assessed risk was more sensitive to future flood control assumptions than to consensus-based weighting of projections. Other studies also have suggested that changes in extreme precipitation and related runoff may

present flood control challenges to varying degrees at many locations, but possibly to lesser degrees in snowmelt dominated basins. For example, Hamlet and Lettenmaier (2007) cite decreasing flood quantiles in snowmelt dominated systems due to lower spring snowpack. It should be noted that this is an area where the existence of dust-on-snow complicates matters, since this phenomenon can lead to rapid snowmelt.

Other notable water resources management studies include Harou et al. (2010) who evaluated economically driven California water resources management and reservoir systems operations using a hydroeconomic model. As a proxy for climate change, their simulations where driven by hydrology reflecting extreme drought from the paleorecord. The authors synthesized a 72-year drought with half of mean historical inflows (1921–1991) using random sampling of historical dry years. Model results include time series of optimized monthly operations and water allocations to maximize statewide net economic benefits that predict impacts to be expensive but not catastrophic for the overall economy; however, severe burdens would be imposed on the agricultural sector and environmental water use. Vicuna et al. (2010) present an optimization algorithm for climate change and water resources management-related studies and report the results of its application on three Merced River basin scenarios. The algorithm explicitly accounts for probabilistic uncertainty using a combination of sampling stochastic dynamic programming and nonlinear programming methods. The application scenarios included 1) limited adaptive management under existing constraints, 2) long-term adaptive management with adjustments to existing constraints, and 3) a hypothetical new reservoir assuming no existing reservoir. The respective results for scenarios 1 and 2 showed declining and increasing benefits. The results for scenario 3 showed the value of including uncertainty about future hydrologic conditions in the decision to build a new reservoir.

Switching to water demand impacts, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) evaluated how increasing air temperature and atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration may affect aspects of California agriculture, including crop production, water use, and crop phenology. They also offered a literature review and based their analysis on plant energy balance and physiological responses affected by increased temperatures and  $CO_2$  levels, respectively. Their findings include that increasing air temperatures and  $CO_2$  levels will extend growing seasons, stimulate weed growth, increase pests, and may impact pollination if synchronization of flowers/pollinators is disrupted.

#### 2.2.3 Studies of Impacts on Natural Resources

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published

on the impacts of climate change for individual species and ecosystems.<sup>12</sup> Predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include species range shifts poleward, adjustment of migratory species arrival and departure, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and the effect on host plant capacity to resist attack (Ryan et al. 2008). Cayan et al. (2001) document earlier blooming of lilacs and honeysuckles correlated to increasing spring temperatures.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.3 discusses the effects of climate change on agriculture and water resources (Hatfield et al. 2008). It addresses the many issues associated with future agricultural water demands and discusses that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands. These limited study findings suggest significant irrigation requirement increases for corn and alfalfa due to increased temperatures and  $CO_2$  and reduced precipitation. Further, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons grow longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Christidis et al. (2007) point out that increases in growing season length also have ramifications for phenological events, with possible cascading impacts related to water storage, peak flows, and pollinators. The International Panel on Climate Change Technical Paper on Climate Change and Water includes similar discussions (Bates et al. 2008) on the above issues and noting that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands.

Increased air temperatures could increase aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. In general, studies of climate change impacts on freshwater ecosystems are more straight-forward with streams and rivers, which are typically well mixed and track air temperature closely, as opposed to lakes and reservoirs, where thermal stratification and depth affect habitat (Allan et al. 2005). Ficke et al. (2007) present an extensive synthesis and bibliography of literature on climate change impacts on freshwater fisheries. Fang et al. (2004a and 2004b) predicted changes to cold water fisheries habitat in terms of water temperature and dissolved oxygen under a doubled  $CO_2$  climate change regional warming scenario for 27 lake types in the United States, including Western United States lakes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Ansu and McCarney (2008) offer a categorized bibliography of articles related to climate change and environmental resources impacts. Readers are encouraged to review this bibliography for additional articles relevant to their specific interests.

They report an overall decrease in the average length of good-growth periods, and the area for which lakes cannot support cold water fish would extend significantly further north. Williams (2009) predict future adverse impacts to several species of cutthroat trout due to increased summer temperatures, uncharacteristic winter flooding, and increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Haak et al. (2010) present similar predictions for various salmonid species of the inland Western United States.

Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts with feedbacks to runoff volume, water quality, evapotranspiration, and erosion (Lettenmaier et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2008). Burkett and Kusler (2000) discuss potential impacts to wetlands caused by climate change. Potential impacts to five different types of wetlands are discussed as well as how impacts may vary by region. Allan et al. (2005) suggest that, although freshwater ecosystems will adapt to climate change as they have to other stresses (e.g., land use change, acid rain, habitat degradation, and pollution), the adaptation to climate change likely will entail a diminishment of native biodiversity.

Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive species issues (e.g., quagga mussel reproduction cycles responding favorably to warmer water temperatures); moreover, climate changes could decrease the effectiveness of chemical or biological agents used to control invasive species (Hellman et al. 2008). Warmer water temperatures also could spur the growth of algae, which could result in eutrophic conditions in lakes, declines in water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), and changes in species composition.

Switching to nonaquatic species and ecosystem impacts, Ray et al. (2010) present a synthesis of existing climate change prediction data sets adjusted and downscaled to support efforts to determine the need of listing the American Pika under the Endangered Species Act. Significant increasing temperature trends and earlier snowmelt implications to Pika habitat are presented. Beever et al. (2010) report study findings associated with potential climate change impacts to the American Pika that include results of testing alternative models of climatemediated extirpations.

Another potential effect of climate change impacts on ecosystems and watershed hydrology involves changes in vegetation disturbances due to wildfires and forest dieback. In the Western United States, increases in spring-summer temperatures leads to attenuated snow melt, reduced soil moisture, and reduced fuel moisture conditions. This, in turn, affects wildland fire activity. Such effects are discussed in chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 (Ryan et al. 2008) and also Westerling et al. (2006), which documents large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations, in the Western United States. Coincident with trends toward warmer and drier climate in the Western United States over the past two decades (1990–2009), forest fires have grown larger and more frequent. Both the

frequency of large wildfires and fire season length increased substantially since 1985, and these changes were closely linked with advances in the timing of spring snowmelt. Hot and dry weather also allows fires to grow exponentially, covering more acreage (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

Several studies have focused on potential future forest impacts under climate change, both through slowly evolving change in vegetation community and through changes spawned by disturbances involving forest fire or pest invasions. Focusing on evolving vegetation communities, Battles et al. (2007) evaluated the effects of climate change on the productivity and health of a mixed conifer forest at Blodgett Forest Research Station in El Dorado County, California. The authors report projected conifer tree growth decline under all four climate scenarios evaluated. The worst case decreased productivity, based on stem volume increment, in mature stands overall was 19% by 2100 with more severe reductions in yield (25%) for pine plantations. These findings are the result of increased summer temperatures since no precipitation trends were included in the model future conditions. Focusing on future potential for fire disturbance, Moser et al. (2009) suggest that the number of large wildfires in California will increase by 12–53% statewide depending on emissions scenario, with larger increases in northern California. The report also suggests that projected climate change will affect coverage of certain tree species and alter the competition among speciessuch as a gain in broad-leaved species at the expense of needle-leaved species.

Westerling et al. (2006) document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations. Brown et al. (2004) evaluated future (2006–2099) Western United States wildfire potential based on climate change scenarios relative to current climate conditions and current wildfire potential quantified using the Forest Service National Fire Rating System. The study predicts increased potential for large wildfires throughout most of the Western United States with the exception of the Pacific Northwest and with the greatest increase in the northern Rockies, Great Basin, and the Southwest United States. McKenzie et al. (2004) project increases in numbers of days with high fire danger and acres burned, respectively, as a result of increasing temperatures and related climate changes. These authors also discuss how some plant and animal species that are sensitive to fire may decline, whereas the distribution and abundance of species favored by fire may be enhanced due to increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Westerling and Bryant (2008) projected California wildfire risks for A2 and B1 Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) scenarios, using the National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) Parallel Climate Model (PCM) and Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory (GFDL) models. They found that "On average, however, the results presented here indicate that increasing temperatures would likely result in a substantial increase in the risk of large wildfires in energy-limited wildfire regimes, while the effects in moisturelimited fire regimes will be sensitive to changes in both temperature and precipitation." They also noted that "while higher temperatures tended to

promote fire risk overall, reductions in moisture due to lower precipitation and higher temperatures led to reduced fire risk in dry areas that appear to have moisture-limited fire regimes." Robinson et al. (2008) describe and compare several ecological models that estimate vegetation development (productivity or vegetation type) under climate change.

Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems through triggering multiple nonlinear or threshold-like processes that interact in complex ways (Allen 2007). For example, increasing temperatures and their effects on soil moisture, evapotranspirational demand, chronic water stress, and carbon starvation (via reduced gas exchange) are a key factor in conifer species die-off in western North America (Breshears et al. 2005; Weiss et al. 2009; Adams et al. 2010; McDowell et al. 2010). Increased temperatures are also a key factor in the spread and abundance of the forest insect pests that also have been implicated in conifer mortality (Logan et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2008). For example, Ryan et al. (2008) report that several large insect outbreaks recently have occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks.<sup>13</sup> Climate change has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack. The one-two punch of temperature driven moisture stress on trees and the enhanced life cycles and ranges of insect pests kill large swaths of forest, triggering changes in ecosystem composition and flammability, hence a cascading series of impacts such as decreased soil retention, and increased aeolian and fluvial erosion. Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

#### 2.2.4 Studies on Historical Sea Level Trends and Projected Sea Level Rise Under Climate Change

Sea level conditions at San Francisco Bay's Golden Gate determine water level and salinity conditions in the upstream Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. Over the 20<sup>th</sup> century, sea levels near San Francisco Bay increased by more than 0.21 meters (Anderson et al. 2008). Some tidal gauge and satellite data indicate that rates of sea level rise are accelerating (Church and White 2006; Beckley et al. 2007). Sea levels are expected to continue to rise due to increasing air temperatures that will cause thermal expansion of the ocean and melting of landbased ice, such as ice on Greenland and in southeastern Alaska (IPCC 2007).

On the matter of sea level rise under climate change, the IPCC AR4 from Working Group I (Chapter 10, "Sea Level Change in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century" [IPCC 2007]) provides projections of global average sea level rise that primarily represent thermal expansion associated with global air temperature projections

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

from current GCMs. These GCMs do not fully represent the potential influence of ice melting on sea level rise (e.g., glaciers, polar ice caps). Given this context, inspection of figure 10.31 in IPCC 2007 suggests a global average sea level rise of approximately 3 to 10 centimeters (cm) (or 1 to 4 inches) by roughly 2035 relative to 1980–1999 conditions. These projections are based on Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 3 (CMIP3) models' simulation of ocean response to atmospheric warming under a collection of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions paths. The report goes on to discuss local deviations from global average sea level rise due to effects of ocean density and circulation change. Figure 10.32 in IPCC 2007 accounts for these local derivations and suggests that sea level rise near California's Golden Gate should be close to the global average rise, based on CMIP3 climate projections associated with the A1b emissions path. Yin et al. (2010) used 12 of the best performing models to estimate spatial variability of sea level rise in the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

As noted, the current GCMs do not fully account for potential ice melt in their sea level rise calculations and, therefore, miss a major source of sea level rise. Bindoff et al. (2007) note that further accelerations in ice flow of the kind recently observed in some Greenland outlet glaciers and West Antarctic ice streams could substantially increase the contribution from the ice sheets, a possibility not reflected in the CMIP3 projections. Further, the sea level data associated with direct CMIP3 output on sea level rise potentially are unreliable due to elevation datum issues.

A separate approach for estimating global sea level rise (Rahmstorf 2007) uses the observed linear relation between rates of change of global surface air temperature and sea level, along with projected changes in global surface air temperature. The relationship is based on the assumption that sea level response to temperature change is very long relative to the time scale of interest (approximately 100 years). Following this approach, the CALFED Independent Science Board (ISB) estimated a range of sea level rise at Golden Gate of 1.6–4.6 feet (50–140 cm) by the end of the century (CALFED ISB 2007). Likewise, the California Department of Water Resources (CA DWR) applied this approach using the 12 future climate projections selected by the Climate Action Team (CAT) (CA DWR 2009) to estimate future sea levels. At mid-century, sea level rise estimates based on the 12 future climate projections ranged from 0.8 to 1.0 feet with an uncertainty range spanning 0.5 to 1.3 feet. By the end of the century, sea level rise projections ranged from 1.8 to 3.1 feet, with an uncertainty range spanning from 1.0 to 3.9 feet. These estimates are slightly lower than those from the Rahmstorf (2007) study because the maximum projected air temperature increase in that study was 5.8 °C (10.4 °F), and the maximum projected air temperature increase for the 12 future climate projections selected by the CAT was 4.5 °C (8.1 °F). Alternative to Rahmstorf (2007), Veermeer and Rahmstorf (2009) present a duel component relationship with short- and long-term sea level response components to temperature change. Based on this work and applying
the IPCC emission scenarios, by 2100, seal levels are predicted to be 1-2 meters higher than at present. It should be noted that projections using air temperaturesea level rise relationship represent the average sea level rise trend and do not reflect water level fluctuations due to factors such as astronomical tides, atmospheric pressure changes, wind stress, floods, or the El Niño/Southern Oscillation.

Some studies have explored implications of sea level rise for the San Francisco Bay-Delta region. Knowles (2010) developed a hydrodynamic model of the San Francisco Bay estuary driven by GCM-based projections of hourly water levels at Presidio, California, during 2000–2100. The model indicates that, for the San Francisco Bay as a whole; the 1-year peak sea level event by 2050 nearly equals the 100-year peak event for 2000. Other findings include predicted increased risks to wetlands and some developed fill areas in the north portion of the bay and increased risks to developed areas in the south.

## 2.3 Lower Colorado Region

Numerous studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources in Reclamation's Lower Colorado Region. This section summarizes findings from recent studies (1994–2010) demonstrating evidence of regional climate change during the 20<sup>th</sup> century and exploring water and environmental resources impacts associated with various climate change scenarios.<sup>14</sup>

### 2.3.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology

Over the course of the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century, it appears that all areas of the LC Region became warmer, but the causes of precipitation trends are more uncertain. Cayan et al. (2001) report that Western United States spring temperatures have increased 1-3 °C since the 1970s. Based on data available from the Western Climate Mapping Initiative,<sup>15</sup> the change in 11-year annual mean during the 20<sup>th</sup> century is roughly +1.2 °C for the Upper Colorado River Basin and +1.7 °C for the Lower

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Many of these studies have been summarized already in two available literature syntheses. The first focuses on California hydrology and water resources and summarized studies completed through 2005 (Vicuna and Dracup 2007). Although the majority of the information in this document pertains to central and northern California, some studies have geographic focus that extends into the LC Region. The second literature synthesis (Reclamation 2007) focuses on Colorado River Basin studies, addressing water resources in both the Upper Colorado (UC) and LC Regions. It was prepared as appendix U for the Final Environmental Impact Statement, Colorado River Interim Guidelines for Lower Basin Shortages and Coordinated Operations for Lake Powell and Lake Mead (i.e., Shortage Guidelines FEIS).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> http://www.cefa.dri.edu/Westmap/.

Colorado River Basin.<sup>16</sup> Groisman et al. (2004; figure 4), using gridded U.S. Historical Climate Network (USHCN) stations data, note annual mean and minimum temperature increases of 1-2 °C for most of the LC Region for 1900-2002, and 2–4 °C spring minimum temperature increases throughout most of the LC Region (figure 5). Mote et al. (2005; figure 6) document positive linear trends in winter temperature of up to 4 °C at LC Region USHCN stations, for 1930-1997 and 1950–1997. Hoerling and Eischeid (2007) report a net summer season warming of 0.9 °C since 1951 in the Southwest, with very high confidence that the warming exceeds levels of natural climate variability. Weiss and Overpeck (2005) show significant positive temperature trends in Sonoran Desert weather stations (1960–2000), with widespread spatially coherent trends evident in January, February, March, and May. Moreover, Weiss and Overpeck (2005) note an increase in the length of the frost-free season in the heart of the Sonoran Desert, which corroborates similar findings in a study of United States trends in numbers of frost days and dates of first and last frosts (Easterling 2002). For the LC Region, the number of winter and spring frost days in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century decreased, the date of the last spring frost arrives earlier in the year, and the date of the first fall frost arrives later in the year (Easterling 2002). Easterling's findings are corroborated by Christidis et al. (2007), who found that the lengthening of the growing season is primarily an outcome of earlier springs and that the change in growing season length cannot be explained by internal climate variability or natural external forcings, either globally or at the scale of North America, for 1950–1999.

Sheppard et al. (2002) report that the most prominent feature in low-frequency variability in a 400-year-long reconstruction of Southwest summer temperatures is the recent increase in regional temperature; the Southwest region cited in Sheppard et al. stretches from Texas to California. All of the aforementioned results demonstrate various nuances of the overall increase in temperatures across the LC Region.

Switching from temperature to precipitation, over the periods 1930–1997 and 1950–1997 winter precipitation has increased in the LC Region, exhibiting increasing trends of over 60% at USHCN stations prior to onset of extended drought in the late 1990s; this result is corroborated by Regonda et al. (2005), who find statistically significant increases in winter precipitation (November–March total) for the majority of the LC Region NOAA Coop Network stations during 1950–1999. For 1900–2002, Groisman et al. (2004; figure 6) show a mix of annual precipitation trends in gridded USHCN stations in the LC Region, with clear declines in the western part of the region but increases in the eastern part of the region. Investigations for 1916–2003 by Hamlet et al. (2005) show that precipitation variability is most strongly associated with multidecade variability, rather than long-term trends. Hamlet et al. (2005) conclude that "[although] the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Computed as difference in 11-year mean annual temperature during period centered on 2001 (i.e., 1996–2006) minus that during period centered on 1901 (i.e., 1896–1906).

precipitation trends from 1916 to 2003 are broadly consistent with many global warming scenarios, it is not clear whether the modestly increasing trends in precipitation that have been observed over the Western United States for this period are primarily an artifact of decadal variability and the time period examined, or are due to longer-term effects such as global warming." Guentchev et al. (2010) analyzed homogeneity of three gridded precipitation datasets that have been used in studies of the Colorado River Basin; they report that all three datasets show breakpoints in 1977 and 1978, and suggest that these may be due to an anomalously rapid shift in the Pacific Decadal Oscillation. They note that, for 1950-1999, the data are sufficiently homogeneous for analyses of precipitation variability, when aggregated on a subregional scale.

Coincident with these trends, the Western United States and LC Region also experienced a general decline in spring snowpack, reduced fractions of winter precipitation occurring as snowfall, and earlier snowmelt runoff. Reduced snowpack and snowfall fractions are indicated by analyses of 1949–2004 snowfall liquid water equivalent (SFE) and precipitation measurements at 207 Western United States National Weather Service cooperative observer stations (Knowles et al. 2007). Knowles et al. found that declines in the ratio of SFE to precipitation were greatest at mid-to-low elevations and during the months of January and March. They also determined that these declines were strongly related to warming trends, especially on wet days, and that multidecade variability, such as shifts in the Pacific Decadal Oscillation, could only partly explain the observed changes. Similarly, Mote et al. (2005) note strong correlations between temperature, winter season snowmelt events, and total April 1 SWE at SNOTEL stations (U.S. Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Corps automated Snowpack Telemetry) in the LC Region; SNOTEL stations usually are located in mountain environments and, thus, show observations at higher elevations than the stations examined by Knowles et al. These correlations imply that warming results in less April 1 SWE through the increased frequency of melt events and are consistent with evidence of declining spring snowpack across North America in the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (IPCC 2007). Mote (2006) used snow course, USHCN, and SNOTEL data to examine the causes of trends in April 1 SWE. Most of the LC Region snow course stations used by Mote are in Utah, Nevada, Arizona, and western New Mexico; and these show a mix of positive and negative trends. However, there are primarily negative SWE trends at low elevations, where there is a strong temperature dependence in the SWE declines. Moreover, Stewart (2009) examined global snowpack and melt responses and noted that the greatest responses have been observed for areas that remain close to freezing throughout the winter season. Regonda et al. (2005; figure 6) demonstrate that warm, dry "snow eating" temperature spells in the LC Region have been coming earlier in the year; dramatic impacts of dry spells were seen in the LC Region in 2004 (Pagano et al. 2004).

Knowles et al. (2007) note that warming during December–March have the greatest influence on snow deposition, whereas warming in April–June accelerates snow melt, which results in earlier center of mass of streamflow<sup>17</sup> (Stewart et al. 2005). Earlier melt and center of mass have implications for reservoir storage and low flows following peak runoff. Regonda et al. (2005) evaluated 1950–1999 data from 89 stream gauges in the Western United States and reports trends of reduced SWE and peak runoff occurring earlier at most stations during the period; although, many of the sites examined in the LC Region did not exhibit trends toward reduced SWE and earlier peak runoff. Stewart et al. (2005) demonstrate that trends toward earlier center of mass of spring streamflow in the Upper Colorado River Basin is well correlated with increasing temperatures.

Villarini et al. (2009) analyzed annual peak discharge records from 50 stations in the United States with 100 years of record and attempted to document reduced stationarity. However, their results were equivocal, due to evidence of human modifications affecting runoff generation (e.g., changes in land use and land cover), fluvial transportation (e.g., construction of dams and pools), and changes in measurements, all of which can induce nonclimatic nonstationarity. Consequently, they reported that they were "not able to assess whether the observed variations in annual maximum instantaneous peak discharge were due to natural climate variability or anthropogenic climate change."

Focusing on changes in precipitation extremes, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008), wherein chapter 3 focuses on mechanisms for observed changes in extremes and and reports heavy precipitation events averaged over North America have increased over the past 50 years (Gutowski et al. 2008). Kunkel (2003) presents an analysis of extreme precipitation events and indicates there has been an increase in their frequency since the 1920s/1930s in the United States, although very small trends (1931– 1996) were shown for the climate divisions of the LC Region. It should be noted, however, trends for certain LC Region areas are not statistically significant (northwestern Arizona and western California). Madsen and Figdor (2007) evaluated 1948–2006 trends in extreme precipitation events for each State using the method of Kunkel et al. (1998) and report similar findings.

Painter et al. (2010) discuss the role of dust deposition on snowmelt timing and runoff amount. The relevance to climate change is that the impact of warming on runoff timing is less for dusty snow because a greater fraction of the energy needed for snowmelt comes from sunlight, not air-temperature. Also, dust can impact even relatively cold, high-elevation snowpack. Dust-on-snow is very prevalent in the Upper Colorado River Basin, with a likely origin due to human-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Center of mass of streamflow is measured by the date when 50% of total annual streamflow is recorded.

caused land disturbance on the Colorado Plateau. Understanding the role of dust is important for interpreting the historical record since it is important not to attribute all the changes in runoff timing to warmer temperatures.

Although the preceding studies speak to the general effects of warming in snowmelt-dominated basins, many of these findings are somewhat less applicable in the LC Region. This is because much of the region lies at a lower elevation where hydrology is rainfall-runoff dominated rather than snowmelt-dominated.

Other notable studies have assessed trends in hydrologic drought over the LC Region. Andreadis and Lettenmaier (2006) examined drought-related parameters over 1915–2003, using model-generated data and found that the Southwest (including the LC Region) was one of the few coherent regions of increasing drought severity in the contiguous United States-despite evidence of increased soil moisture over the southeastern half of the LC Region. Groisman and Knight (2008) show that the mean duration of prolonged dry spells in the Southwestern United States during the last 40 years (1951–2005) has increased. Sheppard et al. (2002), who examined moisture variations in the Southwest (a region that encompasses most of the LC Region) using the PDSI during the last 300 years (but prior to the 2000s drought in the Southwest), note no linear increase since 1700, but many substantial extended periods of drought. Other paleoclimate investigations of drought and streamflow also note multidecade variability and many periods of extended drought in the LC Region (e.g., Cook et al. 2004; Hughes and Diaz 2008; MacDonald et al. 2008) and in streams feeding the LC Region, such as the Colorado River (Woodhouse et al. 2006; Meko et al. 2007). Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in PDSI are consistent with forcing by tropical sea-surface temperature trends and discuss that the SST trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that Tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the West.

Recent investigations have shown strong connections between multiyear to multidecade drought and ocean-atmosphere variations in the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans (e.g., McCabe et al. 2004; MacDonald et al. 2008; Woodhouse et al. 2009; Cook et al. 2010). The upshot of work examining historical and paleodrought is that drought and precipitation in the LC Region is primarily dominated by interannual and multidecade variations related to ocean-atmosphere interactions. This conclusion is supported by detection and attribution studies by Hoerling and Eischeid (2007), who find that, during the last half century, it is likely that sea surface temperature anomalies have been important in forcing severe droughts in North America. Woodhouse et al. (2009) examined signatures of atmospheric circulation associated with North American drought and found two primary modes: one related to the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) and one related to high latitude Northern Hemisphere circulation, such as the Northern Annular Mode (Arctic Oscillation). The ENSO mode plays a key, but not exclusive, role in the Lower Colorado Region drought and wet periods; Woodhouse et al. (2009) note that the early 20<sup>th</sup> century pluvial, which coincided with the signing of the Colorado River Compact, was characterized by a strength and persistence of both atmospheric circulation modes that was unprecedented back to the 1400s. They also note that the medieval drought, associated with the most persistent low flows in the Colorado River Basin, was kicked off by the ENSO mode, but other factors influenced the drought after the mid-1100s. Recent work by Ben Cook and colleagues (Cook et al. 2010) demonstrate that the Pacific Ocean is the primary driver of drought in the Lower Colorado River, and while the direct influence of the Atlantic on drought is relatively weak, it may significantly amplify forcing from the Pacific. Cook et al. (2010) also note that land surface factors can amplify drought, such as in the Dust Bowl drought of the 1930s. This insight resonates with Painter et al.'s (2010) finding that a five-fold increase in dust loading, from anthropogenically disturbed soils in the Southwest, decreased snow albedo and shortened the duration of snow cover by several weeks during the last 100 years. They attribute a loss of 5% of annual average Colorado River flow, measured at Lees Ferry, to increased dust loading on snow, generating early runoff and increased evapotranspiration from vegetation and exposed soils.

Work by MacDonald et al. (2008) suggests that ongoing radiative forcing (greenhouse gases, solar, and aerosols) and warming "could be capable of locking much of southwestern North America into an era of persistent aridity and more prolonged droughts." Hoerling and Eischeid (2007) partially agree with the aforementioned conclusion, as they state: "For the longer-term [drought] events, the effect of steady forcing through sea surface temperature anomalies becomes more important. Also, the accumulating greenhouse gases and global warming have increasingly been felt as a causative factor, primarily through their influence on Indian Ocean/West Pacific temperatures, conditions to which North American climate is sensitive. The severity of both short- and long-term droughts has likely been amplified by local greenhouse gas warming in recent decades." Cayan et al. (2010) used combined GCM and hydrologic models to conclude that the early 21<sup>st</sup> century Colorado River Basin drought has been the most extreme in over a century. This study defines extreme drought years as those when the areaaveraged soil moisture falls below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile for the 1951–1999 period; there were 11 such years during 1916–2008, including 2002, 2007, and 2008.

On explaining historical trends in regional climate and hydrology, chapter 4 of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program SAP 4.3 discusses several studies that indicate most observed trends for SWE, soil moisture, and runoff in the Western United States are the result of increasing temperatures rather than precipitation effects (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This assertion is supported by a collection of journal articles that targeted the question of *detection* and *attribution* of late 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in hydrologically important variables in the Western United States, aimed directly at better understanding the relative roles of anthropogenically forced versus naturally originating climate variations

explaining observed trends. Barnett et al. (2008) performed a multiple variable formal detection and attribution study and showed how the changes in Tmin, SWE, precipitation, and CT for 1950–1999 co-vary. They concluded, with a high statistical significance, that up to 60% of the climatic trends in those variables are human-related. Similar results are reported in related studies by Pierce et al. (2008) for springtime SWE; Bonfils et al. (2008) for temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States; Hidalgo et al. (2009) for streamflow timing changes; and Das et al. (2009) for temperature, snow/rain days ratio, SWE, and streamflow timing changes. An additional key finding of these studies is that the statistical significance of the anthropogenic signal is greatest at the scale of the entire Western United States and weak or absent at the scale of regional scale drainages with the exception of the Columbia River Basin (Hidalgo et al. 2009).

While the trends in Western United States river flow, winter air temperature, and snow pack might be explained partially by anthropogenic influences on climate, Hoerling et al. (2010) show that it remains difficult to attribute historical precipitaton variability to anthropogenic forcings. They evaluated regional precipitation data from around the world (observed and modeled) for 1977–2006. They suggest that the relationship between sea temperatures and rainfall changes generally are not symptomatic of human-induced emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Rather, their results suggest that trends during this period are consistent with atmospheric response to observed sea surface temperature variability. Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in PDSI are consistent with forcing by tropical sea-surface temperature trends and discuss that the SST trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the West. McAfee and Russell (2008) examined connections between the observed poleward migration of the Northern Hemisphere storm track (a global warming response suggested by current climate projections, sometimes referred to as Hadley Cell expansion [Seager et al. 2007]), atmospheric circulation over North America, and precipitation and temperature responses in the Western United States. They found that, during the transition to spring, following a Northern Annular Mode (also called Arctic Oscillation) high-index winter, which is associated with poleward storm track shifts, there is a weakening of the storm track over the northeastern Pacific, resulting in warmer and drier conditions west of the Rocky Mountains. They note that these results are consistent with observations of early spring onset in the Western United States.

These findings are significant for regional water resources management and reservoir operations because snowpack traditionally has played a central role in determining the seasonality of natural runoff. In many LC Region headwater basins, the precipitation stored as snow during winter accounts for a significant portion of spring and summer inflow to lower elevation reservoirs. The mechanism for how this occurs is that (with precipitation being equal) warmer temperatures in these watersheds cause reduced snowpack development during winter, more runoff during the winter season, and earlier spring peak flows associated with an earlier snowmelt.

### 2.3.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and Water Resources

Several studies have been conducted to relate potential future climate scenarios to LC Region runoff and water resources management impacts. A recent paper by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO 2009) presents an overview of the current understanding of the impacts of climate change in the United States, including that warming will tend to be greater at high latitudes and in the interiors of the United States. CBO 2009 suggests that future climate conditions will feature less snowfall and more rainfall, less snowpack development, and earlier snowmelt runoff. The report also suggests that warming will lead to more intense and heavy rainfall that will tend to be interspersed with longer relatively dry periods. Lundquist et al. (2009) report similar findings.

On future temperature and precipitation projections over the Colorado River Basin and LC Region, there is greater agreement reported between model projections and, thus, higher confidence in future temperature change.<sup>18</sup> There is much less agreement in the sign of change and, thus, less confidence in projections for precipitation change for *middle latitude* regions (Dai 2006) like the Upper Colorado River Basin. However, projected precipitation changes for subtropical latitudes (e.g., the more southern parts of the LC Region) are generally more consistent and suggest a tendency toward less annual precipitation, reduced basin-wide runoff, decreased soil moisture, and increased evapotranspiration in the LC Region (Milly et al. 2005; Seager et al. 2007; IPCC 2007; Cayan et al. 2010; Gutzler and Robbins 2010). For example, Seager and Vecchi (2010) discuss that the 24 climate models used by IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) robustly predict that the Southwestern United States will dry throughout the current century and rising temperatures are leading to a shorter snow season with later onset and earlier snowmelt and more winter precipitation falling as rain instead of snow. Gutzler and Robbins (2010) note that projected trends in PDSI imply that higher evaporation rates, associated with positive temperature trends, exacerbate drought severity to the extent such that "the projected trend toward warmer temperatures inhibits recovery from droughts caused by decade-scale precipitation deficits." Garfin et al. (2010), using statistically downscaled data generated by Eischeid, examined projected changes for the southern Colorado Plateau and point out that GCM agreement is greatest for the region's May-June arid foresummer, with A1B scenario (modest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Note that some researchers caution that agreement between models is not a sufficient metric for judging projection credibility (Pirtle et al. 2010), noting that the modeling community has yet to demonstrate sufficient independence between models that can be similarly flawed or biased as a result of sharing code or parameterizations.

GHG increases) projections showing 11–45% declines in May–June precipitation. This result is significant, because historical climate observations point to this season as critical for driving vegetation evaporative demand (Weiss et al. 2009) and generating water stress that leads to conifer mortality (Breshears et al. 2005; Allen et al. 2010).

It is important to note, however, that the GCMs used in the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (FAR) poorly simulate characteristics of the summer monsoon circulation, which is important to the LC Region (Lin et al. 2008); the IPCC FAR shows a relative lack of agreement on summer precipitation projections over the LC Region for 14 models (A1B scenario) used in their end of 21<sup>st</sup> century projections (IPCC 2007). Nevertheless, Dominguez et al. (2010) evaluated the ability of IPCC AR4 coupled models to represent the climate of the Southwest. Using a reliability ensemble average statistic (Giorgi and Mearns 2002), they selected two GCMs (MPI ECHAM5 and UKMO HadCM3) that most realistically captured seasonal precipitation, temperature, and atmospheric circulation including the summer monsoon and ENSO. Their projections suggest that future aridity of the Lower Colorado Region will be dramatically amplified during La Niña conditions, which will be much more severe—warmer and drier—than during the historic period.

Rauscher et al. (2008) found consistent results using a high-resolution, nested climate model to investigate future changes in snowmelt-driven runoff over the Western United States. Their analyses showed that runoff could occur as much as 2 months earlier than present, and earlier runoff timing of at least 15 days in early-, middle-, and late-season flow is projected for almost all mountainous areas where runoff is snowmelt driven. Diffenbaugh et al. (2005) used the RegCM3 regional climate model (SRES A2 scenario) to examine future changes in climate extremes, comparing 2071–2095 with 1961–1985. They found substantial and statistically significant increases in the number of days per year with maximum and minimum temperatures above the highest 5% of values in the reference period (i.e., extremely hot) as well as increases in the length of heat waves and an increased fraction of extreme precipitation events in the LC Region.

In a subsequent study, using a large suite of CMIP3 and dynamically downscaled climate model experiments, Diffenbaugh and colleagues found that the intensification of hot extremes could result from relatively small increases in GHGs (Diffenbaugh and Ashfaq 2010). They noted that this intensification is associated with a shift toward more anticyclonic warm season atmospheric circulation and that the duration of heat waves in the Lower Colorado Region will exceed 1951–1999 levels from 2–5 times per decade between 2020–2039, depending on location in the Lower Colorado Region. They note that extremes during the hottest season will be exceeded with increasing frequency over the course of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Diffenbaugh et al. (2008) identify the Southwest United States and northwestern Mexico as persistent hot spots of climate change vulnerability due to high precipitation variability and projected higher

temperatures. Meehl et al. (2004), using the NCAR PCM and an A2 emissions scenario, noted a decrease in the annual number of frost days in the LC Region, when comparing 2080–2099 with 1961–1990. Tebaldi et al. (2006) also found an increasing incidence of heat waves over the LC Region in experiments that used nine GCMs with a variety of SRES scenarios. A detailed study of the aforementioned temperature-related parameters by Bell et al. (2004), using the RegCM2.5 regional climate model for a world with atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration doubled relative to *late 20<sup>th</sup> century conditions*, shows similar future trends for three subregions of southern California in the LC Region. These experiments essentially show that increases in extreme warm temperatures and decreases in extreme cool temperatures are consistent with mean warming due to human-caused climate change (enhanced radiative forcing). Moreover, increases in minimum and maximum temperatures, length of heat waves, and length of frost-free season suggest potential increases in demand for water and electric power.

Switching focus to extreme precipitation events, chapter 3 of SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008) comments on projected future changes in extremes (Gutowski et al. 2008), suggesting that climate change likely will cause precipitation to be less frequent but more intense in many areas and suggests that precipitation extremes are very likely to increase. Sun et al. (2007) report that, under 21<sup>st</sup> century modeled emissions scenarios B1 (low), A1B (medium), and A2 (high), all models consistently show a trend towards more intense and extreme precipitation for the globe as a whole and over various regions. Diffenbaugh et al. (2005), using a regional climate model, project increases in the fraction of annual precipitation falling as extreme precipitation for more than half of the LC Region, a result that is consistent with independent projections for the western part of the LC Region (Bell and Sloan 2006). Favre and Gershunov (2008), using a comparison of National Centers for Environmental Prediction (NCEP)-NCAR reanalysis data and CNRM-CM3 projections, found alterations of North Pacific storm track and storm frequency in western North America; their analysis points to lower precipitation frequencies in the Lower Colorado Region, by the last half of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, due to synoptic-scale atmospheric circulation that favors more anticyclonic conditions off the North American mid-latitude coast.

Several studies have examined potential hydrologic impacts under projected climate conditions. Focusing on the Colorado River Basin, these studies include Revelle and Waggoner (1983), Nash and Gleick (1991 and 1993), Christensen et al. (2004), Milly et al. (2005), and Christensen and Lettenmaier (2007). All of these studies suggest some amount of runoff decrease in the Colorado River Basin due to climate change. However, estimates of potential decreases in inflows range broadly (6 to 45% by the middle of the 21<sup>st</sup> century). These studies were reviewed in Reclamation (2007), and the authors of that report offered some conclusions that put this projected runoff uncertainty into context. First, in order to sufficiently quantify the potential impacts of climate change, the information

from climate projections needs to be evaluated at spatial scales relevant to those of hydrologic processes that control Colorado River Basin inflows. This raises questions about how spatial scale of analysis differed between these studies. For example, studies featuring relatively coarse scales of analysis, which tends to reduce nonlinear effects such as higher runoff generation efficiency at high elevations (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), featured the relatively larger projected decreases (Milly et al. 2005; Hoerling and Eischeid 2007), while those featuring a finer scale of hydrologic analysis resulted in smaller projected decreases (e.g., Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007).<sup>19</sup> In addition, the analysis by Milly et al. (2005) did not attempt to downscale GCM estimates of future climate parameters. Second, hydrologic impacts over the short-term future (e.g., 20 years or less) may be more significantly associated with climate variability than projected climate change over the near term, which bears influence on the scoping of planning analyses focused on short-term future decisions.<sup>20</sup> Third, the choice of GCMs and emissions scenarios used in the aforementioned studies also had some effect on the projected Colorado River Basin changes (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). A systematic comparison of these studies (Hoerling et al. 2009) yields some interesting insights into hydrology models, input data, and likely levels of Colorado River runoff decline. First, Hoerling and Eischeid (2007) now believe that their estimate of 45% runoff reduction overstates potential Colorado River losses. Using different, but equally valid downscaling methods, Variable Infiltration Capacity Model (VIC) model projections of future runoff changed from a 5% reduction by 2050 (Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007) to a 10% reduction. A key difference between hydrology models used in Colorado River runoff projections is the runoff sensitivity to temperature changes; Hoerling et al. (2010) found that sensitivity ranged from 2–9% runoff reduction per degree Celsius increase in temperature—which implies a large range of runoff reductions, 4–18% by 2050. Based on their assessment of these and other factors, Hoerling et al. estimate 2050 Colorado River flow declines of 5-20%.

Switching from Colorado River impacts to hydrologic impacts elsewhere in the LC Region, Ellis et al. (2008) used downscaled GCM temperature and precipitation changes as inputs to a water balance model for Arizona's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Subsequent to the completion of Reclamation (2007), four NOAA Regional Integrated Science and Assessment centers (Western Water Assessment, California Applications Program, Climate Impacts Group, and Climate Assessment of the Southwest) embarked on a collaborative effort to reconcile runoff projections for the Colorado River Basin. Their effort includes consideration for method differences related to scale, hydrologic process representation, and the decision whether to bias-correct climate model output. Information on project status is available at http://www.colorado.edu/current\_projects/rcn\_strmflw\_corvr.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> In addition to being complimented by appendix U, the Shortage Guidelines FEIS was also complimented by appendix N, a quantitatively sensitivity analysis relating an expanded sense of hydrologic variability to environmental impact statement (EIS) action alternatives and environmental impact analysis. Expanded assumptions of hydrologic variability were developed through stochastic modeling and the use of Colorado River (Lees Ferry) streamflow reconstructions based on roughly 1,200 years of tree ring records.

Salt and Verde River basins to assess runoff at mid-century; the Salt River is a tributary to the Colorado River. Using a variety of SRES scenarios, from B1 (low emissions) to the A1FI (the highest rate of emissions—so called "fossil intensive") and 6 GCMs, they found that in only 3 of 20 model-scenario combinations did Salt-Verde runoff increase; the mean runoff was 77.4% of 1961–1990 historical levels.

Such future impacts on hydrology have been shown to have implications for water resources management. Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources effects and suggests that management of Western United States reservoir systems is very likely to become more challenging as net annual runoff decreases and interannual patterns continue to change as the result of climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Numerous studies have focused on the Colorado River Basin (Nash and Gleick 1991 and 1993; Christensen et al. 2004; and Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007). These studies are similar in that they portray potential operations impacts on the Colorado River system associated with different scenarios of projected future climate and hydrology, as summarized in Reclamation (2007). Note that the operations models and various system assumptions featured in these studies differ from those used by Reclamation in development of the Shortage Guidelines FEIS (Reclamation 2007). With that said; Christensen et al. (2004), using only the NCAR PCM and a "business as usual" emissions scenario, report that projected reservoir reliability and storage levels were extremely sensitive to inflow reductions, and average reservoir levels dropped significantly even with small reductions in runoff. The operations model results of Christensen and Lettenmaier (2007), using downscaled climate projections from an ensemble of 11 GCMs and multiple emissions scenarios, indicate 20 and 40% storage reductions result from respective 10 and 20% reductions in inflow, though projected reservoir storage for each time period analyzed by Christensen and Lettenmaier is sensitive to factors such as initial storage.

Subsequent to Reclamation 2007, three other water management impacts studies on the Colorado River Basin were conducted, relating historical and projected climate and hydrology to system impacts (McCabe and Wolock 2007; Barnett and Pierce 2008; and Rajagopalan et al. 2009). McCabe and Wolock (2007) concluded that, if future warming occurs in the basin and is not accompanied by increased precipitation and if consumptive water use in the Upper Colorado River Basin remains the same as at present, then the basin is likely to experience periods of water supply shortages more severe than those inferred from a tree ring reconstruction of annual Colorado River streamflow at Lees Ferry for 1490–1997. Rajagopalan et al. (2009) predicted similar impacts to that of McCabe and Wolock (2007). Barnett and Pierce (2008) reported more severe potential operations impacts, but this study was later revised (Barnett and Pierce 2009a), modifiying several original assessment assumptions (Barsugli et al. 2009) and leading to results more consistent with Rajagopalan et al. (2009). For both studies, the shortage risk on the whole system increases greatly in the 2020s and beyond. However, Barnett and Pierce (2009a) still insist that the whole upper basin is already in a deficit of 1 million acre-feet a year because a) climate change has already robbed the basin of several hundred thousand acre-feet annually, and b) the 20<sup>th</sup> century average is "wet" compared to the longer-term flows in the basin, and one should expect a reversion to a lower mean flow.

Although system impacts are not analyzed as in the studies discussed in the previous paragraph, Cayan et al. (2010) predict significant future Colorado River Basin impacts in terms of drought (runoff, SWE, and soil moisture). Predictions are based on the output from combined GCM and hydrologic models showing increased drought conditions (severity and duration) during the 21<sup>st</sup> century— especially so during the second half of the century. Dai (2010) calculated projections of the self-calibrated PDSI, which integrates precipitation and temperature, using the 22-model GCM ensemble from the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report, and demonstrated increasing drought severity across the Lower Colorado Region during the span of the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

Other studies have focused on water management impacts in portions of the LC Region not involving mainstem Colorado River operations. Gober et al. (2010) used 50 statistically downscaled CMIP3 climate model-scenario combinations as input to Ellis et al.'s water balance model; they then ran the results in conjunction with a variety of population estimates and management scenarios for the Phoenix metro area, using a dynamic simulation system model, WaterSim. According to Gober et al. (2010), results of the simulation experiments suggest that "(1) current levels of per capita water consumption cannot be supported without unsustainable groundwater use under most climate model scenarios, (2) feasible reductions in residential water consumption allow the region to weather the most pessimistic of the climate projections, (3) delaying actions, such as the reduction of consumption to decrease groundwater drawdown, reduces the long-term sustainability of groundwater resources (under some scenarios), and (4) adaptive policy with appropriate monitoring to track groundwater provides warning that the need for use restrictions is approaching and avoids the need for drastic, ad hoc actions." Serrat-Capdevila et al. (2007) modeled recharge for the San Pedro River basin, a second order tributary of the Colorado River, using a statistically downscaled ensemble of 17 GCMs for a variety of emissions scenarios. They processed the downscaled GCM outputs in a transient three-dimensional groundwater surface flow model, maintaining groundwater extraction at current rates and found that recharge will decrease 17–30% by 2100, depending on the emissions scenario, and riparian area baseflow will decrease by 50%. Harou et al. (2010) evaluated economically driven California water resources management and reservoir systems operations using a hydroeconomic model. As a proxy for climate change, their simulations where driven by hydrology reflecting extreme drought from the paleorecord. The authors synthesized a 72-year drought with half of mean historical inflows (1921-1991) using random sampling of historical dry years. Model results include time

series of optimized monthly operations and water allocations to maximize statewide net economic benefits that predict impacts to be expensive but not catastrophic for the overall economy; however, severe burdens would be imposed on the agricultural sector and environmental water use.

Switching to demand impacts, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) evaluated how increasing air temperature and atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration may affect aspects of California agriculture, including crop production, water use, and crop phenology. They also offered a literature review and based their analysis on plant energy balance and physiological responses affected by increased temperatures and  $CO_2$  levels, respectively. Their findings include that increasing air temperatures and  $CO_2$  levels will extend growing seasons, stimulate weed growth, increase pests, and may impact pollination if synchronization of flowers/pollinators is disrupted.

### 2.3.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on the impacts of climate change for individual species and ecosystems.<sup>21</sup> Predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include species range shifts poleward, adjustment of migratory species arrival and departure, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack (Ryan et al. 2008). Cayan et al. (2001) document earlier blooming of lilacs and honeysuckles correlated to increasing spring temperatures.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.3 discusses the effects of climate change on agriculture and water resources (Hatfield et al. 2008). It addresses the many issues associated with future agricultural water demands and discusses that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands. These limited study findings suggest significant irrigation requirement increases for corn and alfalfa due to increased temperatures and  $CO_2$  and reduced precipitation. Further, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons grow longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Ansu and McCarney (2008) offer a categorized bibliography of articles related to climate change and environmental resources impacts. Readers are encouraged to review this bibliography for additional articles relevant to their specific interests.

North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008) Weiss and Overpeck (2005) show an increase in the length of the frost-free season in the Sonoran Desert since the 1960s, suggesting a possible increase in ecosystem demands for water. Christidis et al. (2007) point out that increases in growing season length also have ramifications for phenological events, with possible cascading impacts related to water storage, peak flows, and pollinators. The International Panel on Climate Change Technical Paper on Climate Change and Water includes similar discussions (Bates et al. 2008) on the above issues and noting that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands.

Increased air temperatures could increase aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. In general, studies of climate change impacts on freshwater ecosystems are more straightforward with streams and rivers, which are typically well mixed and track air temperature closely, as opposed to lakes and reservoirs, where thermal stratification and depth affect habitat (Allan et al. 2005). Ficke et al. (2007) present an extensive synthesis and bibliography of literature on climate change impacts on freshwater fisheries. Fang et al. (2004a and 2004b) predicted changes to cold water fisheries habitat in terms of water temperature and dissolved oxygen under a doubled CO<sub>2</sub> climate change regional warming scenario for 27 lake types in the United States, including Western United States lakes. They report an overall decrease in the average length of good-growth periods and the area for which lakes cannot support cold water fish would extend significantly further north. Luce and Holden (2009) discuss the potential for fish and wildlife impacts if observed streamflow reductions trends continue into the future. Kennedy et al. (2009) show that projected decreases in summer precipitation and increases in maximum temperatures by mid-century (Leung et al. 2004) would decrease suitable summer habitat for the Gila trout (Oncorhynchus gilae), a species endemic to a tributary of the Colorado River. Williams et al. (2009) predict future adverse impacts to several species of cutthroat trout due to increased summer temperatures, uncharacteristic winter flooding, and increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Haak et al. (2010) present similar predictions for various salmonid species of the inland Western United States.

Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts with feedbacks to runoff volume, water quality, evapotranspiration, and erosion (Lettenmaier et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2008). Burkett and Kusler (2000) discuss potential impacts to wetlands caused by climate change. Potential impacts to five different types of wetlands are discussed as well as how impacts may vary by region. Allan et al. (2005) suggest that, although freshwater ecosystems will adapt to climate change as they have to land use changes, acid rain, habitat degradation, pollution, etc., the adaptation likely will entail a diminishment of native biodiversity. Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive species issues (e.g., quagga mussel reproduction cycles responding favorably to warmer water temperatures); moreover, climate changes could decrease the effectiveness of chemical or biological agents used to control invasive species (Hellman et al. 2008). Warmer water temperatures could also spur the growth of algae, which could result in eutrophic conditions in lakes, declines in water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), and changes in species composition.

Switching to nonaquatic species and ecosystem impacts, Ray et al. (2010) present a synthesis of existing climate change prediction data sets adjusted and downscaled to support efforts to determine the need of listing the American Pika under the Endangered Species Act. Significant increasing temperature trends and earlier snowmelt implications to Pika habitat are presented. Beever et al. (2010) report study findings associated with potential climate change impacts to the American Pika that include results of testing alternative models of climatemediated extirpations. Beever et al. (2010) point out that, during 1945–2006, sites of Pika extirpations have experienced approximately a 10% increase in the number of days above 28 °C, whereas this number has decreased slightly where Pika have persisted. In a more generic sense, wildlife population distributions likely are to change as plant species distributions and water availability changes. For example, McKinney et al. (2008) demonstrate that winter precipitation is the leading predictor of pronghorn antelope recruitment. Kirkpatrick et al. (2009) studied bird abundance in Arizona riparian woodlands and found that riparian areas contained 68% more species than adjacent uplands, regardless of whether the population consisted of breeding or nonbreeding bird communities. More important, they noted that relative abundance and richness of bird species were positively associated with surface water extent, mediated by aerial arthropod abundance (i.e., wetter areas produce more arthropods—a key source of avian food). They noted that should long-term drought conditions persist to the degree that surface water flows are reduced or eliminated then many populations of breeding birds are likely to decline. Wiens et al. (2009) used the NCAR CCSM3 and GFDL CM2.1 models in projections of bird species richness in California, and noted that, in the future, most of the portion of California in the Lower Colorado Region will have lower species richness. Their work also points to low similarity between current and future bird assemblages in southern California, which has important implications for wildlife management. Projected declines in winter precipitation in the LC Region surely will affect distribution and survivorship of antelope and other mammal populations. Researchers evaluating plant species phenology and migration in southern California (Santa Rosa Mountains) and southern Arizona (Santa Catalina Mountains) have noted rapid changes in species range (moving upslope) with increasing temperatures during the last few decades (Kelly and Goulden 2008; Crimmins et al. 2009). Another potential effect of climate change impacts on ecosystems and watershed hydrology involves changes in vegetation disturbances due to wildfires and forest dieback. In the Western United States, increases in spring-summer temperatures

lead to attenuated snow melt, reduced soil moisture, and reduced fuel moisture conditions. This, in turn, affects wildland fire activity. Such effects are discussed in chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 (Ryan et al. 2008) and also Westerling et al. (2006), which documents large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations, in the Western United States. Coincident with trends toward warmer and drier climate in the Western United States over the past two decades (1990–2009), forest fires have grown larger and more frequent. Both the frequency of large wildfires and fire season length increased substantially since 1985, and these changes were closely linked with advances in the timing of spring snowmelt. Hot and dry weather also allows fires to grow exponentially, covering more acreage (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

Several studies have focused on potential future forest impacts under climate change spawned by disturbances involving forest fire or pest invasions. Westerling et al. (2006) document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations. Brown et al. (2004) evaluated future (2006–2099) Western United States wildfire potential based on climate change scenarios relative to current climate conditions and current wildfire potential quantified using the Forest Service National Fire Rating System. The study predicts increased potential for large wildfires throughout most of the Western United States with the exception of the Pacific Northwest and with the greatest increase in the northern Rockies, Great Basin, and the Southwest. McKenzie et al. (2004) project increases in numbers of days with high fire danger and acres burned, respectively, as a result of increasing temperatures and related climate changes. These authors also discuss how some plant and animal species that are sensitive to fire may decline, whereas the distribution and abundance of species favored by fire may be enhanced due to increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Westerling and Bryant (2008) projected California wildfire risks for A2 and B1 SRES scenarios, using the NCAR PCM and GFDL models; the majority of the Lower Colorado Region is shown in their analysis. They found that "On average, however, the results presented here indicate that increasing temperatures would likely result in a substantial increase in the risk of large wildfires in energylimited wildfire regimes, while the effects in moisture-limited fire regimes will be sensitive to changes in both temperature and precipitation." They also noted that "while higher temperatures tended to promote fire risk overall, reductions in moisture due to lower precipitation and higher temperatures led to reduced fire risk in dry areas that appear to have moisture-limited fire regimes." Low moisture reduced fine fuel production in their model experiments, which outweighed increased fuel flammability in low elevation grasslands and shrublands in much of southern California and western Arizona. Even without fire as an intermediary, increasing temperatures, increasing CO<sub>2</sub>, and longer growing seasons can have direct effects on the establishment of invasive vegetation species (DeFalco et al. 2007; Wolkovich and Cleland 2010). Wolkovich and Cleland (2010) note that many invasive grasses, including cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum), annual grasses in California perennial grasslands, and perennials in California's Mohave Desert,

benefit from "seasonal priority effects" (i.e., their ability to establish earlier in the season than native vegetation, due to, for example, earlier onset of spring season). The California researchers documented elevational increases of 65 meters in dominant plant species over a 30-year re-sampling period (Kelly and Goulden 2008). In riparian areas in the LC Region, Stromberg et al. (2007) and Beauchamp and Stromberg (2007) document the spread of invasive riparian vegetation (saltcedar; Tamarix ramosissima) when streamflows drop below permanence thresholds of 50-75% (CCSP 2009). Robinson et al. (2008) describe and compare several ecological models that estimate vegetation development (productivity or vegetation type) under climate change. Beukema et al. (2007) discuss the potential for increased fire risk and insect and pathogen impacts to pinyon-juniper forest ecosystems resulting from climate change. Miller and Schlegel (2006) project a longer fire season in coastal southern California as a result of changes in atmospheric circulation that control the timing and extent of Santa Ana winds. Fire disturbance can spread to new ecosystems as nonnative species, favored by increased temperatures (e.g., buffel grass in southern Arizona) and colonized ecosystems that have no history of adaptation to fire (Ryan et al. 2008).

Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems through triggering multiple nonlinear or threshold-like processes that interact in complex ways (Allen 2007). For example, increasing temperatures and their affects on soil moisture, evapotranspirational demand, chronic water stress, and carbon starvation (via reduced gas exchange) are a key factor in conifer species die-off in western North America (Breshears et al. 2005; Weiss et al. 2009; Adams et al. 2010; McDowell et al. 2010). Increased temperatures are also a key factor in the spread and abundance of the forest insect pests that also have been implicated in conifer mortality (Logan et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2008). Ryan et al. (2008) report that several large insect outbreaks have recently occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks.<sup>22</sup> Climate change has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack. The one-two punch of temperature driven moisture stress on trees and the enhanced life cycles and ranges of insect pests kill large swaths of forest, triggering changes in ecosystem composition and flammabilityhence, a cascading series of impacts such as decreased soil retention and increased aeolian and fluvial erosion. Combined with fire disturbance and projected increases in LC Region aridity, abrupt nonlinear ecosystem changes have the potential to impact water quality, sedimentation behind reservoirs, wildlife species abundance, and even mountain snowpack melt and runoff ratesas dust is transported from disturbed areas to distant mountains (Painter et al.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

2007; Painter et al. 2010). Several large insect outbreaks have recently occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks (Ryan et al. 2008).

# 2.4 Upper Colorado Region

Numerous studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources in Reclamation's Upper Colorado (UC) Region. This section summarizes findings from recent studies (1994–2010 demonstrating evidence of regional climate change during the 20<sup>th</sup> century and exploring water and environmental resources impacts associated with various climate change scenarios.<sup>23</sup>

### 2.4.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology

Over the course of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, it appears that all areas of the UC Region became warmer, but precipitation trends are less evident. Cayan et al. (2001) report that Western United States spring temperatures increased 1–3 °C (1.8–5.4 °F) between 1970 and 1998. Based on data available from the Western Climate Mapping Initiative,<sup>24</sup> the change in the 11-year mean during the 20<sup>th</sup> century is roughly +1.2 °C (+2.2 °F) for the Upper Colorado River Basin and +1.7 °C (+3.1 °F) for the Lower Colorado River Basin.<sup>25</sup> Rangwala and Miller (2010) report trends in surface air temperature for the San Juan Mountains of the UC Region from 1895 to 2005. Results show a net warming of 1 °C between 1895 and 2005 with most warming during 1990–2005.

Temperature data for UC Region locations show a warming period during the early 20<sup>th</sup> century followed by a flat, or even decreasing, period from the 1940s to the 1970s and then warming from the 1970s to present. Hence the magnitude of analyzed temperature trends varies from study to study depending on the period of analysis and trends at individual locations may differ from the regional average. Changes in annual total precipitation for UC Region locations can be found in the data, but the observed changes are small compared to the variability, making

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Many of these studies summarized already in a literature synthesis (Reclamation, 2007) focused on Colorado River Basin studies, which was prepared as Appendix U for the *Final Environmental Impact Statement, Colorado River Interim Guidelines for Lower Basin Shortages and Coordinated Operations for Lake Powell and Lake Mead* (i.e., Shortage Guidelines FEIS). The summaries of hydrologic and water resources trends and impacts pertaining to the Colorado River Basin in this section are consistent with the key themes offered in Reclamation (2007). They also summarize a representative mix of past studies focused on the Rio Grande Basin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> http://www.cefa.dri.edu/Westmap/. This Website provides a plotting interface for analysis of PRISM (http://www.prism.oregonstate.edu/) monthly temperature data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Computed as difference in 11-year mean annual T during period centered on 2001 (i.e., 1996–2006) minus that during period centered on 1901 (i.e., 1896–1906).

statistical detection of trends difficult. It is significant to note that annual total precipitation trends are not statistically significant at most locations in the UC Region.

Investigations for 1916–2003, by Hamlet et al. (2005), show that precipitation variability is most strongly associated with multidecade variability, rather than long-term trends. Hamlet et al. (2005) conclude that "[although] the precipitation trends from 1916 to 2003 are broadly consistent with many global warming scenarios, it is not clear whether the modestly increasing trends in precipitation that have been observed over the Western United States for this period are primarily an artifact of decadal variability and the time period examined, or are due to longer-term effects such as global warming." Guentchev et al. (2010) analyzed homogeneity of three gridded precipitation datasets that have been used in studies of the Colorado River Basin. They report that all three datasets show breakpoints in 1977 and 1978 and suggest that these may be due to an anomalously rapid shift in the Pacific Decadal Oscillation. They note that, for 1950–1999, the data are sufficiently homogeneous for analyses of precipitation variability, when aggregated on a subregional scale. The authors noted that care must be taken to assure the statistical homogeneity of gridded observational precipitation datasets, and that for the Colorado River Basin, Precipitation Regression on Independent Slopes Method (PRISM) (for 1916-2006), and Maurer et al. 2002 (for 1950–1999) performed adequately.

Villarini et al. (2009) analyzed annual peak discharge records from 50 stations in the United States with 100 years of record and attempted to document reduced stationarity. However, their results were equivocal, due to evidence of human modifications affecting runoff generation (e.g., changes in land use and land cover), fluvial transportation (e.g., construction of dams and pools), and changes in measurements, all of which can induce nonclimatic nonstationarity. Consequently, they reported that they were "not able to assess whether the observed variations in annual maximum instantaneous peak discharge were due to natural climate variability or anthropogenic climate change."

Focusing on changes in precipitation extremes, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008), wherein chapter 3 focuses on mechanisms for observed changes in extremes and and reports heavy precipitation events averaged over North America have increased over the past 50 years (Gutowski et al. 2008). Kunkel (2003) presents an analysis of extreme precipitation events and indicates there has been an increase in their frequency since the 1920s/1930s in the United States, although very small trends (1931– 1996) were shown for the climate divisions of the UC Region; and Figdor (2007) evaluated 1948–2006 trends in extreme precipitation events for each State using the method of Kunkel et al. (1998) and report similar findings. Painter et al. (2010) discuss the role of dust deposition on snowmelt timing and runoff amount. The relevance to climate change is that the impact of warming on runoff timing is less for dusty snow because a greater fraction of the energy needed for snowmelt comes from sunlight, not air-temperature. Also, dust can impact even relatively cold, high-elevation snowpack. Dust-on-snow is very prevalent in the Upper Colorado River Basin, with a likely origin due to human-caused land disturbance on the Colorado Plateau. Understanding the role of dust is important for interpreting the historical record since it is important not to attribute all the changes in runoff timing to warmer temperatures.

Recent investigations have shown strong connections between multiyear to multidecade drought and ocean-atmosphere variations in the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans (e.g., McCabe et al. 2004; MacDonald et al. 2008; Woodhouse et al. 2009; Cook et al. 2010). The upshot of work examining historical and paleodrought, is that drought and precipitation in the UC Region is primarily dominated by interannual and multidecade variations related to ocean-atmosphere interactions. This conclusion is supported by detection and attribution studies by Hoerling and Eischeid (2007), who find that, during the last half century, it is likely that sea surface temperature anomalies have been important in forcing severe droughts in North America. Woodhouse et al. (2009) examined signatures of atmospheric circulation associated with North American drought and found two primary modes: one related to ENSO, and one related to high latitude Northern Hemisphere circulation, such as the Northern Annular Mode (Arctic Oscillation). The ENSO mode plays a key, but not exclusive, role in UCR drought and wet periods; Woodhouse et al. (2009) note that the early 20<sup>th</sup> century pluvial, which coincided with the signing of the Colorado River Compact, was characterized by a strength and persistence of both atmospheric circulation modes that was unprecedented back to the 1400s. They also note that the Medieval drought, associated with the most persistent low flows in the Colorado River Basin, was kicked off by the ENSO mode, but other factors influenced the drought after the mid-1100s.

Recent work by Ben Cook and colleagues (Cook et al. 2010) demonstrates that the Pacific Ocean is the primary driver of drought in the Upper Colorado Region, and while the direct influence of the Atlantic on drought is relatively weak, it may significantly amplify forcing from the Pacific. Cook et al. (2010) also note that land surface factors can amplify drought, such as in the Dust Bowl drought of the 1930s. This insight resonates with Painter 's (2010) finding that a five-fold increase in dust loading, from anthropogenically disturbed soils in the Southwest, decreased snow albedo and shortened the duration of snow cover by several weeks during the last 100 years. They attribute a loss of 5% of annual average Colorado River flow, measured at Lees Ferry, to increased dust loading on snow, generating early runoff, and increased evapotranspiration from vegetation and exposed soils.

Work by MacDonald et al. (2008) suggests that that ongoing radiative forcing (greenhouse gases, solar, and aerosols) and warming "could be capable of locking much of southwestern North America into an era of persistent aridity and more prolonged droughts." Hoerling and Eischeid (2007) partially agree with the aforementioned conclusion, as they state: "For the longer-term [drought] events, the effect of steady forcing through sea surface temperature anomalies becomes more important. Also, the accumulating greenhouse gases and global warming have increasingly been felt as a causative factor, primarily through their influence on Indian Ocean/West Pacific temperatures, conditions to which North American climate is sensitive. The severity of both short- and long-term droughts has likely been amplified by local greenhouse gas warming in recent decades." Cayan et al. (2010) used combined GCM and hydrologic models to conclude that the early 21<sup>st</sup> century Colorado River Basin drought has been the most extreme in over a century. This study defines extreme drought years as those when the areaaveraged soil moisture falls below the 10th percentile for the 1951–1999 period and there were 11 such years during 1916–2008, including 2002, 2007, and 2008. Cayan et al. (2010) used combined GCM and hydrologic models to conclude that the early 21<sup>st</sup> century Colorado River Basin drought has been the most extreme in over a century. This study defines extreme drought years as those when the areaaveraged soil moisture falls below the 10th percentile for the 1951–1999 period and there were 11 such years during 1916–2008, including 2002, 2007 and 2008. Matter et al. (2010) report on the application of a new methodology to characterize historical time series of UC Region temperature, precipitation, and streamflow.

Regarding the Rio Grande Basin, D'Antonio (2006) reports that in northern New Mexico, recent annual average temperatures have been more than 2 °F (1.1 °C) above mid-20<sup>th</sup> century values. Rangwala and Miller (2010) report trends in surface air temperature for the San Juan Mountains of the UC Region from 1895 to 2005. Results show a net warming of 1 °C between 1895 and 2005 with most warming during 1990–2005.

Coincident with these trends, the Western United States and UC Region also experienced a general decline in spring snowpack, reduced fractions of winter precipitation occurring as snowfall, and earlier snowmelt runoff. Reduced snowpack and snowfall fractions are indicated by analyses of 1948–2001 snow SWE measurements at 173 Western United States stations (Knowles et al. 2007). Regonda et al. (2005) report monthly SWE trends during 1950–1999 and suggests that there were statistically significant declines in monthly SWE over roughly half of the Western United States sites evaluated for 1970–1998. Among those sites, there was no regional consensus among SWE trends over southern Montana to Colorado. One of the main results of Regonda et al. (2005) is the dependence of the results on elevation (and hence average temperature). Basins above about 2,500 meters showed little change in peak streamflow or in monthly SWE (at least for March1 and April1, and May 1 does show a signal up to about 3,000 meters). Moreover, Stewart (2009) examined global snowpack and melt responses and noted that the greatest responses have been observed for areas that remain close to freezing throughout the winter season.

Studies that document decreasing snowpack and earlier runoff in the Colorado River Basin include Clow (2010), Hamlet et al. (2005), and Stewart et al. (2004). Passell et al. (2004) report a trend of increasing Rio Grande discharge for the months of January, February, and March during 1975–1999 relative to the 1895–1999 period of record; however, no peak flow trends were identified.

On explaining historical trends in regional climate and hydrology, chapter 4 of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program SAP 4.3 discusses several studies that indicate most observed trends for SWE, soil moisture and runoff in the Western United States are the result of increasing temperatures rather than precipitation effects (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This assertion is supported by a collection of journal articles that targeted the question of *detection* and *attribution* of late 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in hydrologically important variables in the Western United States, aimed directly at better understanding the relative roles of anthropogenically forced versus naturally originating climate variations explaining observed trends. Barnett et al. (2008) performed a multiple variable formal detection and attribution study and showed how the changes in Tmin, SWE, precipitation and CT for 1950–1999 co-vary. They concluded, with a high statistical significance, that up to 60% of the climatic trends in those variables are human-related. Similar results are reported in related studies by Pierce et al. (2008) for springtime SWE, Bonfils et al. (2008) for temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States, Hidalgo et al. (2009) for streamflow timing changes, and Das et al. (2009) for temperature, snow/rain days ratio, SWE, and streamflow timing changes. An additional key finding of these studies is that the statistical significance of the anthropogenic signal is greatest at the scale of the entire Western United States and weak or absent at the scale of regional scale drainages with the exception of the Columbia River Basin (Hidalgo et al. 2009).

While the trends in Western United States river flow, winter air temperature, and snow pack might be partially explained by anthropogenic influences on climate, Hoerling et al. (2010) show that it remains difficult to attribute historical precipitation variability to anthropogenic forcings. They evaluated regional precipitation data from around the world (observed and modeled) for 1977–2006. They suggest that the relationship between sea temperatures and rainfall changes are generally not symptomatic of human-induced emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Rather, their results suggest that trends during this period are consistent with atmospheric response to observed sea surface temperature variability. Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in PDSI are consistent with forcing by tropical sea-surface temperature trends and discuss that the sea surface temperature trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the West. McAfee

and Russell (2008) examined connections between the observed poleward migration of the Northern Hemisphere storm track (a global warming response suggested by current climate projections, sometimes referred to as Hadley Cell expansion [Seager et al. 2007]), atmospheric circulation over North America, and precipitation and temperature responses in the Western United States. They found that during the transition to spring, following a Northern Annular Mode (also called Arctic Oscillation) high-index winter, which is associated with poleward storm track shifts, there is a weakening of the storm track over the northeastern Pacific, resulting in warmer and drier conditions west of the Rocky Mountains. They note that these results are consistent with observations of early spring onset in the Western United States.

These findings are significant for regional water resources management and reservoir operations because snowpack traditionally has played a central role in determining the seasonality of natural runoff. In many UC Region headwater basins, the precipitation stored as snow during winter accounts for a significant portion of spring and summer inflow to lower elevation reservoirs. The mechanism for how this occurs is that (with precipitation being equal) warmer temperatures in these watersheds cause reduced snowpack development during winter, more runoff during the winter season, and earlier spring peak flows associated with an earlier snowmelt.

# 2.4.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and Water Resources

Several studies have been conducted to relate potential future climate scenarios to UC Region runoff and water resources management impacts. A recent paper by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO 2009) presents an overview of the current understanding of the impacts of climate change in the United States, including that warming will tend to be greater at high latitudes and in the interiors of the United States. CBO 2009 suggests that future climate conditions will feature less snowfall and more rainfall, less snowpack development, and earlier snowmelt runoff. The report also suggests that warming will lead to more intense and heavy rainfall that will tend to be interspersed with longer relatively dry periods. Lundquist et al. (2009) report similar findings.

On future temperature and precipitation projections over the Colorado River Basin and UC Region, there is greater agreement reported between model projections, and thus higher confidence, in future temperature change.<sup>26</sup> There is much less agreement in the sign of change and, thus, less confidence in projections for precipitation change for the Upper Colorado River Basin (Dai

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Note that some researchers caution that agreement between models is not a sufficient metric for judging projection credibility (Pirtle et al. 2010), noting that the modeling community has yet to demonstrate sufficient independence between models that can be similarly flawed or biased as a result of sharing code or parameterizations.

2006). The UC Region lies between the subtropics, for which there is substantial, but not complete, model agreement on drying and the subpolar region where there is near universal model agreement on increased precipitation. The amount of consensus on sign of precipitation change also varies geographically from northern to southern portions of the UC Region. For example, while projected precipitation changes for subtropical latitudes (e.g., Southwestern United States) are generally more consistent and suggest a tendency toward drier conditions (Milly et al. 2005; Seager 2007; Cayan et al. 2010; Seager and Vecchi 2010), there is little consensus among projections on whether mean-annual precipitation will increase or decrease over the northern portions of the UC Region (e.g., Dai 2006). However, it appears that future *winter* precipitation in the mountainous areas of the UC Region may increase (Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007). The coarse spatial resolution of climate models limits their ability to represent topographic effects related to snowfall, snowpack evolution, and regional precipitation patterns (Grotch and MacCracken 1991; Giorgi and Mearns 1991; Pan et al. 2004; Reclamation 2007). Downscaling techniques may be used to recover some of this spatial detail. Much summer precipitation in this region is associated with the North American Monsoon, which is poorly simulated in most climate models (Lin et al. 2008; Gutzler et al. 2005).

Other notable studies on future climate projections over UC Region include Rauscher et al. (2008), which used a high-resolution, nested climate model to investigate future changes in snowmelt-driven runoff over the Western United States. Results include that runoff could occur as much as 2 months earlier than present, particularly in the Northwest; and earlier runoff timing of at least 15 days in early-, middle-, and late-season flow is projected for almost all mountainous areas where runoff is snowmelt driven. Focusing on the Rio Grande portion of the UC Region, D'Antonio (2006) reports that the projected mean-annual temperatures over New Mexico would increase by 3.3 °C (about 6 °F) in 2061– 2090 compared to the 1971–2000 average, based on the multimodel average from 18 of the CMIP3 models.

Switching focus to extreme precipitation events, chapter 3 of SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008) comments on projected future changes in extremes (Gutowski et al. 2008), suggesting that climate change likely will cause precipitation to be less frequent but more intense in many areas and suggests that precipitation extremes are very likely to increase. Sun et al. (2007) report that under 21<sup>st</sup> century modeled emissions scenarios B1 (low), A1B (medium), and A2 (high), all models consistently show a trend towards more intense and extreme precipitation for the globe as a whole and over various regions.

Several studies have assessed hydrologic impacts under projected climate conditions over the UC Region. Many of these studies have focused on the Colorado River Basin, including Revelle and Waggoner (1983), Nash and Gleick (1991 and 1993), Christensen et al. (2004), Milly et al. (2005), Hoerling and Eischeid (2007), and Christensen and Lettenmaier (2007). All of these studies

suggest some amount of runoff decrease in the Colorado River Basin due to climate change. However, estimates of potential decreases in inflows range broadly (6 to 45% reductions in natural flow at Lees Ferry). These studies were reviewed in Reclamation (2007), and the authors of that report offered some conclusions that put this projected runoff uncertainty into context. First, in order to sufficiently quantify the potential impacts of climate change, the information from climate projections needs to be evaluated at spatial scales relevant to those of hydrologic processes that control Colorado River Storage System (CRSS) inflows. This raises questions about how spatial scale of analysis differed between these studies. For example, studies featuring relatively coarse scales of analysis, which tend to reduce nonlinear effects, such as higher runoff generation efficiency at high elevations (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), featured the relatively larger projected decreases (Milly et al. 2005; Hoerling and Eischeid 2007), while those featuring a finer scale of hydrologic analysis resulted in smaller projected decreases (e.g., Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007). In addition, the analysis by Milly et al. (2005) did not attempt to downscale GCM estimates of future climate parameters. Second, hydrologic impacts over the short-term future (e.g., 20 years or less) may be more significantly associated with climate variability than projected climate change over the near term, which bears influence on the scoping of planning analyses focused on short-term future decisions. Third, the choice of GCMs and emissions scenarios used in the aforementioned studies also had some effect on the projected Colorado River Basin changes (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). A systematic comparison of these studies (Hoerling et al. 2009) yields some interesting insights into hydrology models, input data, and likely levels of Colorado River runoff decline. First, Hoerling and Eischeid (2007) now believe that their estimate of a 45-percent runoff reduction overstates potential Colorado River losses. Using different but equally valid downscaling methods, VIC model projections of future runoff changed from a 5% reduction by 2050 (Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007) to a 10% reduction. A key difference between hydrology models used in Colorado River runoff projections is the runoff sensitivity to temperature changes; Hoerling et al. (2010) found that sensitivity ranged from 2-9% runoff reduction per degree Celsius increase in temperature—which implies a large range of runoff reductions, 4-18% by 2050. Based on their assessment of these and other factors, Hoerling et al. estimate 2050 Colorado River flow declines of 5–20%.

Switching from the Colorado River Basin to the Rio Grande Basin, Hurd and Coonrod (2007) used a water balance hydrology model (WATBAL) to estimate future annual average reductions in Rio Grande flow ranging from 3.5–13.7% in 2030 and 8.3–28.7% in 2080 based on three GCM outputs corresponding to wet, middle, and dry and the SRES A1B emissions scenario relative to baseline period 1971–2000. Marinec and Rango (1989) modeled snowmelt runoff effects under a 3 °C (5.4 °F) temperature increase for the Rio Grande Basin and reported respective April and May runoff increases of 158 and 89% and decreases for all other months based on 1983 conditions. D'Antonio (2006) reports that drastic

reductions in Rio Grande spring runoff by the end of the century likely are based on evaluation of an 18-GCM average relative to a 1971–2000 average baseline.

On extreme hydrologic events, Gutzler and Robbins (2010) note that projected trends in PDSI imply that higher evaporation rates, associated with positive temperature trends, exacerbate drought severity and extent such that "the projected trend towared warmer temperatures inhibit recovery from droughts caused by decade-scale precipitation deficits." Switching focus from droughts to floods, some studies suggest that change in extreme precipitation and runoff could present flood control challenges to varying degrees at many locations, but possibly to lesser degrees in snowmelt dominated basins. Hamlet and Lettenmaier (2007) cite decreasing flood quantiles in snowmelt dominated systems due to lower spring snowpack. It should be noted that this is an area where the existence of dust-on-snow complicates matters, since this phenomenon can lead to rapid snowmelt. Raff et al. 2009 introduced a framework for estimating flood frequency in the context of climate projection information. The framework was applied to a set of four diverse basins in the Western United States (i.e., the Boise River above Lucky Peak Dam, the San Joaquin River above Friant Dam, the James River above Jamestown Dam, and the Gunnison River above Blue Mesa Dam). Results for three of the four basins (Boise, San Joaquin, and James) showed that, under current climate projection information, probability distributions of annual maximum discharge would feature greater flow rates at all quantiles. For the fourth basin (Gunnison), greater flow rates were projected for roughly the upper third of quantiles. Granted, this study represents a preliminary effort, focused on introducing a framework for estimating flood frequency in a changing climate. Results are limited by various uncertainties, including how the climate projection information used in the analysis did not reflect potential changes in storm frequency and duration (only changes in storm intensity relative to historical storm events)

Such future impacts on hydrology have been shown to have implications for water resources management. Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources effects and suggests that management of Western United States reservoir systems is very likely to become more challenging as net annual runoff decreases and interannual patterns continue to change as the result of climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Numerous studies have focused on the Colorado River Basin (Nash and Gleick 1991 and 1993; Christensen et al. 2004; Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007). These studies are similar in that they portray potential operations impacts on the Colorado River system associated with different scenarios of projected future climate and hydrology, as summarized in Reclamation (2007). Note that the operations models and various system assumptions featured in these studies differ from those used by Reclamation in development of the Shortage Guidelines FEIS (Reclamation 2007). With that said; Christensen et al. (2004), using only the NCAR PCM and a "business as usual" emissions scenario, report that projected reservoir reliability and storage levels were extremely sensitive to

inflow reductions, and average reservoir levels dropped significantly even with small reductions in runoff. The operations model results of Christensen and Lettenmaier (2007), using downscaled climate projections from an ensemble of 11 GCMs and multiple emissions scenarios, indicate 20 and 40% storage reductions result from respective 10 and 20% reductions in inflow, though projected reservoir storage for each time period analyzed by Christensen and Lettenmaier is sensitive to factors such as initial storage.

Subsequent to Reclamation 2007, three other water management impacts studies on the Colorado River Basin were conducted, relating historical and projected climate and hydrology to system impacts (McCabe and Wolock 2007; Barnett and Pierce 2008; Rajagopalan et al. 2009). McCabe and Wolock (2007) concluded that if future warming occurs in the basin and is not accompanied by increased precipitation and if consumptive water use in the Upper Colorado River Basin remains the same as at present, then the basin is likely to experience periods of water supply shortages more severe than those inferred from a tree ring reconstruction of annual Colorado River streamflow at Lees Ferry, for 1490-1997. Rajagopalan et al. (2009) predicted similar impacts as to McCabe and Wolock (2007). Barnett and Pierce (2008) reported more severe potential operations impacts, but this study was later revised (Barnett and Pierce 2009a), modifiving several original assessment assumptions (Barsugli et al. 2009) and leading to results more consistent with Rajagopalan et al. (2009). For both studies, the risk of shortage on the whole system increases greatly in the 2020s and beyond. However, Barnett and Pierce (2009a) still insist that the whole upper basin is already in a deficit of 1 million acre-feet a year because a) climate change has already robbed the basin of several hundred thousand acre-feet annually and b) that the 20<sup>th</sup> century average is "wet" compared to the longer-term flows in the basin, and one should expect a reversion to a lower mean flow.

Although system impacts are not analyzed as in the studies discussed in the previous paragraph, Cayan et al. (2010) predict significant future Colorado River Basin impacts in terms of drought (runoff, SWE, and soil moisture). Predictions are based on the output from combined GCM and hydrologic models showing increased drought conditions (severity and duration) during the 21<sup>st</sup> century—especially so during the second half of the century.

Switching to demand impacts, Ramirez and Finnerty (1996) evaluated the effects of increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  on crops in the San Luis Valley of southern Colorado. Their findings suggested significant increases in potential evapotranspiration and potential impacts on crop yields. Hurd and Coonrod (2007) predict increased reservoir evaporation at middle and low elevation reservoirs in New Mexico based on the GCM results and hydrology modeling discussed above. However, these results are difficult to interpret given the uncertainties of observed trends in pan evaporation, as discussed in section 3.4.7.

### 2.4.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on the impacts of climate change for individual species and ecosystems.<sup>27</sup> Predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include species range shifts poleward, adjustment of migratory species arrival and departure, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests, and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and the effect on host plant capacity to resist attack (Ryan et al. 2008). Cayan et al. (2001) document earlier blooming of lilacs and honeysuckles correlated to increasing spring temperatures.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.3 discusses the effects of climate change on agriculture and water resources (Hatfield et al. 2008). It addresses the many issues associated with future agricultural water demands and discusses that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands. These limited study findings suggest significant irrigation requirement increases for corn and alfalfa due to increased temperatures and CO<sub>2</sub> and reduced precipitation. Further, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons grow longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Christidis et al. (2007) point out that increases in growing season length also have ramifications for phenological events, with possible cascading impacts related to water storage, peak flows, and pollinators. The International Panel on Climate Change Technical Paper on Climate Change and Water includes similar discussions (Bates et al. 2008) on the above issues and noting that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands.

Increased air temperatures could increase aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. In general, studies of climate change impacts on freshwater ecosystems are more straightforward with streams and rivers, which are typically well mixed and track air temperature closely, as opposed to lakes and reservoirs, where thermal stratification and depth affect habitat (Allan et al. 2005). Ficke et al.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Ansu and McCarney (2008) offer a categorized bibliography of articles related to climate change and environmental resources impacts. Readers are encouraged to review this bibliography for additional articles relevant to their specific interests.

(2007) present an extensive synthesis and bibliography of literature on climate change impacts on freshwater fisheries. Fang et al. (2004a and 2004b) predicted changes to cold water fisheries habitat in terms of water temperature and dissolved oxygen under a doubled  $CO_2$  climate change regional warming scenario for 27 lake types in the United States, including Western United States lakes. They report an overall decrease in the average length of good-growth periods and the area for which lakes cannot support cold water fish would extend significantly further north. Luce and Holden (2009) discuss the potential for fish and wildlife impacts if observed streamflow reductions trends continue into the future. Williams et al. (2009) predict future adverse impacts to several species of cutthroat trout due to increased summer temperatures, uncharacteristic winter flooding, and increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Haak et al. (2010) present similar predictions for various salmonid species of the inland western United States.

Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts with feedbacks to runoff volume, water quality, evapotranspiration, and erosion (Lettenmaier et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2008). Burkett and Kusler (2000) discuss potential impacts to wetlands caused by climate change. Potential impacts to five different types of wetlands are discussed as well as how impacts may vary by region. Allan et al. (2005) suggest that, although freshwater ecosystems will adapt to climate change as they have to land use changes, acid rain, habitat degradation, pollution, etc., the adaptation likely will entail a diminishment of native biodiversity.

Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive species issues (e.g., quagga mussel reproduction cycles responding favorably to warmer water temperatures); moreover, climate changes could decrease the effectiveness of chemical or biological agents used to control invasive species (Hellman et al. 2008). Warmer water temperatures also could spur the growth of algae, which could result in eutrophic conditions in lakes, declines in water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), and changes in species composition.

Switching to nonaquatic species and ecosystem impacts, Ray et al. (2010) present a synthesis of existing climate change prediction data sets adjusted and downscaled to support efforts to determine the need of listing the American Pika under the Endangered Species Act. Significant increasing temperature trends and earlier snowmelt implications to Pika habitat are presented. Beever et al. (2010) report study findings associated with potential climate change impacts to the American Pika that include results of testing alternative models of climatemediated extirpations.

Another potential effect of climate change impacts on ecosystems and watershed hydrology involves changes in vegetation disturbances due to wildfires and forest dieback. In the Western United States, increases in spring-summer temperatures lead to attenuated snow melt, reduced soil moisture, and reduced fuel moisture conditions. This, in turn, affects wildland fire activity. Such effects are discussed in chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 (Ryan et al. 2008) and also Westerling et al. (2006), which document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations, in the Western United States. Coincident with trends toward warmer and drier climate in the Western United States over the past two decades (1990–2009), forest fires have grown larger and more frequent. Both the frequency of large wildfires and fire season length increased substantially since 1985, and these changes were closely linked with advances in the timing of spring snowmelt. Hot and dry weather also allows fires to grow exponentially, covering more acreage (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

Several studies have focused on potential future forest impacts under climate change spawned by disturbances involving forest fire or pest invasions. Westerling et al. (2006) document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations. Brown et al. (2004) evaluated future (2006–2099) Western United States wildfire potential based on climate change scenarios relative to current climate conditions and current wildfire potential quantified using the Forest Service National Fire Rating System. The study predicts increased potential for large wildfires throughout most of the Western United States with the exception of the Pacific Northwest and with the greatest increase in the northern Rockies, Great Basin, and the Southwest United States. McKenzie et al. (2004) project increases in numbers of days with high fire danger and acres burned, respectively, as a result of increasing temperatures and related climate changes. These authors also discuss how some plant and animal species that are sensitive to fire may decline, whereas the distribution and abundance of species favored by fire may be enhanced due to increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Robinson et al. (2008) describe and compare several ecological models that estimate vegetation development (productivity or vegetation type) under climate change. Beukema et al. (2007) discuss the potential for increased fire risk and insect and pathogen impacts to pinyon-juniper and spruce-fir forest ecosystems resulting from climate change.

Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems through triggering multiple nonlinear or threshold-like processes that interact in complex ways (Allen 2007). For example, increasing temperatures and their affects on soil moisture are a key factor in conifer species die-off in western North America (Breshears et al. 2005). Increased temperatures are also a key factor in the spread and abundance of the forest insect pests that also have been implicated in conifer mortality (Logan et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2008). For example, Ryan et al. (2008) report that several large insect outbreaks recently have occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks.<sup>28</sup> Climate change has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack. The one-two punch of temperature driven moisture stress on trees and the enhanced life cycles and ranges of insect pests kill large swaths of forest, triggering changes in ecosystem composition and flammability hence, a cascading series of impacts such as decreased soil retention and increased aeolian and fluvial erosion.

Hurd and Coonrod (2007) report that the greatest climate change-related risk in New Mexico is to ecosystems. They report that reduced snow pack, earlier runoff, and higher evaporative demands due to climate change will affect vegetative cover and species' habitat in New Mexico's Rio Grande Basin. They also discuss potential adverse water quality (including increased water temperatures) and reduced streamflow impacts that will affect aquatic habitat.

## 2.5 Great Plains Region

Numerous studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources in Reclamation's Great Plains (GP) Region. This section summarizes findings from recent studies (1994–2010) demonstrating evidence of regional climate change during the 20<sup>th</sup> century and exploring water and environmental resources impacts associated with various climate change scenarios.<sup>29</sup>

#### 2.5.1 Historical Climate and Hydrology

Over the course of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, it appears that all areas of the GP Region became warmer, and some areas received more winter precipitation during the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Cayan et al. (2001) report that Western United States spring temperatures have increased 1–3 °C (1.8–5.4 °F) since the 1970s. Based on data from the USHCN, temperatures have risen approximately 1.85 °F (1.02 °C) in the northern Great Plains to approximately 0.63 °F (0.35 °C) in the southern Great Plains between 1901 and 2008.<sup>30</sup> That dataset also reveals an increase in annual precipitation of more than 4% in the northern Great Plains and 10% in the southern Great Plains over the same period. The trend was more consistent in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Relative to Reclamation's other four regions, a limited number of studies have been conducted on the potential consequences of climate change for water resources that are specific to Reclamation's GP Region. Most of the findings reviewed are for studies related to all of the Western United States and/or areas of the GP Region west of the 100<sup>th</sup> meridian.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Trend calculations described in the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's 2009 U.S. and Global Mean Temperature and Precipitation (http://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si\_public\_record\_report.cfm?dirEntryId=209827). The period-mean reference is notable. For this 2009 report, the temperature trends were computed relative to a 1971–2000 period-mean leading to the values of +1.85 and +0.63 °F listed above. In the 2006 version of this analysis, trends were computed relative to a 1961–1990 period-mean, leading to regional trends of +1.76 and +0.17 °F by comparison (http://oaspub.epa.gov/eims/eims.eimscomm.getfile?p\_download\_id=489528).

southern Great Plains. Regonda et al. (2005) report increased winter precipitation trends during 1950–1999 at many Western United States sites, including numerous sites in the western GP Region, but a consistent region-wide Great Plains trend is not apparent.

Coincident with these trends, the western GP Region also experienced a general decline in spring snowpack, reduced snowfall to winter precipitation ratios, and earlier snowmelt runoff. Reduced snowfall to winter precipitation ratios from 1949–2005 also are indicated in the northern GP Region by Feng and Hu (2007). Reduced snowpack and snowfall ratios are indicated by analyses of 1948–2001 SWE measurements at 173 Western United States stations (Knowles et al. 2007). Regonda et al. (2005) report monthly SWE trends during 1950–1999 and suggest that there were statistically significant declines in monthly SWE over roughly half of the Western United States sites evaluated for 1970–1998. Among those sites, there was no regional consensus among SWE trends over southern Montana to Colorado; however, the regional consensus over western Montana appeared to be a decrease in monthly SWE. Similarly, Clow (2010) evaluated 1978–2007 SWE and runoff data for the Colorado mountains and found strong, pervasive trends in streamflow timing shifting earlier by about 2-3 weeks, and April 1 and maximum SWE declined 3.6 and 4.1 cm per decade, respectively. Stewart (2009) examined global snowpack and melt responses and noted that the greatest responses have been observed for areas that remain close to freezing throughout the winter season.

Villarini et al. (2009) analyzed annual peak discharge records from 50 stations in the United States with 100 years of record and attempted to document reduced stationarity. However, their results were equivocal, due to evidence of human modifications affecting runoff generation (e.g., changes in land use and land cover), fluvial transportation (e.g., construction of dams and pools), and changes in measurements, all of which can induce nonclimatic nonstationarity. Consequently, they reported that they were "not able to assess whether the observed variations in annual maximum instantaneous peak discharge were due to natural climate variability or anthropogenic climate change."

Focusing on changes in precipitation extremes, the former U.S. Climate Change Science Program issued SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008), wherein chapter 3 focuses on mechanisms for observed changes in extremes and and reports heavy precipitation events averaged over North America have increased over the past 50 years (Gutowski et al. 2008). Kunkel (2003) presents an analysis of extreme precipitation events and indicates that there has been an increase in their frequency since the 1920s/1930s in the United States, although very small trends (1931–1996) were shown for the climate divisions of the GP Region. Madsen and Figdor (2007) evaluated 1948–2006 trends in extreme precipitation events for each State using the method of Kunkel et al. (1998). Painter et al. (2010) discuss the role of dust deposition on snowmelt timing and runoff amount. The relevance to climate change is that the impact of warming on runoff timing is less for dusty snow because a greater fraction of the energy needed for snowmelt comes from sunlight, not air-temperature. Also, dust can impact even relatively cold, high-elevation snowpack. Dust-on-snow is very prevalent in the Upper Colorado River Basin, with a likely origin due to human-caused land disturbance on the Colorado Plateau. Understanding the role of dust is important for interpreting the historical record since it is important not to attribute all the changes in runoff timing to warmer temperatures.

On explaining historical trends in regional climate and hydrology, chapter 4 of the U.S. Climate Change Science Program SAP 4.3 discusses several studies that indicate most observed trends for SWE, soil moisture, and runoff in the Western United States are the result of increasing temperatures rather than precipitation effects (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This assertion is supported by a collection of journal articles that targeted the question of *detection* and *attribution* of late 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in hydrologically important variables in the Western United States, aimed directly at better understanding the relative roles of anthropogenically forced versus naturally originating climate variations explaining observed trends. Barnett et al. (2008) performed a multiple variable formal detection and attribution study and showed how the changes in Tmin, SWE, precipitation and CT for 1950–1999 co-vary. They concluded, with a high statistical significance, that up to 60% of the climatic trends in those variables are human-related. Similar results are reported in related studies by Pierce et al. (2008) for springtime SWE, Bonfils et al. (2008) for temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States, Hidalgo et al. (2009) for streamflow timing changes, and Das et al. (2009) for temperature, snow/rain days ratio, SWE, and streamflow timing changes. An additional key finding of these studies is that the statistical significance of the anthropogenic signal is greatest at the scale of the entire Western United States and weak or absent at the scale of regional scale drainages with the exception of the Columbia River Basin (Hidalgo et al. 2009).

While the trends in Western United States river flow, winter air temperature, and snow pack might be partially explained by anthropogenic influences on climate, Hoerling et al. (2010) show that it remains difficult to attribute historical precipitation variability to anthropogenic forcing. They evaluated regional precipitation data from around the world (observed and modeled) for 1977–2006. They suggest that the relationship between SSTs and rainfall changes are generally not symptomatic of human-induced emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Rather, their results suggest that trends during this period are consistent with atmospheric response to observed SST variability. Shin and Sardeshmukh (2010) show that the 20<sup>th</sup> century trends in PDSI are consistent with forcing by tropical SST trends and discuss that the SST trends are due to a combination of natural and anthropogenic forcing. These two studies reinforce the fact that tropical SSTs can act as a "middleman" for anthropogenic climate change in the

West. McAfee and Russell (2008) examined connections between the observed poleward migration of the Northern Hemisphere storm track (a global warming response suggested by current climate projections, sometimes referred to as Hadley Cell expansion [Seager et al. 2007]), atmospheric circulation over North America, and precipitation and temperature responses in the Western United States. They found that, during the transition to spring, following a Northern Annular Mode (also called Arctic Oscillation) high-index winter, which is associated with poleward storm track shifts, there is a weakening of the storm track over the northeastern Pacific, resulting in warmer and drier conditions west of the Rocky Mountains. They note that these results are consistent with observations of early spring onset in the Western United States.

Other research has suggested that warming-induced increases in thunderstorm activity of the GP Region (and most of the contiguous United States) (Changnon 2001) has led to an increase in heavy precipitation events since 1900 (Groisman 2004). Garbrecht et al. (2004) found similar patterns of increasing annual streamflow in watersheds in the central Great Plains through 2001 from various starting points before 1950, particularly during spring and winter. They also found that modest changes in precipitation (+12%) led to relatively larger increases in streamflow (64%) but lesser increases in evapotranspiration (5%). Most of the increases in streamflow had occurred by about 1990, and the trends had reversed in some watersheds through 2001.

Mauget (2004) evaluated data from 42 Hydro Climatic Data Network stations across the Great Plains and Midwest for 1939–1998. Generally, higher flow periods occurred at the end of the period, which resulted in positive streamflow trends. Analysis of daily streamflow data indicates negative trends in the number of drought events and positive trends in the number of surplus days.

Kunkel et al. (2007) urged caution in interpreting temporal variations in SWE studies using data from the Cooperative Observer Program (COOP) network due to inhomogeneities in observational practices. There was less concern for studies in the Western United States than for the eastern GP Region. In a followup study using stations with a long-term homogenous record, Kunkel et al. (2009) found snowfall declines from 1920–21 to 2006–07 in the central Great Plains and large percentage increases in the lee of the Rocky Mountains and parts of the north-central Great Plains. This study notes that snowfall is an important climate variable since it is the primary process for the replenishment of snow cover and the SWE of the snowpack. Additionally, Dyer and Mote (2006) note that changes in depth of the snowpack over North America will have impacts on regional hydrological systems through changes in runoff.

These findings are significant for regional water resources management and reservoir operations in the western and northern Great Plains because snowpack traditionally has played a central role in determining the seasonality of natural runoff. In many GP Region headwater basins, the precipitation stored as snow

during winter accounts for a significant portion of spring and summer inflow to lower elevation reservoirs. The mechanism for how this occurs is that (with precipitation being equal) warmer temperatures in these watersheds cause reduced snowpack development during winter, more runoff during the winter season, and earlier spring peak flows associated with an earlier snowmelt.

### 2.5.2 Climate Change Impacts on Hydrology and Water Resources

Several studies have been conducted to relate potential future climate scenarios to GP Region runoff and water resources management impacts. A recent paper by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO 2009) presents an overview of the current understanding of the impacts of climate change in the United States. Their findings indicate that warming will tend to be greater at high latitudes and in the interiors of the United States. CBO 2009 suggests that future climate conditions will feature less snowfall and more rainfall, less snowpack development, and earlier snowmelt runoff. The report also suggests that warming will lead to more intense and heavy rainfall that will tend to be interspersed with longer relatively dry periods. Lundquist et al. (2009) report similar findings. Such studies are particularly relevant to the western Great Plains headwaters and the central to northern High Plains.

For the GP Region east of the High Plains, and especially in the southern Great Plains, evapotranspirative demands and warm-season precipitation play a more prominent role in determining local hydrologic conditions relative to water management and generally more so relative to the influence of headwaters snowpack and snowmelt timing. Future projections of precipitation for the southern GP Region are further complicated by the limitations on the ability of climate models to portray the frequency and intensity of warm-season convection events or tropical storm systems tracking into the region.<sup>31</sup>

On future temperature and precipitation projections over the GP Region, there is greater agreement reported between model projections and, thus, higher confidence in future temperature change.<sup>32</sup> There is much less agreement in the sign of change and, thus, less confidence, in projections for precipitation change for *middle latitude* regions (Dai 2006). The amount of consensus on sign of precipitation change also varies geographically from northern to southern portions of the GP Region, with the northern limits of the region having a projection consensus toward wetter conditions and the southwestern limits having consensus toward drier conditions (appendix B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See http://www.isp.ucar.edu/water and http://www.nar.ucar.edu/2008/ESSL/sp2/#03.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Note that some researchers caution that agreement between models is not a sufficient metric for judging projection credibility (Pirtle et al. 2010), noting that the modeling community has yet to demonstrate sufficient independence between models that can be similarly flawed or biased as a result of sharing code or parameterizations.
Other notable studies on future climate projections over the GP Region include Rauscher et al. (2008), who used a high-resolution, nested climate model to investigate future changes in snowmelt-driven runoff over the Western United States. Results include that runoff could occur as much as 2 months earlier than present, particularly in the Northwest; and earlier runoff timing of at least 15 days in early-, middle-, and late-season flow is projected for almost all mountainous areas where runoff is snowmelt driven.

Switching focus to extreme precipitation events, chapter 3 of SAP 3.3 (CCSP 2008) comments on projected future changes in extremes (Gutowski et al. 2008), suggesting that climate change likely will cause precipitation to be less frequent but more intense in many areas and suggests that precipitation extremes are very likely to increase. Sun et al. (2007) report that, under 21<sup>st</sup> century modeled emissions scenarios B1 (low), A1B (medium), and A2 (high), all models consistently show a trend toward more intense and extreme precipitation for the globe as a whole and over various regions.

Several studies have assessed hydrologic impacts under projected climate conditions. The findings of six case studies on the sensitivity of water resources to climate change are reported by Lettenmaier et al. (1999). One of the case studies was for the Missouri River system. It found that snow accumulation, while important on the western headwaters of the Missouri system, plays only a modest role in total system runoff; and reduced precipitation combined with increasing potential evapotranspiration play a major role in system runoff reductions. Rosenberg et al. (1999) report impacts on surface water runoff and associated water supplies in the Ogallala Aquifer region under several climate change scenarios, including how changes in atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> impact photosynthesis and ET. Water yield in the Arkansas-White-Red River basin decreased under all scenarios. On extreme hydrologic events, Raff et al. (2009) introduced a framework for estimating flood frequency in the context of climate projection information. The framework was applied to a set of four diverse basins in the Western United States (i.e., the Boise River above Lucky Peak Dam, the San Joaquin River above Friant Dam, the James River above Jamestown Dam, and the Gunnison River above Blue Mesa Dam). Results for three of the four basins (Boise, San Joaquin, and James) showed that, under current climate projection information, probability distributions of annual maximum discharge would feature greater flow rates at all quantiles. For the fourth basin (Gunnison), greater flow rates were projected for roughly the upper third of quantiles. Granted, this study represents a preliminary effort, focused on introducing a framework for estimating flood frequency in a changing climate. Results are limited by various uncertainties, including how the climate projection information used in the analysis did not reflect potential changes in storm frequency and duration (only changes in storm intensity relative to historical storm events).

Such future impacts on hydrology have been shown to have implications for water resources management. Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources effects

and suggests that management of Western United States reservoir systems is very likely to become more challenging as net annual runoff decreases and interannual patterns continue to change as the result of climate change (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). A study by Hotchkiss et al. (2000) addresses the ability to incorporate complex operation rules for multiple reservoirs into a hydrologic model capable of assessing climate change impacts on water resources of large, completely managed river basins. This study was part of an overall effort to address climate change-related impacts within the Missouri River Basin. A soil and water assessment numerical modeling tool was used to simulate surface water hydrology that was successfully calibrated to historical conditions; however, its snowmelt component was problematic, thus limiting useful results. Loáiciga et al. (2000) identified potential impacts of climate change scenarios on management of the Edwards Aquifer system in western Texas. The study reports the Edwards Aquifer appears to be very vulnerable to warming trends based on current levels of extraction and projected future pumping rates. On managing for system flood risk, Lettenmaier et al. (1999) reported improved flood control conditions for the Missouri River system under certain climate change scenarios where flood risk is driven by monthly to seasonal phenomena rather than storm or storm pattern phenomena. Changes in extreme precipitation and runoff could present flood control challenges to varying degrees at many locations, but possibly to lesser degrees in snowmelt dominated basins. Hamlet and Lettenmaier (2007) cite decreasing flood quantiles in snowmelt dominated systems due to lower spring snowpack. It should be noted that this is an area where the existence of dust-onsnow complicates matters, since this phenomenon can lead to rapid snowmelt. Their findings also suggest that warming over the 20<sup>th</sup> century has resulted in changes in flood risks in many parts of the Western United States that are broadly characterized by midwinter temperatures, and that colder, snowmelt basins typically show reductions in flood risks because of snowpack reductions. In any case, consideration of these results should be complemented by the understanding that many flood risk management situations in the GP Region are driven by potential for local, convective precipitation events. There are still many uncertainties associated with interpreting projected trends in local, convective precipitation potential based on results from current climate models. Trapp et al. (2007) looked at future changes in deep convection (i.e., severe thunderstorms) due to a warming climate and found increases in the number of days with suitable conditions for warm-season severe storms for most of the GP Region, particularly in the summer months. The associated increase in heavy precipitation events inherent with deep convection could bring increased flood risk.

Switching to water demands, Elgaali et al. (2007) and Ojima et al. (1999) report potential climate change impacts on water resources and demands in the GP Region. Changes in agricultural water demands were evaluated based on climate change scenarios using crop consumptive use methods. Both studies project future increases in crop water consumptive use ranging from 20 to 60% by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

#### 2.5.3 Climate Change Impacts on Environmental Resources

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on the impacts of climate change for individual species and ecosystems.<sup>33</sup> Predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include species range shifts poleward, adjustment of migratory species arrival and departure, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack (Ryan et al. 2008). Cayan et al. (2001) document earlier blooming of lilacs and honeysuckles correlated to increasing spring temperatures.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.3 discusses the effects of climate change on agriculture and water resources (Hatfield et al. 2008). It addresses the many issues associated with future agricultural water demands and that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands. These limited study findings suggest significant irrigation requirement increases for corn and alfalfa due to increased temperatures and CO<sub>2</sub> and reduced precipitation. Further, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons lengthen and, assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity, by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Christidis et al. (2007) point out that increases in growing season length also have ramifications for phenological events, with possible cascading impacts related to water storage, peak flows, and pollinators. The International Panel on Climate Change Technical Paper on Climate Change and Water includes similar discussions (Bates et al. 2008), offering similar discussions on the above issues and noting that only a few studies have attempted to predict climate change impacts on irrigation demands.

Increased air temperatures could increase aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. In general, studies of climate change impacts on freshwater ecosystems are more straightforward with streams and rivers, which are typically well mixed and track air temperature closely, as opposed to lakes and reservoirs, where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Ansu and McCarney (2008) offer a categorized bibliography of articles related to climate change and environmental resources impacts. Readers are encouraged to review this bibliography for additional articles relevant to their specific interests.

thermal stratification and depth affect habitat (Allan et al. 2005). Ficke et al. (2007) present an extensive synthesis and bibliography of literature on climate change impacts on freshwater fisheries. Fang et al. (2004a and 2004b) predicted changes to cold water fisheries habitat in terms of water temperature and dissolved oxygen under a doubled  $CO_2$  climate change regional warming scenario for 27 lake types in the United States, including Western United States lakes. They report an overall decrease in the average length of good-growth periods and the area for which lakes cannot support cold water fish would extend significantly further north. Williams et al. (2009) predict future adverse impacts to several species of cutthroat trout due to increased summer temperatures, uncharacteristic winter flooding, and increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Haak et al. (2010) present similar predictions for various salmonid species of the inland Western United States.

Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts with feedbacks to runoff volume, water quality, evapotranspiration, and erosion (Lettenmaier et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2008). Allan et al. (2005) suggest that, although freshwater ecosystems will adapt to climate change as they have to land use changes, acid rain, habitat degradation, pollution, etc., the adaptation likely will entail a diminishment of native biodiversity. McCarty (2001) report night time temperature increases in northeastern Colorado resulting in a significant decline in the dominant native grass.

Covich et al. (1997) summarize available information on patterns of spatial climate variability and identifies subregions of importance to ecological processes within the Great Plains. Climate sensitive areas of the Great Plains range from cold water systems (springs and spring-fed streams) to warmer, temporary systems (intermittent streams, ponds, pothole wetlands, playas). Johnson et al. (2005) used a wetland simulation model to predict significant climate change impacts to the northern pothole prairie region. Mathews (2008) reports on climate change-related impacts to playa lakes of the High Plains. The findings indicate that the most productive habitat for breeding waterfowl would shift to the eastern part of the region under warmer and drier conditions. Conly and Garth van der Kamp (2001) reported wetland and associated wildlife impacts related to climate and land use changes. Wetland water level data were coupled with meteorological data in a numerical model to simulate water level changes resulting from climate change. Poiani and Johnson (1993) also used a numerical model to simulate wetland hydrology and vegetation impacts due to climate change. Burkett and Kusler (2000) discuss potential impacts to wetlands caused by climate change. Potential impacts to five different types of wetlands are discussed as well as how impacts may vary by region.

Climate change impacts on Great Plains pothole wetland areas and playa lakes have been studied (Johnson et al. 2005, Mathews 2008 and Scanlon et al. 2007), and other sensitive environments have been identified. Studies to address effects of 21<sup>st</sup> century warming on prairie wetlands are few.

Reiners et al. (2003) and Covich et al. (2003) report predicted Rocky Mountain and Great Basin Region impacts, respectively, to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems based on two GCM-based climate change scenarios. Predicted terrestrial ecosystem impacts are based primarily on changes in vegetation and pest infestations. Predicted aquatic ecosystem impacts are based primarily on changes in water temperatures, nutrients, and food sources. Aquatic impacts prediction confidence is higher for the southern portion of the region.

Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive species issues (e.g., quagga mussel reproduction cycles responding favorably to warmer water temperatures); moreover, climate changes could decrease the effectiveness of chemical or biological agents used to control invasive species (Hellman et al. 2008). Warmer water temperatures also could spur the growth of algae, which could result in eutrophic conditions in lakes, declines in water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008), and changes in species composition.

Switching to nonaquatic species and ecosystem impacts, Ray et al. (2010) present a synthesis of existing climate change prediction data sets adjusted and downscaled to support efforts to determine the need of listing the American Pika under the Endangered Species Act. Significant increasing temperature trends and earlier snowmelt implications to Pika habitat are presented. Beever et al. (2010) report study findings associated with potential climate change impacts to the American Pika that include results of testing alternative models of climatemediated extirpations. In a more generic sense, wildlife population distributions likely are to change as plant species distributions and water availability changes. For example, McKinney et al. (2008) demonstrate that winter precipitation is the leading predictor of pronghorn antelope recruitment.

Another potential effect of climate change impacts on ecosystems and watershed hydrology involves changes in vegetation disturbances due to wildfires and forest dieback. In the Western United States, increases in spring-summer temperatures lead to attenuated snow melt, reduced soil moisture, and reduced fuel moisture conditions. This, in turn, affects wildland fire activity. Such effects are discussed in chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 (Ryan et al. 2008) and also Westerling et al. (2006), which document large increases in fire season duration and fire frequency, especially at mid-elevations, in the Western United States. Coincident with trends toward warmer and drier climate in the Western United States over the past two decades (1990–2009), forest fires have grown larger and more frequent. Both the frequency of large wildfires and fire season length increased substantially since 1985, and these changes were closely linked with advances in the timing of spring snowmelt. Hot and dry weather also allows fires to grow exponentially, covering more acreage (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

Several studies have focused on potential future forest impacts under climate change spawned by disturbances involving forest fire or pest invasions. Westerling et al. (2006) document large increases in fire season duration and fire

frequency, especially at mid-elevations. Brown et al. (2004) evaluated future (2006–2099) Western United States wildfire potential based on climate change scenarios relative to current climate conditions and current wildfire potential quantified using the Forest Service National Fire Rating System. The study predicts increased potential for large wildfires throughout most of the Western United States with the exception of the Pacific Northwest and with the greatest increase in the northern Rockies, Great Basin, and the Southwest United States. McKenzie et al. (2004) project increases in the number of days with high fire danger and acres burned, respectively, because of increasing temperatures and related climate changes. These authors also discuss how some plant and animal species that are sensitive to fire may decline, whereas the distribution and abundance of species favored by fire may be enhanced due to increased wildfires resulting from climate change. Robinson et al. (2008) describe and compare several ecological models that estimate vegetation development (productivity or vegetation type) under climate change. Beukema et al. (2007) discuss the potential for increased fire risk and insect and pathogen impacts to pinyon-juniper forest ecosystems in the mountainous western border of the Great Plains Region resulting from climate change.

Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems through triggering multiple nonlinear or threshold-like processes that interact in complex ways (Allen 2007). For example, increasing temperatures and their effects on soil moisture are a key factor in conifer species die-off in western North America (Breshears et al. 2005). Increased temperatures are also a key factor in the spread and abundance of the forest insect pests that also have been implicated in conifer mortality (Logan et al. 2003; Williams et al. 2008). For example, Ryan et al. (2008) report that several large insect outbreaks have recently occurred or are occurring in the United States, and increased temperature and drought likely influenced these outbreaks.<sup>34</sup> Climate change has affected forest insect species range and abundance through changes in insect survival rates, increases in life cycle development rates, facilitation of range expansion, and effect on host plant capacity to resist attack. The one-two punch of temperature driven moisture stress on trees and the enhanced life cycles and ranges of insect pests kill large swaths of forest, triggering changes in ecosystem composition and flammability hence, a cascading series of impacts such as decreased soil retention and increased aeolian and fluvial erosion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Numerous articles on invasive bark beetle topics are available at http://wwa.colorado.edu/ecology/beetle/references.html.

# 3.0 Summary of Potential Impacts on Planning Resource Areas

This chapter qualitatively summarizes potential climate change impacts related to various resources areas and operating objectives that might be relevant to Reclamation's long-range planning processes. Areas discussed include runoff and surface water supplies, flood control, hydropower, fisheries and wildlife, surface water quality, and groundwater. The studies discussed in the previous chapter primarily support this chapter's discussion on impacts for runoff, surface water supplies, hydropower, and environmental resources. This chapter's discussion of impacts for flood control, fisheries, surface water quality, and groundwater primarily is based on information from the U.S. Climate Change Science Program (CCSP) Synthesis and Assessment Product reports.

Note that each region-specific summary is meant to serve as a standalonenarrative to support planning efforts in that region. However, many of the studies cited for each region's literature review have "Western United States" applicability. Further, many of the climate change impacts evident in recent studies are common among regions. Consequently, there are many common themes in each region-specific summary that follows.

# 3.1 Pacific Northwest Region

### 3.1.1 Runoff and Surface Water Supplies

Based on recent scenario studies of climate change impacts, it appears that *warming without precipitation change* would trigger a seasonal shift toward increased runoff during winter and decreased runoff during summer in basins historically having a significant accumulation of seasonal snowpack. Based on contemporary climate projections, it appears plausible that precipitation increase over the PN Region could occur with regional warming and offset some portion of summer runoff decreases associated with warming alone, yet scenarios consistently point to reduced springtime snowpack and substantial reductions in late spring and early summer runoff and streamflow in snowmelt-driven watersheds of the PN Region (Lettenmaier et al. 1999; Hamlet and Lettenmaier 1999; Payne et al. 2004; Elsner et al. 2010). Projected reductions in spring and summer snowmelt runoff largely are balanced by increases in winter runoff as more precipitation is projected to fall as rain rather than snow.

This seasonal timing shift in runoff will present challenges in managing increasing winter streamflow and decreasing late spring and early summer streamflow (Payne et al. 2004). Based on current reservoir operations constraints (e.g., capacity, flood control rules), it appears that such runoff shifts would lead to

reduced water supplies under current system and operating conditions. This follows the understanding that storage opportunities during winter runoff season currently are limited by flood control considerations at many reservoirs and that increased winter runoff under climate change won't necessarily translate into increased storage of water leading into the spring season. Conversely, storage capture of snowmelt runoff traditionally has occurred during the late spring and early summer seasons. Reductions in runoff during this season likely would translate into reductions in storage capture and, likewise, reductions in water supply for warm season delivery.

# 3.1.2 Flood Control

In Western United States reservoir systems with flood control objectives in currently snowmelt-dominated basins, warming without precipitation change could result in increased winter runoff volumes to manage during flood control operations. This could motivate adjustments to flood control strategies (e.g., Brekke et al. 2009b; Lee et al. 2009). For example, given existing reservoir capacities and current flood control rules (e.g., winter draft period, spring refill date), a pattern of more winter runoff might suggest an increased flooding risk. If current flood control rule adjustments as climate evolves (e.g., deeper winter draft requirements) that may further affect dry season water supplies (e.g., spring refill beginning with less winter carryover storage).

### 3.1.3 Hydropower

Hydroelectric generation is highly sensitive to climate change effects on precipitation and river discharge. SAP 4.5 (Bull et al. 2007) indicates that hydropower operations also are affected indirectly when climate change impacts air temperatures, humidity, or wind patterns. Hydropower demand generally trends with temperature (e.g., heating demand during cold days, air conditioning demand during warm days). Hydropower generation is generally a function of reservoir storage. Climate changes that result in decreased reservoir inflow or disrupt traditional timing of inflows could adversely impact hydropower generation. Alternatively, increases in average flows would increase hydropower production.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.5 focuses on how energy use may respond to climate change (Scott et al. 2007) and suggests that, in terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer. Net effects of on total energy demand are projected to be modest ( $\pm$ 5% per 1 °C). Such demand changes might motivate adjustments to reservoir operations for hydropower objectives (e.g., less winter production, more summer production), which may not be consistent with runoff impacts and/or potential flood control adjustments (e.g., more winter release, less summer release).

## 3.1.4 Fisheries and Wildlife

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on climate change impacts for individual species and ecosystems. Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts. At present, most predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include increased stress on fisheries that are sensitive to a warming aquatic habitat, potentially improved habitat for quagga mussels bearing implications for maintenance of hydraulic structures, and increased risk of watershed vegetation disturbances due to increased fire potential. Other warming-related impacts include poleward shifts in the geographic range of various species, impacts on the arrival and departure of migratory species, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems and exacerbate invasive species problems.

### 3.1.5 Surface Water Quality

Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources, as mentioned above, and includes discussion on impacts for surface water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Whether water quality conditions improve or deteriorate under climate change depends on several variables including water temperature, flow, runoff rate and timing, and the physical characteristics of the watershed. Climate change has the potential to alter all of these variables. Climate change impacts on surface water ecosystems very likely will affect their capacity to remove pollutants and improve water quality; however, the timing, magnitude, and consequences of these impacts are not well understood (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Increased summer air temperatures could increase dry season aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat.

#### 3.1.6 Groundwater

Chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 discusses how land resources may be affected by climate change (Ryan et al. 2008) and indicates that depletions to natural groundwater recharge are sensitive to climate warming. Additionally, reduced mountain snowpack, earlier snowmelt, and reductions in spring and summer streamflow volumes originating from snowmelt likely would affect surface water supplies and could trigger heavier reliance on groundwater resources. However, warmer wetter winters could increase the amount of water available for groundwater recharge. It is has not been demonstrated how much of this additional winter runoff can be captured and utilized without using artificial recharge schemes.

# 3.1.7 Water Demand

Potential climate change-related impacts to agricultural, municipal and industrial, and instream water demands are difficult to predict; and existing information on

the subject is limited. It is widely accepted in the literature that water demand impacts will occur due to increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and changes in precipitation, winds, humidity, and atmospheric aerosol and ozone levels. Further, these impacts must be considered in combination with socioeconomic impacts including future changes in infrastructure, land use, technology, and human behavior.

Agricultural water demands include those associated with crop irrigation and livestock consumption. The predominant water demand in the Western United States is for agricultural irrigation. Approximately 85% of the consumptive use water demand in the 17 Western States is for irrigation (Frederick 1997). Given that the atmosphere's moisture holding capacity increases when air temperature increases, it seems intuitive that plant water consumption and surface water evaporation associated with agricultural demands will increase in a warming climate. However, it's understood that crop water needs respond to not only temperature and precipitation conditions but also atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, ozone, and potential evapotranspiration (which, in turn, is affected by solar radiation, humidity, and wind speed). Uncertainties in projecting climate change impacts on these connditions lead to uncertainties in future irrigation demands.

On the matter of joint changes in climate and  $CO_2$ , Baldocchi and Wong (2006) and Bloom (2010) report that, to varying degrees, plants respond to increased  $CO_2$ by closing their stomata. This stomal closure results in a net reduction in plant transpiration and water consumption. Additionally, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) found that increasing  $CO_2$  concentrations tend to, at least initially, increase plant growth and vigor. Larger plants growing more vigorously should use more water. Although increased temperatures may result in increased growth, when temperatures exceed the optimal range for various plant types, growth is diminished. As an example, increased winter temperatures due to climate warming in California's Central Valley may eventually preclude growing certain fruit crops that require a certain amount of chilling hours prior to flowering (Baldocchi and Wong 2006).

On evaporation potential, several studies report historical trends of decreasing pan evaporation during the past 50 years (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This latter result may be related to changes in other factors affecting surface energy balance (e.g., net radiation and wind speed) that are not congruous with the notion of increasing air temperatures. Historical potential evapotranspiration data typically are limited and inconsistent; however, Hidalgo et al. (2005) report no appreciable trends in their review of California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) data for 1990–2002. Consequently, there is uncertainty about how physically driven agricultural water demands may change under climate change.

Besides potential direct influences from changes in climate, CO<sub>2</sub>, and potential evapotranspiration, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand,

agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons become longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Gunther et al. (2006) predict significant increases in 21<sup>st</sup> century irrigation demands for North America based on combined GCM and socioeconomic scenarios. Some studies predict that agricultural lands requiring irrigation may increase by up to 40% due to climate change, and livestock water demands will increase significantly (Pacific Institute 2009).

Although changes in water demands associated with natural processes may be difficult to quantify, municipal and industrial consumption increases associated with population growth will occur. Domestic water use is not very sensitive to changes in temperature and precipitation (Frederick 1997), and water conservation measures may offset potential increases in per capita water usage. Although the use of new water efficient appliances and fixtures will increase through institutional measures and mandates, socioeconomic factors will impact water conservation.

Nonbeneficial consumptive uses associated with agricultural demands (reservoir evaporation and conveyance and onfarm application losses) are significant. Reservoir evaporation may increase if warming temperatures override other factors, but other agricultural losses may be reduced in the future with more efficient application methods and conveyance improvements.

Water demands for industrial cooling and thermoelectric power production likely will increase with warmer air and water temperatures (Frederick 1997). Although demands may not increase, certain industries are extremely reliant on reliable water supplies (semiconductor, beverage, pharmaceutical, etc.).

Potential instream water demand increases resulting from climate change could include ecosystem demands, hydropower and thermoelectric power production, industrial cooling, and navigation and recreational uses. Water demands for endangered species and other fish and wildlife could increase with ecosystem impacts due to warmer air and water temperatures and resulting hydrologic impacts (i.e., runoff timing). Diversions and consumptive use by thermoelectric power production and industrial cooling facilities are predicted to increase since these processes will function less efficiently with warmer air and water temperatures. The timing of these diversions and those for hydropower production could also be a factor in ecosystem demands and navigation and recreational water uses. As climate change might affect water supplies and reservoir operations, the resultant effects on water allocations from year to year could trigger changes in water use (e.g., crop types, cropping dates, environmental flow targets, transfers among different uses, hydropower production, and recreation). Such climate-related changes in water use would interact with market influences on agribusiness and energy management, demographic and land use changes, and other nonclimate factors.

# 3.2 Mid-Pacific Region

#### 3.2.1 Runoff and Surface Water Supplies

Based on recent scenario studies of climate change impacts, it appears that *warming without precipitation change* would trigger a seasonal shift toward increased runoff during winter and decreased runoff during summer in basins historically having a significant accumulation of seasonal snowpack (Van Rheenan et al. 2004; Anderson et al. 2008; Brekke et al. 2009b; Null et al. 2010). There is not a majority consensus among contemporary climate projections that precipitation might increase over the MP Region. However, assuming such a possibility, an increase in mean-annual precipitation could offset a significant portion of summer runoff decreases associated with regional warming alone. The resultant affect could be a minor change in dry season water supply (albeit with significantly increased winter runoff). The 21<sup>st</sup> century climate projections considered by Dettinger et al. (2004) suggest a modest future increase in precipitation with assessed hydrologic impacts suggesting long-term average streamflow similar to historical, with reduced growing season soil moisture and associated reduced evapotranspiration occurring.

This seasonal timing shift in runoff could present challenges in managing increasing winter streamflow and decreasing late spring and early summer streamflow. Based on current reservoir operations constraints (e.g., capacity, flood control rules), it appears that such runoff shifts would lead to reduced water supplies under current system and operating conditions. This follows the understanding that storage opportunities during winter runoff season currently are limited by flood control considerations at many reservoirs, and that increased winter runoff under climate change won't necessarily translate into increased storage of water leading into the spring season. Conversely, storage capture of snowmelt runoff traditionally has occurred during the late spring and early summer seasons. Reductions in runoff during this season likely would translate into reductions in storage capture and, likewise, reductions in water supply for warm season delivery.

## 3.2.2 Flood Control

In Western United States reservoir systems with flood control objectives in currently snowmelt-dominated basins, warming without precipitation change could result in increased winter runoff volumes to manage during flood control operations. This could motivate adjustments to flood control strategies (e.g., Brekke et al. 2009b and Lee et al. 2009). For example, given existing reservoir capacities and current flood control rules (e.g., winter draft period, spring refill date), a pattern of more winter runoff might suggest an increased flooding risk. If current flood control rule adjustments as climate evolves (e.g., deeper winter draft requirements) that may further affect dry season water supplies (e.g., spring refill beginning with less winter carryover storage).

#### 3.2.3 Hydropower

Hydroelectric generation is highly sensitive to climate change effects on precipitation and river discharge. SAP 4.5 (Bull et al. 2007) indicates that hydropower operations also are affected indirectly when climate change impacts air temperatures, humidity, or wind patterns. Hydropower demand generally trends with temperature (e.g., heating demand during cold days, air conditioning demand during warm days). Hydropower generation is generally a function of reservoir storage. Climate changes that result in decreased reservoir inflow or disrupt traditional timing of inflows could adversely impact hydropower generation. Alternatively, increases in average flows would increase hydropower production.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.5 focuses on how energy use may respond to climate change (Scott et al. 2007), and suggests that, in terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer. Net effects of on total energy demand are projected to be modest ( $\pm$ 5% per 1 °C). Such demand changes might motivate adjustments to reservoir operations for hydropower objectives (e.g., less winter production, more summer production), which may not be consistent with runoff impacts and/or potential flood control adjustments (e.g., more winter release, less summer release).

Harou et al. (2010) evaluated California economic and water supply systems operations impacts using a hydroeconomic model based on a paleorecord data based drought scenario rather than downscaled GCM results. The authors report a predicted 60% reduction in hydropower generation under the modeled 70-year drought scenario. Null et al. (2010) predict that the most valuable western-slope Sierra Nevada watersheds with regard to hydropower are the most vulnerable to changes in runoff timing and hydropower production impacts. These predictions are based on the results of a rainfall-runoff model with 2, 4, and 6 °C air temperature increases with no precipitation change.

#### 3.2.4 Fisheries and Wildlife

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on climate change impacts for individual species and ecosystems. Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts. At present, most predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include increased stress on fisheries that are sensitive to a warming aquatic habitat, potentially improved habitat for quagga mussels bearing implications for maintenance of hydraulic structures, and increased risk of watershed vegetation disturbances due to increased fire potential. Other warming-related impacts include poleward shifts in the geographic range of various species, impacts on the arrival and departure of migratory species, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems and exacerbate invasive species problems.

### 3.2.5 Surface Water Quality

Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources, as mentioned above and includes discussion on impacts for surface water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Whether water quality conditions improve or deteriorate under climate change depends on several variables including water temperature, flow, runoff rate and timing, and the physical characteristics of the watershed. Climate change has the potential to alter all of these variables. Climate change impacts on surface water ecosystems very likely will affect their capacity to remove pollutants and improve water quality; however, the timing, magnitude, and consequences of these impacts are not well understood (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Increased summer air temperatures could increase dry season aquatic temperatures and affect fisheries habitat.

Dettinger and Cayan (2003) studied the relationship between San Francisco Bay estuary salinity levels and interseasonal inflows from the eight major river basins that flush the bay. Monthly reconstructions of full natural flow quantities for 1906-1992 were analyzed, and distinct 'modes' of seasonal flow and runoff variability were characterized. The study findings underscore the need to predict future runoff conditions to manage estuary salinity and especially for in the central middle-altitude river basins that are most susceptible to climate change impacts. Knowles and Cayan (2004) evaluated GCM-based projected runoff conditions for the western Sierra Nevada river basins and found that the shift of water in mid-elevations of the Sacramento River basin from snowmelt to rainfall runoff is the dominant cause of projected changes in San Francisco Bay estuarine inflows and salinity.

#### 3.2.6 Groundwater

Chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 discusses how land resources may be affected by climate change (Ryan et al. 2008) and indicates that depletions to natural groundwater recharge are sensitive to climate warming. Additionally, reduced mountain snowpack, earlier snowmelt, and reductions in spring and summer streamflow volumes originating from snowmelt likely would affect surface water supplies and could trigger heavier reliance on groundwater resources. However, warmer wetter winters could increase the amount of water available for groundwater recharge. It has not been demonstrated how much of this additional winter runoff can be captured and utilized without using artificial recharge schemes.

#### 3.2.7 Water Demand

Potential climate change-related impacts to agricultural, municipal and industrial, and instream water demands are difficult to predict and existing information on the subject is limited. It is widely accepted in the literature that water demand impacts will occur due to increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and changes in precipitation, winds, humidity, and atmospheric aerosol and ozone levels. Further, these impacts must be considered in combination with socioeconomic impacts including future changes in infrastructure, land use, technology, and human behavior.

Agricultural water demands include those associated with crop irrigation and livestock consumption. The predominant water demand in the Western United States is for agricultural irrigation. Approximately 85% of the consumptive use water demand in the 17 Western States is for irrigation (Frederick 1997). Given that the atmosphere's moisture holding capacity increases when air temperature increases, it seems intuitive that plant water consumption and surface water evaporation associated with agricultural demands will increase in a warming climate. However, it's understood that crop water needs respond to not only temperature and precipitation conditions but also atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, ozone, and potential evapotranspiration (which, in turn, is affected by solar radiation, humidity, and wind speed). Uncertainties in projecting climate change impacts on these connditions lead to uncertainties in future irrigation demands.

On the matter of joint changes in climate and  $CO_2$ , Baldocchi and Wong (2006) and Bloom (2010) report that, to varying degrees, plants respond to increased  $CO_2$ by closing their stomata. This stomal closure results in a net reduction in plant transpiration and water consumption. Additionally, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) found that increasing  $CO_2$  concentrations tend to, at least initially, increase plant growth and vigor. Larger plants growing more vigorously should use more water. Although increased temperatures may result in increased growth, when temperatures exceed the optimal range for various plant types, growth is diminished. As an example, increased winter temperatures due to climate warming in California's Central Valley may eventually preclude growing certain fruit crops which require a certain amount of chilling hours prior to flowering (Baldocchi and Wong 2006).

On evaporation potential, several studies report historical trends of decreasing pan evaporation during the past 50 years (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This latter result may be related to changes in other factors affecting surface energy balance (e.g., net radiation and wind speed) that are not congruous with the notion of increasing air temperatures. Historical potential evapotranspiration data typically are limited and inconsistent; however, Hidalgo et al. (2005) report no appreciable trends in their review of CIMIS data for 1990–2002. Consequently, there is uncertainty about how physically driven agricultural water demands may change under climate change.

Besides potential direct influences from changes in climate, CO<sub>2</sub>, and potential evapotranspiration, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons become longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Gunther et al. (2006) predict significant increases in 21<sup>st</sup> century irrigation demands for North America based on combined GCM and socioeconomic scenarios. Some studies predict that agricultural lands requiring irrigation may increase by up to 40% due to climate change, and livestock water demands will increase significantly (Pacific Institute 2009).

Although changes in water demands associated with natural processes may be difficult to quantify, municipal and industrial consumption increases associated with population growth will occur. Domestic water use is not very sensitive to changes in temperature and precipitation (Frederick 1997), and water conservation measures may offset potential increases in per capita water usage. Although the use of new water efficient appliances and fixtures will increase through institutional measures and mandates, socioeconomic factors will impact water conservation.

Nonbeneficial consumptive uses associated with agricultural demands (reservoir evaporation and conveyance and onfarm application losses) are significant. Reservoir evaporation may increase if warming temperatures override other factors, but other agricultural losses may be reduced in the future with more efficient application methods and conveyance improvements.

Water demands for industrial cooling and thermoelectric power production likely will increase with warmer air and water temperatures (Frederick 1997). Although

demands may not increase, certain industries are extremely reliant on reliable water supplies (semiconductor, beverage, pharmaceutical, etc.).

Potential instream water demand increases resulting from climate change could include ecosystem demands, hydropower and thermoelectric power production, industrial cooling, and navigation and recreational uses. Water demands for endangered species and other fish and wildlife could increase with ecosystem impacts due to warmer air and water temperatures and resulting hydrologic impacts (i.e., runoff timing). Diversions and consumptive use by thermoelectric power production and industrial cooling facilities are predicted to increase since these processes will function less efficiently with warmer air and water temperatures. The timing of these diversions and those for hydropower production could also be a factor in ecosystem demands and navigation and recreational water uses.

As climate change might affect water supplies and reservoir operations, the resultant effects on water allocations from year to year could trigger changes in water use (e.g., crop types, cropping dates, environmental flow targets, transfers among different uses, hydropower production, and recreation). Such climate-related changes in water use would interact with market influences on agribusiness and energy management, demographic and land use changes, and other nonclimate factors.

# 3.3 Lower Colorado Region

#### 3.3.1 Runoff and Surface Water Supplies

A suite of climate simulations conducted for the IPCC AR4 shows that substantial decreases in Colorado River Basin annual runoff are likely (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Based on recent scenario studies of climate change impacts, it appears that warming without substantial precipitation increase will result in significant reductions in runoff and impact the ability to fully meet current LC Region demands over the long term. This is complicated by the uncertainties of predicting changes to *middle latitude* precipitation patterns resulting from climate change. Although most climate models indicate drier subtropical latitude conditions, which generally include the LC Region, this projected precipitation trend may not be relevant to the dominant source of supply regions serving the LC Region-the Upper Colorado River Basin and northern California. Both of these regions exist in the middle latitudes where there is less consensus about whether future precipitation conditions will be wetter or drier, but solid consensus that snow hydrology will change (earlier snow melt, declining fraction of winter precipitation falling as snow) and evapotranspiration will increase with increasing temperatures.

Warming could also lead to shifts in the seasonal timing of runoff with increased winter runoff and decreased summer runoff. This shift in timing could present challenges in managing increasing winter streamflow and decreasing late spring and early summer streamflow. Based on current reservoir operations constraints (e.g., capacity, flood control rules), it appears that such runoff shifts would lead to reduced water supplies under current system and operating conditions. This follows the understanding that storage opportunities during winter runoff season currently are limited by flood control considerations at many reservoirs and that increased winter runoff under climate change won't necessarily translate into increased storage of water leading into the spring season. Conversely, storage capture of snowmelt runoff traditionally has occurred during the late spring and early summer seasons. Reductions in runoff during this season likely would translate into reductions in storage capture and, likewise, reductions in water supply for warm season delivery.

# 3.3.2 Flood Control

In Western United States reservoir systems with flood control objectives in currently snowmelt-dominated basins, warming without precipitation change could result in increased winter runoff volumes to manage during flood control operations. This could motivate adjustments to flood control strategies (e.g., Brekke et al. 2009b; Lee et al. 2009). For example, given existing reservoir capacities and current flood control rules (e.g., winter draft period, spring refill date), a pattern of more winter runoff might suggest an increased flooding risk. If current flood control rule adjustments as climate evolves (e.g., deeper winter draft requirements) that may further affect dry season water supplies (e.g., spring refill beginning with less winter carryover storage).

For LC Region areas existing within snowmelt-affected basins, it would appear that winter runoff increase under a scenario of regional warming and no annual precipitation may impact flood control operations.

### 3.3.3 Hydropower

Hydroelectric generation is highly sensitive to climate change effects on precipitation and river discharge. SAP 4.5 (Bull et al. 2007) indicates that hydropower operations also are affected indirectly when climate change impacts air temperatures, humidity, or wind patterns. Hydropower demand generally trends with temperature (e.g., heating demand during cold days, air conditioning demand during warm days). Hydropower generation is generally a function of reservoir storage. Climate changes that result in decreased reservoir inflow or disrupt traditional timing of inflows could adversely impact hydropower generation. Alternatively, increases in average flows would increase hydropower production.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.5 focuses on how energy use may respond to climate change (Scott et al. 2007) and suggests that, in terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer. Net effects of on total energy demand are projected to be modest ( $\pm$ 5% per 1 °C). Such demand changes might motivate adjustments to reservoir operations for hydropower objectives (e.g., less winter production, more summer production), which may not be consistent with runoff impacts and/or potential flood control adjustments (e.g., more winter release, less summer release).

Harou et al. (2010) evaluated California economic and water supply systems operations impacts using a hydroeconomic model based on a paleorecord data based drought scenario rather than downscaled GCM results. The authors report a predicted 60% reduction in hydropower generation under the modeled 70-year drought scenario.

In the LC Region, power generation fluctuations occur primarily on an annual frequency due to the relatively large capacities of Lake Powell and Lake Mead. Seasonal fluctuations due to decreasing inflows, although potentially significant, may be less significant than the anticipated overall reduction in total annual power production. In terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer.

#### 3.3.4 Fisheries and Wildlife

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on climate change impacts for individual species and ecosystems. Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts. At present, most predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include increased stress on fisheries that are sensitive to a warming aquatic habitat, potentially improved habitat for quagga mussels bearing implications for maintenance of hydraulic structures, and increased risk of watershed vegetation disturbances due to increased fire potential. Other warming-related impacts include poleward shifts in the geographic range of various species, impacts on the arrival and departure of migratory species, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate change also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems and exacerbate invasive species problems.

### 3.3.5 Surface Water Quality

Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources, as mentioned above, and includes discussion on impacts for surface water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Whether water quality conditions improve or deteriorate under climate change depends on several variables including water temperature, flow, runoff rate and timing, and the physical characteristics of the watershed. Climate change has the

potential to alter all of these variables. Climate change impacts on surface water ecosystems very likely will affect their capacity to remove pollutants and improve water quality; however, the timing, magnitude, and consequences of these impacts are not well understood (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

### 3.3.6 Groundwater

Chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 discusses how land resources may be affected by climate change (Ryan et al. 2008) and indicates that depletions to natural groundwater recharge are sensitive to climate warming. Additionally, reduced mountain snowpack, earlier snowmelt, and reductions in spring and summer streamflow volumes originating from snowmelt likely would affect surface water supplies and could trigger heavier reliance on groundwater resources. However, warmer wetter winters could increase the amount of water available for groundwater recharge. Projected groundwater recharge in the San Pedro River basin (southern Arizona and northern Mexico) declined even for the wettest downscaled GCM projection, due to a substantial increase in evapotranspiration (Serrat-Capdevila et al. 2007). Moreover, they found feedbacks between increasing ET leading to declining recharge, which increases depth to water table, which then decreases riparian area vegetation health; declining riparian vegetation health can lead to a cascade of ecosystem impacts related to stream temperatures and species habitat. It has not been demonstrated how much of this additional winter runoff can be captured and utilized without using artificial recharge schemes.

# 3.3.7 Water Demand

Potential climate change-related impacts to agricultural, municipal and industrial, and instream water demands are difficult to predict and existing information on the subject is limited. It is widely accepted in the literature that water demand impacts will occur due to increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and changes in precipitation, winds, humidity, and atmospheric aerosol and ozone levels. Further, these impacts must be considered in combination with socioeconomic impacts including future changes in infrastructure, land use, technology, and human behavior.

Agricultural water demands include those associated with crop irrigation and livestock consumption. The predominant water demand in the Western United States is for agricultural irrigation. Approximately 85% of the consumptive use water demand in the 17 Western States is for irrigation (Frederick 1997). Given that the atmosphere's moisture holding capacity increases when air temperature increases, it seems intuitive that plant water consumption and surface water evaporation associated with agricultural demands will increase in a warming climate. However, it's understood that crop water needs respond to not only temperature and precipitation conditions but also atmospheric  $CO_2$ , ozone, and potential evapotranspiration (which, in turn, is affected by solar radiation,

humidity, and wind speed). Uncertainties in projecting climate change impacts on these connditions lead to uncertainties in future irrigation demands.

On the matter of joint changes in climate and  $CO_2$ , Baldocchi and Wong (2006) and Bloom (2010) report that, to varying degrees, plants respond to increased  $CO_2$ by closing their stomata. This stomal closure results in a net reduction in plant transpiration and water consumption. Additionally, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) found that increasing  $CO_2$  concentrations tend to, at least initially, increase plant growth and vigor. Larger plants growing more vigorously should use more water. Although increased temperatures may result in increased growth, when temperatures exceed the optimal range for various plant types, growth is diminished. As an example, increased winter temperatures due to climate warming in California's Central Valley may eventually preclude growing certain fruit crops which require a certain amount of chilling hours prior to flowering (Baldocchi and Wong 2006).

On evaporation potential, several studies report historical trends of decreasing pan evaporation during the past 50 years (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This latter result may be related to changes in other factors affecting surface energy balance (e.g., net radiation and wind speed) that are not congruous with the notion of increasing air temperatures. Historical potential evapotranspiration data typically are limited and inconsistent; however, Hidalgo et al. (2005) report no appreciable trends in their review of CIMIS data for 1990–2002. Consequently, there is uncertainty about how physically driven agricultural water demands may change under climate change.

Besides potential direct influences from changes in climate, CO<sub>2</sub>, and potential evapotranspiration, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons become longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Gunther et al. (2006) predict significant increases in 21<sup>st</sup> century irrigation demands for North America based on combined GCM and socioeconomic scenarios. Some studies predict that agricultural lands requiring irrigation may increase by up to 40% due to climate change, and livestock water demands will increase significantly (Pacific Institute, 2009).

Bark et al. (2009) discuss 21<sup>st</sup> century climate change impacts on water demands for Arizona skiing industry snowmaking that are based on downscaled ECHAM5 and HadCM3 projections.

Although changes in water demands associated with natural processes may be difficult to quantify, municipal and industrial consumption increases associated with population growth will occur. Domestic water use is not very sensitive to changes in temperature and precipitation (Frederick 1997), and water conservation measures may offset potential increases in per capita water usage. Although the use of new water efficient appliances and fixtures will increase through institutional measures and mandates, socioeconomic factors will impact water conservation.

Nonbeneficial consumptive uses associated with agricultural demands (reservoir evaporation and conveyance and on-arm application losses) are significant. Reservoir evaporation may increase if warming temperatures override other factors, but other agricultural losses may be reduced in the future with more efficient application methods and conveyance improvements.

Water demands for industrial cooling and thermoelectric power production likely will increase with warmer air and water temperatures (Frederick 1997). Although demands may not increase, certain industries are extremely reliant on reliable water supplies (semiconductor, beverage, pharmaceutical, etc.).

Potential instream water demand increases resulting from climate change could include ecosystem demands, hydropower and thermoelectric power production, industrial cooling, and navigation and recreational uses. Water demands for endangered species and other fish and wildlife could increase with ecosystem impacts due to warmer air and water temperatures and resulting hydrologic impacts (i.e., runoff timing). Diversions and consumptive use by thermoelectric power production and industrial cooling facilities are predicted to increase since these processes will function less efficiently with warmer air and water temperatures. The timing of these diversions and those for hydropower production could also be a factor in ecosystem demands and navigation and recreational water uses.

As climate change might affect water supplies and reservoir operations, the resultant effects on water allocations from year to year could trigger changes in water use (e.g., crop types, cropping dates, environmental flow targets, transfers among different uses, hydropower production, and recreation). Such climate-related changes in water use would interact with market influences on agribusiness and energy management, demographic and land use changes, and other nonclimate factors. Demands for field-scale irrigation water supplies might increase further to the extent that existing demands partially are satisfied by precipitation and that precipitation is projected to decrease gradually over the LC Region.

# 3.4 Upper Colorado Region

### 3.4.1 Runoff and Surface Water Supplies

Based on recent scenario studies of climate change impacts, it appears that *warming without precipitation change* would trigger a seasonal shift toward increased runoff during winter and decreased runoff during summer in basins historically having a significant accumulation of seasonal snowpack. Based on the latest generation of climate projections (CMIP3), it appears plausible that, in the northern portions of the UC Region, mean-annual precipitation could either increase or decrease. In the southern portions of the UC Region, there is more projection consensus that mean-annual precipitation would gradually decrease over time. Regardless, it is likely that snowpack-based predictions of streamflow volume and peaks will become more challenging under flow scenarios that have more winter runoff and smaller spring snowpack. Other potential impacts include increased reservoir and stream evaporation, streamflow timing-related water rights impacts, and water resource effects from ecosystem changes (e.g., pine beetle infestation).

This seasonal timing shift in runoff could present challenges in managing increasing winter streamflow and decreasing late spring and early summer streamflow. Based on current reservoir operations constraints (e.g., capacity, flood control rules), it appears that such runoff shifts would lead to reduced water supplies under current system and operating conditions. This follows the understanding that storage opportunities during winter runoff season currently are limited by flood control considerations at many reservoirs and that increased winter runoff under climate change won't necessarily translate into increased storage of water leading into the spring season. Conversely, storage capture of snowmelt runoff traditionally has occurred during the late spring and early summer seasons. Reductions in runoff during this season likely would translate into reductions in storage capture and, likewise, reductions in water supply for warm season delivery. It should be noted that these impacts may geographically vary within the UC Region. The high elevation headwaters of the UC Region are projected to see more modest declines in snowpack than lower-elevation mountain ranges elsewhere in the West (Christensen and Lettenmaier 2007) and increased attention is being paid to the role of dust-on-snow in the snowmelt process and in streamflow timing and annual runoff volume (Painter et al. 2010).

# 3.4.2 Flood Control

In Western United States reservoir systems with flood control objectives in currently snowmelt-dominated basins, warming without precipitation change could result in increased winter runoff volumes to manage during flood control operations. This could motivate adjustments to flood control strategies (e.g., Brekke et al. 2009b and Lee et al. 2009). For example, given existing reservoir capacities and current flood control rules (e.g., winter draft period, spring refill date), a pattern of more winter runoff might suggest an increased flooding risk. If current flood protection values are to be preserved, it could become necessary to modify infrastructure to preserve flood protection performance and/or make flood control rule adjustments as climate evolves (e.g., deeper winter draft requirements) that may further affect dry season water supplies (e.g., spring refill beginning with less winter carryover storage).

#### 3.4.3 Hydropower

Hydroelectric generation is highly sensitive to climate change effects on precipitation and river discharge. SAP 4.5 (Bull et al. 2007) indicates that hydropower operations also are affected indirectly when climate change impacts air temperatures, humidity, or wind patterns. Hydropower demand generally trends with temperature (e.g., heating demand during cold days, air conditioning demand during warm days). Hydropower generation is generally a function of reservoir storage. Climate changes that result in decreased reservoir inflow or disrupt traditional timing of inflows could adversely impact hydropower generation. Alternatively, increases in average flows would increase hydropower production.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.5 focuses on how energy use may respond to climate change (Scott et al. 2007) and suggests that, in terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer. Net effects of on total energy demand are projected to be modest ( $\pm$ 5% per 1 °C). Such demand changes might motivate adjustments to reservoir operations for hydropower objectives (e.g., less winter production, more summer production), which may not be consistent with runoff impacts and/or potential flood control adjustments (e.g., more winter release, less summer release).

In the UC Region, major fluctuations in power generation vary seasonally to annually, depending on the reservoir system being considered. Thus, for some UC systems, changes in seasonal runoff patterns might be more significant; while for others, changes in annual runoff might be more significant. In terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer.

# 3.4.4 Fisheries and Wildlife

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on climate change impacts for individual species and ecosystems. Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts. At present, most predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include increased stress on fisheries that are sensitive to a warming aquatic habitat, potentially improved habitat for quagga mussels bearing implications for maintenance of hydraulic

structures, and increased risk of watershed vegetation disturbances due to increased fire potential. Other warming-related impacts include poleward shifts in the geographic range of various species, impacts on the arrival and departure of migratory species, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems and exacerbate invasive species problems.

#### 3.4.5 Water Quality

Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources, as mentioned above, and includes discussion on impacts for surface water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Whether water quality conditions improve or deteriorate under climate change depends on several variables including water temperature, flow, runoff rate and timing, and the physical characteristics of the watershed. Climate change has the potential to alter all of these variables. Climate change impacts on surface water ecosystems very likely will affect their capacity to remove pollutants and improve water quality; however, the timing, magnitude, and consequences of these impacts are not well understood (Lettenmaier et al. 2008).

#### 3.4.6 Groundwater

Chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 discusses how land resources may be affected by climate change (Ryan et al. 2008) and indicates that depletions to natural groundwater recharge are sensitive to climate warming. Additionally, reduced mountain snowpack, earlier snowmelt, and reductions in spring and summer streamflow volumes originating from snowmelt likely would affect surface water supplies and could trigger heavier reliance on groundwater resources. However, warmer wetter winters could increase the amount of water available for groundwater recharge. It has not been demonstrated how much of this additional winter runoff can be captured and utilized without using artificial recharge schemes.

#### 3.4.7 Water Demand

Potential climate change-related impacts to agricultural, municipal and industrial, and instream water demands are difficult to predict and existing information on the subject is limited. It is widely accepted in the literature that water demand impacts will occur due to increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and changes in precipitation, winds, humidity, and atmospheric aerosol and ozone levels. Further, these impacts must be considered in combination with socioeconomic impacts including future changes in infrastructure, land use, technology and human behavior.

Agricultural water demands include those associated with crop irrigation and livestock consumption. The predominant water demand in the Western United States is for agricultural irrigation. Approximately 85% of the consumptive use water demand in the 17 Western States is for irrigation (Frederick 1997). Given

that the atmosphere's moisture holding capacity increases when air temperature increases, it seems intuitive that plant water consumption and surface water evaporation associated with agricultural demands will increase in a warming climate. However, it's understood that crop water needs respond to not only temperature and precipitation conditions but also atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, ozone, and potential evapotranspiration (which, in turn, is affected by solar radiation, humidity, and wind speed). Uncertainties in projecting climate change impacts on these connditions lead to uncertainties in future irrigation demands.

On the matter of joint changes in climate and  $CO_2$ , Baldocchi and Wong (2006) and Bloom (2010) report that, to varying degrees, plants respond to increased  $CO_2$ by closing their stomata. This stomal closure results in a net reduction in plant transpiration and water consumption. Additionally, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) found that increasing  $CO_2$  concentrations tend to, at least initially, increase plant growth and vigor. Larger plants growing more vigorously should use more water. Although increased temperatures may result in increased growth, when temperatures exceed the optimal range for various plant types, growth is diminished. As an example, increased winter temperatures due to climate warming in California's Central Valley may eventually preclude growing certain fruit crops which require a certain amount of chilling hours prior to flowering (Baldocchi and Wong 2006).

On evaporation potential, several studies report historical trends of decreasing pan evaporation during the past 50 years (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This latter result may be related to changes in other factors affecting surface energy balance (e.g., net radiation and wind speed) that are not congruous with the notion of increasing air temperatures. Historical potential evapotranspiration data typically are limited and inconsistent; however, Hidalgo et al. (2005) report no appreciable trends in their review of CIMIS data for 1990–2002. Consequently, there is uncertainty about how physically driven agricultural water demands may change under climate change.

Besides potential direct influences from changes in climate, CO<sub>2</sub>, and potential evapotranspiration, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons become longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Gunther et al. (2006) predict significant increases in 21<sup>st</sup> century irrigation demands for North America based on combined GCM and socioeconomic scenarios. Some studies predict that agricultural lands requiring irrigation may increase

by up to 40% due to climate change, and livestock water demands will increase significantly (Pacific Institute 2009).

Although changes in water demands associated with natural processes may be difficult to quantify, municipal and industrial consumption increases associated with population growth will occur. Domestic water use is not very sensitive to changes in temperature and precipitation (Frederick 1997), and water conservation measures may offset potential increases in per capita water usage. Although the use of new water efficient appliances and fixtures will increase through institutional measures and mandates, socioeconomic factors will impact water conservation.

Nonbeneficial consumptive uses associated with agricultural demands (reservoir evaporation and conveyance and onfarm application losses) are significant. Reservoir evaporation may increase if warming temperatures override other factors, but other agricultural losses may be reduced in the future with more efficient application methods and conveyance improvements.

Water demands for industrial cooling and thermoelectric power production likely will increase with warmer air and water temperatures (Frederick 1997). Although demands may not increase, certain industries are extremely reliant on reliable water supplies (semiconductor, beverage, pharmaceutical, etc.).

Potential instream water demand increases resulting from climate change could include ecosystem demands, hydropower and thermoelectric power production, industrial cooling, and navigation and recreational uses. Water demands for endangered species and other fish and wildlife could increase with ecosystem impacts due to warmer air and water temperatures and resulting hydrologic impacts (i.e., runoff timing). Diversions and consumptive use by thermoelectric power production and industrial cooling facilities are predicted to increase since these processes will function less efficiently with warmer air and water temperatures. The timing of these diversions and those for hydropower production could also be a factor in ecosystem demands and navigation and recreational water uses.

As climate change might affect water supplies and reservoir operations, the resultant effects on water allocations from year to year could trigger changes in water use (e.g., crop types, cropping dates, environmental flow targets, transfers among different uses, hydropower production, and recreation). Such climate-related changes in water use would interact with market influences on agribusiness and energy management, demographic and land use changes, and other nonclimate factors.

# 3.5 Great Plains Region

## 3.5.1 Runoff and Surface Water Supplies

Based on recent scenario studies of climate change impacts, it appears that *warming without precipitation change* would trigger a seasonal shift toward increased runoff during winter in the western and northern Great Plains and decreased runoff during summer in all areas of the Great Plains. It appears plausible that precipitation increase could occur with regional warming and offset a significant portion of summer runoff decreases associated with warming alone. The resultant affect could be a minor change in dry season water supply (albeit, with significantly increased winter runoff to manage).

This seasonal timing shift in runoff could present challenges in managing increasing winter streamflow and decreasing late spring and early summer streamflow. Based on current reservoir operations constraints (e.g., capacity, flood control rules), it appears that such runoff shifts would lead to reduced water supplies under current system and operating conditions. This follows the understanding that storage opportunities during winter runoff season are currently limited by flood control considerations at many reservoirs, and that increased winter runoff under climate change won't necessarily translate into increased storage of water leading into the spring season. Conversely, storage capture of snowmelt runoff has traditionally occurred during the late spring and early summer seasons. Reductions in runoff during this season would likely translate into reductions in storage capture and likewise reductions in water supply for warm season delivery.

# 3.5.2 Flood Control

In Western United States reservoir systems with flood control objectives in currently snowmelt-dominated basins, warming without precipitation change could result in increased winter runoff volumes to manage during flood control operations. This could motivate adjustments to flood control strategies (e.g., Brekke et al. 2009b and Lee et al. 2009). For example, given existing reservoir capacities and current flood control rules (e.g., winter draft period, spring refill date), a pattern of more winter runoff might suggest an increased flooding risk. If current flood control rule adjustments as climate evolves (e.g., deeper winter draft requirements) that may further affect dry season water supplies (e.g., spring refill beginning with less winter carryover storage).

# 3.5.3 Hydropower

Hydroelectric generation is highly sensitive to climate change effects on precipitation and river discharge. SAP 4.5 (Bull et al. 2007) indicates that hydropower operations also are affected indirectly when climate change impacts

air temperatures, humidity, or wind patterns. Hydropower demand generally trends with temperature (e.g., heating demand during cold days, air conditioning demand during warm days). Hydropower generation is generally a function of reservoir storage. Climate changes that result in decreased reservoir inflow or disrupt traditional timing of inflows could adversely impact hydropower generation. Alternatively, increases in average flows would increase hydropower production.

Chapter 2 of SAP 4.5 focuses on how energy use may respond to climate change (Scott et al. 2007) and suggests that, in terms of demand, warming could lead to decreased energy demand during winter and increased demand during summer. Net effects of on total energy demand are projected to be modest ( $\pm$ 5% per 1 °C). Such demand changes might motivate adjustments to reservoir operations for hydropower objectives (e.g., less winter production, more summer production), which may not be consistent with runoff impacts and/or potential flood control adjustments (e.g., more winter release, less summer release).

#### 3.5.4 Fisheries and Wildlife

Chapter 5 of SAP 4.3 discusses how biodiversity may be affected by climate change (Janetos et al. 2008) and indicates that many studies have been published on climate change impacts for individual species and ecosystems. Projected climate changes are likely to have an array of interrelated and cascading ecosystem impacts. At present, most predicted impacts are primarily associated with projected increases in air and water temperatures and include increased stress on fisheries that are sensitive to a warming aquatic habitat, potentially improved habitat for quagga mussels bearing implications for maintenance of hydraulic structures, and increased risk of watershed vegegation disturbances due to increased fire potential. Other warming-related impacts include poleward shifts in the geographic range of various species, impacts on the arrival and departure of migratory species, amphibian population declines, and effects on pests and pathogens in ecosystems. Climate changes also can trigger synergistic effects in ecosystems and exacerbate invasive species problems.

### 3.5.5 Surface Water Quality

Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3 focuses on water resources, as mentioned above and includes discussion on impacts for surface water quality (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Whether water quality conditions improve or deteriorate under climate change depends on several variables, including water temperature, flow, runoff rate and timing, and the physical characteristics of the watershed. Climate change has the potential to alter all of these variables. Climate change impacts on surface water ecosystems very likely will affect their capacity to remove pollutants and improve water quality; however, the timing, magnitude, and consequences of these impacts are not well understood (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). Increased summer air temperatures could increase dry season aquatic

temperatures and affect fisheries habitat. Warmer water temperatures also could exacerbate invasive mussel species (zebra and quagga) problems.

#### 3.5.6 Groundwater

Chapter 3 of SAP 4.3 discusses how land resources may be affected by climate change (Ryan et al. 2008) and indicates that depletions to natural groundwater recharge are sensitive to climate warming. Additionally, reduced mountain snowpack, earlier snowmelt, and reductions in spring and summer streamflow volumes originating from snowmelt likely would affect surface water supplies and could trigger heavier reliance on groundwater resources. In addition, if a larger percentage of annual precipitation is in the form of intense rain events with high runoff, infiltration and aquifer recharge could be reduced. However, warmer wetter winters could increase the amount of water available for groundwater recharge. It has not been demonstrated how much of this additional winter runoff can be captured and utilized without using artificial recharge schemes.

### 3.5.7 Water Demand

Potential climate change-related impacts to agricultural, municipal and industrial, and instream water demands are difficult to predict and existing information on the subject is limited. It is widely accepted in the literature that water demand impacts will occur due to increased air temperatures and atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and changes in precipitation, winds, humidity, and atmospheric aerosol and ozone levels. Further, these impacts must be considered in combination with socioeconomic impacts including future changes in infrastructure, land use, technology, and human behavior.

Agricultural water demands include those associated with crop irrigation and livestock consumption. The predominant water demand in the Western United States is for agricultural irrigation. Approximately 85% of the consumptive use water demand in the 17 Western States is for irrigation (Frederick 1997). Given that the atmosphere's moisture-holding capacity increases when air temperature increases, it seems intuitive that plant water consumption and surface water evaporation associated with agricultural demands will increase in a warming climate. However, it's understood that crop water needs respond to not only temperature and precipitation conditions but also atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, ozone, and potential evapotranspiration (which is, in turn, affected by solar radiation, humidity, and wind speed). Uncertainties in projecting climate change impacts on these connditions lead to uncertainties in future irrigation demands.

On the matter of joint changes in climate and  $CO_2$ , Baldocchi and Wong (2006) and Bloom (2010) report that, to varying degrees, plants respond to increased  $CO_2$ by closing their stomata. This stomal closure results in a net reduction in plant transpiration and water consumption. Additionally, Baldocchi and Wong (2006) found that increasing CO2 concentrations tend to, at least initially, increase plant growth and vigor. Larger plants growing more vigorously should use more water. Although increased temperatures may result in increased growth, when temperatures exceed the optimal range for various plant types, growth is diminished. As an example, increased winter temperatures due to climate warming in California's Central Valley may eventually preclude growing certain fruit crops that require a certain amount of chilling hours prior to flowering (Baldocchi and Wong 2006).

On evaporation potential, several studies report historical trends of decreasing pan evaporation during the past 50 years (Lettenmaier et al. 2008). This latter result may be related to changes in other factors affecting surface energy balance (e.g., net radiation and wind speed) that are not congruous with the notion of increasing air temperatures. Historical potential evapotranspiration data typically are limited and inconsistent; however, Hidalgo et al. (2005) report no appreciable trends in their review of CIMIS data for 1990–2002. Consequently, there is uncertainty about how physically driven agricultural water demands may be altered under climate change.

Besides potential direct influences from changes in climate, CO<sub>2</sub>, and potential evapotranspiration, agricultural water demand could decrease due to crop failures caused by pests and disease exacerbated by climate change. On the other hand, agricultural water demand could increase if growing seasons become longer and assuming that farming practices could adapt to this opportunity by planting more crop cycles per growing season. This possibility is based on studies suggesting that the average North American growing season length increased by about 1 week during the 20<sup>th</sup> century; and it is projected that, by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, it will be more than 2 weeks longer than typical of the late 20<sup>th</sup> century (Gutowski et al. 2008). Gunther et al. (2006) predict significant increases in 21<sup>st</sup> century irrigation demands for North America based on combined GCM and socioeconomic scenarios. Some studies predict that agricultural lands requiring irrigation may increase by up to 40% due to climate change, and livestock water demands will increase significantly (Pacific Institute 2009).

Although changes in water demands associated with natural processes may be difficult to quantify, municipal and industrial consumption increases associated with population growth will occur. Domestic water use is not very sensitive to changes in temperature and precipitation (Frederick 1997), and water conservation measures may offset potential increases in per capita water usage. Although the use of new water-efficient appliances and fixtures will increase through institutional measures and mandates, socioeconomic factors will impact water conservation.

Nonbeneficial consumptive uses associated with agricultural demands (reservoir evaporation and conveyance and onfarm application losses) are significant. Reservoir evaporation may increase if warming temperatures override other factors, but other agricultural losses may be reduced in the future with more efficient application methods and conveyance improvements.

Water demands for industrial cooling and thermoelectric power production likely will increase with warmer air and water temperatures (Frederick 1997). Although demands may not increase, certain industries are extremely reliant on reliable water supplies (semiconductor, beverage, pharmaceutical, etc.).

Potential instream water demand increases resulting from climate change could include ecosystem demands, hydropower and thermoelectric power production, industrial cooling, and navigation and recreational uses. Water demands for endangered species and other fish and wildlife could increase with ecosystem impacts due to warmer air and water temperatures and resulting hydrologic impacts (i.e., runoff timing). Diversions and consumptive use by thermoelectric power production and industrial cooling facilities are predicted to increase since these processes will function less efficiently with warmer air and water temperatures. The timing of these diversions and those for hydropower production could also be a factor in ecosystem demands and navigation and recreational water uses.

As climate change might affect water supplies and reservoir operations, the resultant effects on water allocations from year to year could trigger changes in water use (e.g., crop types, cropping dates, environmental flow targets, transfers among different uses, hydropower production, and recreation). Such climate-related changes in water use would interact with market influences on agribusiness and energy management, demographic and land use changes, and other nonclimate factors.

# 4.0 Graphical Resources

Given the evidence of recent climate trends and projected future climate conditions, there may be motivation to relate planning assumptions to projections of future temperature and precipitation. Appendix B provides graphical resources that summarize an assessment of current climate projections for decadal moving changes in 30-year mean precipitation and temperature relative to a "simulated" 1950–1979 base period. Such an assessment permits evaluating how climate is projected to evolve through time, in the context of how an ensemble of GCMs simulated both the past (1950–1999) and the "future" (projected 2000–2099). This section provides background on the data portrayed in the graphical resources and interpretation of assessment results.

# 4.1 Background on Available Downscaled Climate Projections

Survey of available and *current* climate projections started with the global dataset developed through the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP) phase 3 (CMIP3, served at http://www-pcmdi.llnl.gov/ipcc/about\_ipcc.php). The WCRP CMIP3 efforts were fundamental to the completion of the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (IPCC 2007). The CMIP3 dataset features simulation of future climates using multiple global climate models, considering multiple future pathways for GHG emissions, and simulating climate response to these GHG scenarios starting from different pre-industrial estimates of climate "state" (i.e., initial conditions, giving rise to different simulation "runs" using a given climate model for a given GHG scenario).

Current global climate models simulate climate at coarse spatial resolutions (200– 500 kilometers); therefore, they are unable to resolve climate variations at much finer resolutions. The effect of fine-scale complex orography on precipitation and temperature cannot be represented adequately in coarse-resolution global climate models in regions with complex topography such as the Western United States; there are strong gradients in temperature and associated hydrologic structure. To relate these global climate projections to conditions, a regionalization process was necessary, involving the translation of spatially coarse output from the global climate models to basin-scale information (i.e., "downscaling"). Many CMIP3 projections have been downscaled for the contiguous United States using a statistical technique (Wood et al. 2002) and have been made available at a publicaccess Web site (i.e., Archive),<sup>35</sup> which discusses rationale for the downscaling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> "Statistically Downscaled WCRP CMIP3 Climate Projections," served at: http://gdo-dcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip3\_projections/.

technique used, its limitations,<sup>36</sup> and strengths and weaknesses relative to other techniques. The downscaling technique underlying the Archive development features the subjective choice to compensate for climate model biases (bias-correction).<sup>37</sup> Philosophically, it might be expected that a climate model's simulation of the past should reflect chosen statistical aspects of the observed past. When this is not the case, a climate model "bias" is deemed to exist (i.e., tendency to simulate climates that are too wet or dry and/or too warm or cool). The regionalization procedure can be scoped to address the issue of climate model *bias*. Whether and how this bias is accounted for in using climate projection information is a matter of subjective choice. In the archive mentioned, each climate model's full range of climatology is mapped to observed climatology of 1950–1999, on a month-by-month and location-by-location basis. Thus, each climate projection is uniquely bias-corrected relative to the climate model used to generate the projection.

The Archive contains 112 bias-corrected and spatially downscaled CMIP3 projections produced collectively by 16 CMIP3 models. Model inclusion in this archive was based on a criterion, applied in summer 2007, that each model must have simulated three different GHG scenario pathways at least once (where multiple simulations reflect the simulations starting from different initial condition estimates of the climate system [i.e., "runs" reflecting different initializations]). Each projection dataset in the Archive includes monthly mean temperature and precipitation rate for 1950–2099 and at a spatial resolution of 1/8° (approximately [~]12 kilometers or ~7.5 miles) over the contiguous United States.

# 4.2 About the Map Summaries of Projected Regional Climate Change

Appendix B provides maps that illustrate climate change as it is projected to evolve in each Reclamation region through the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Each map shows change in period-mean annual temperature or precipitation. Maps vary by future period (indicated in map title), ranging from 1960–1989 to 2070–2099. These changes in period-mean climate always are assessed relative to the "simulated historical" reference period of 1950–1979. Note that the historical data in these maps are not "observed" historical climate data. They are simulated data reflecting the Archive's ensemble of "simulated historical" conditions, collectively generated by the 16 CMIP3 models listed above. In each historical simulation, the given GCM was forced by estimated time series atmospheric condition (1900–1999) and starting from an estimated initial climate condition in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See: http://gdo-dcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip3\_projections/#Limitations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See: http://gdo-dcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip3\_projections/#About, subtab "Methodology."

year 1900 (sometimes from multiple initial conditions, leading to multiple historical "runs").<sup>38</sup> As a result, the Archive contains a set of "historical climates" that have been bias-corrected to be statistically consistent with 50-year climatology (1950–1999) but have not been constrained to reproduce observed frequency characteristics (e.g., drought spells and timing of occurrence). Thus, when these "simulated historical" climates are sampled for 30-year period means, the ensemble produces a range of period mean possibilities.

Change values are mapped uniquely for each downscaled location in the Archive. At any location, the change indicated is the median change surveyed among the 112 projections.<sup>39</sup> It is relevant to focus on the median change given that the projections do not all start from the same climate system state and because natural multidecadal climate variability can affect period-specific climate statistics like 30-year means.

# 4.3 Interpreting the Map Summaries for Each Region

It is recommended that the maps be interpreted as follows:

- All of the projections offer a plausible portrayal of how temperature and precipitation might have evolved historically and could evolve in the future (i.e., sequencing uncertainty).
- At any projection time-stage, we can focus on the middle condition among all of the projections' conditions to get a sense about mean climate state in the context of this sequencing uncertainty (i.e., multiprojection median).
- If we apply this view to the condition "change in period-mean climate" and track the middle change through time, we can evaluate the information for presence or absence of climate change trends.

The reader should bear in mind the following limitations when interpreting these map summaries for climate change trends:

The maps data are based on a multimodel ensemble of projections. The contributing climate models differ in their physical formulations. Because of this, their model-specific sets of projections differ in regional climate change signal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> http://www-pcmdi.llnl.gov/ipcc/time\_correspondence\_summary.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> The 112 climate projections included in this archive were considered to be equally plausible projections of the future given available literature suggesting difficulty in culling projections based on model skill (Reichler et al. 2008; Brekke et al. 2008; Gleckler et al. 2008) and given studies showing that regional climate projection uncertainty may not be significantly reduced even if projection sets are restricted to only include those from skill-based "better models" (Brekke et al. 2008).

Further, the model representation in the multimodel ensemble of projections is not equal, with some models contributing only three projections (one run for each of the three GHG scenario pathways mentioned above) while others contribute more (i.e., multiple runs for each GHG scenario pathway).

The maps invite focus on climate change trends and deter attention from the reality that there are uncertainties about such projected trends. Uncertainties arise from the future scenarios of GHG emissions forcing future climate (which becomes a more prominent issue beyond 2050 [IPCC 2007]), climate model formulation (as described above), sequencing issues arising from initial condition uncertainties, and techniques for performing bias-correction on the climate model outputs as well as spatial downscaling. For planning purposes, it seems appropriate to consider a range of future climate changes, perhaps bracketing the median changes shown in these maps. Identifying an appropriate range of future climate changes remains a challenge. A simple approach has been used in some studies (e.g., Reclamation 2007), which involves computing period-changes for each projection, assessing the spread of period-changes among the projections, and selecting a set of projections that have period-changes that bracket the spread of changes. However, it is cautioned that interpreting these period-changes as "climate change only" ignores the matter of multidecadal variability in the projections, as discussed above.

The mapped data are based on bias-corrected and spatially disaggregated climate projections. For this particular downscaling technique, the temperature change maps are identical to the spatially interpolated GCM temperature changes. The percentage precipitation changes in these maps are similar, but not identical, to corresponding changes at the GCM grid scale.

Using this viewpoint, the PN maps could be interpreted as follows:

- For *mean-annual precipitation*, weak tendency toward wetter conditions appear to develop by the early 21<sup>st</sup> century for northern portions of the region (i.e., Washington, northern Idaho, northern Oregon, and northwestern Montana). By late 21<sup>st</sup> century, this tendency becomes more pronounced and includes most of the regions southern portions.
- For *mean-annual temperature*, the projections suggest warming throughout the region, through the 21<sup>st</sup> century, with warming over the coastal portions of this region being slightly less than warming over interior portions.

The MP maps could be interpreted as follows:

• For *mean-annual precipitation*, there appears to be tendency toward drier conditions developing over southern portions of the region (i.e., southern Central Valley, southern Nevada). For the northern portions of the region,
there appears to be a tendency toward drier conditions in the early  $21^{st}$  century transitioning to a weak tendency toward wetter conditions by late  $21^{st}$  century.

• For *mean-annual temperature*, the projections suggest warming throughout the region, through the 21<sup>st</sup> century, with warming over the coastal portions of this region being slightly less than warming over interior portions.

The LC maps could be interpreted as follows:

- For *mean-annual precipitation*, the projections suggest an evolving tendency towards drier conditions for most of the region through the  $21^{st}$  century.
- For *mean-annual temperature*, the projections suggest warming throughout the region, through the 21<sup>st</sup> century, with warming over the coastal portions of this region being slightly less than warming over interior portions.

The UC maps could be interpreted as follows:

- For *mean-annual precipitation*, for much of the central and southern portions of the region (i.e., New Mexico, northeastern Arizona, southwestern Colorado, and southern Utah), the projections suggest an evolving tendency towards drier condition through the 21<sup>st</sup> century. For the northern portions of region (northwestern Colorado, northern Utah, southwestern Wyoming), the projections suggest wetter conditions.
- For *mean-annual temperature*, the projections suggest mostly uniform amounts of warming throughout the region through the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

The GP maps could be interpreted as follows:

- In terms of *mean-annual precipitation*, the projected trends suggest that for much of the central and northern portions of the region (e.g., Missouri Basin, Kansas, northeastern Colorado, portions of Oklahoma and Texas), the projection ensemble suggests gradually wetter conditions through the 21<sup>st</sup> century. For the southern and southwestern fringe portions of the region, there appears to be a tendency for drier conditions through the 21<sup>st</sup> century (e.g., southeastern Colorado, central to western Texas).
- In terms of *mean-annual temperature*, the projected trends in warming are relatively uniform across the region through the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

## 5.0 References Cited

- Adams, H.D., M. Guardiola-Claramonte, G.A. Barron-Gafford, J. Camilo Villegas, D.D. Breshears, C.B. Zou, P.A. Troch, and T.E. Huxman. 2009. "Temperature sensitivity of drought-induced tree mortality portends increased regional die-off under global-changetype drought." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106(17):7063–66, doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0901438106.
- Allan, J.D, M. Palmer, N.L. Poff. 2005. "Climate Change and Freshwater Ecosystems." *Climate Change and Biodiversity*, edited by Thomas E. Lovejoy and Lee Hannah. Yale University Press.
- Allen, C.D. 2007. "Interactions across spatial scales among forest dieback, fire, and erosion in northern New Mexico landscapes." *Ecosystems*, 10(5), 797–808, doi:10.1007/s10021-007-9057-4.
- Allen, C.D., A.I. Macalady, H. Chenchouni, D. Bachelet, N. McDowell, M. Vennetier, T. Kitzberger, A. Rigling, D.D. Breshears, E.H. Hogg, P. Gonzalez, R. Fensham, Z. Zhang, J. Castro, N. Demidova, J-H Lim, G. Allard, S.W. Running, A. Semerci, and N. Cobb. 2010. "A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emrging climate change risks for forests." *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 660-684.
- Anderson, J., F. Chung, M. Anderson, L. Brekke, D. Easton, M. Ejeta,
  R. Peterson, and R. Snyder. 2008. "Progress on Incorporating Climate Change into Management of California's Water Resources." *Climatic Change*, Springer, Netherlands, Volume 89, Supplement 1, pp. 91–108. Published online December 22, 2007. ISSN: 0165-0009 (Print) 1573–1480 (Online) DOI: 10.1007/s10584-007-9353-1.
- Andreadis, K.M., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2006. "Trends in 20<sup>th</sup> century drought over the continental United States." *Geophysical Research Letters 33*, L10403, doi:10.1029/2006GL025711.
- Ansu, K., and C. McCarney. 2008. "Climate Change Bibliography". The Wildlife Professional. Fall 2008, Vol. 2, No. 3. http://joomla.wildlife.org/ ccbib/ccbib.pdf.
- Baldocchi, D., and S. Wong. 2006. An Assessment of the Impacts of Future CO<sub>2</sub> and Climate on California Agriculture. Prepared for California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2005-187-SF.

- Bark, R.H., B.G. Colby, and F. Dominguez. 2009. "Snow days? Snowmaking adaptation and the future of low latitude, high elevation skiing in Arizona, USA." *Climatic Change*. DOI 10.1007/s10584-009-9708-x.
- Barnett, T.P., and D.W. Pierce. 2009a. "Sustainable water deliveries from the Colorado River in a changing climate." Proc. *Ntl. Acad. Sci.*, 106(18): 7334–7338. Online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0812762106.
- Barnett, T.P., and D.W. Pierce. 2009. "When Will Lake Mead Go Dry?" *Water Resources Research*, 44, W03201, doi:10.1029/2007WR006704.
- Barnett, T.P., D.W. Pierce, H.G. Hidalgo, C. Bonfils, B.D. Santer, T. Das,
  G. Bala, A. Wood, T. Nazawa, A. Mirin, D. Cayan, and M. Dettinger.
  2008. "Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the Western United States." *Science*, 319(5866), 1080–1083, doi:10.1126/science.1152538.
- Barsugli, J., K. Nowak, B. Rajagopalan, J. Prairie, and B. Harding. 2009. Comment on "When Will Lake Mead Go Dry?" by T.P. Barnett and D.W. Pierce. *Water Resour. Res.*, 45, Art. No. W09601, issn: 0043-1397, ids 497LH, doi: 10.1029/2008WR007627.
- Bates, B.C., Z.W. Kundzewicz, S. Wu and J.P. Palutikof (eds.). 2008. Climate Change and Water. *Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva. 210 pp.
- Battin, J., M.W. Wiley, M.H. Ruckelshaus, R.N. Palmer, E. Korb, K.K. Bartz, and H. Imaki. 2007. "Projected impacts of climate change on salmon habitat restoration." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104(16): 6720–6725.
- Battles, J.J., T. Robards, A. Das, K. Saring, J.Keith Gilless, G. Biging and F. Schurr. 2008. "Climate change impacts on forest growth and tree mortality: a data-driven modeling study in the mixed-conifer forest of the Sierra Nevada, California." *Climatic Change*, 87, (Suppl. 1):S193–S213, doi:10.1007/s10584-007-9358-9.
- Beauchamp, V.B., and J.C. Stromberg. 2007. "Flow Regulation of the Verde River, Arizona Encourages Tamarix Recruitment but Has Minimal Effect on Populus and Salix Stand Density." *Wetlands*, 27(2): 381–389.
- Beckley, B.D., F.G. Lemoine, S.B. Luthcke, R.D. Ray, and N.P. Zelensky. 2007.
  "A reassessment of global and regional mean sea level trends from TOPEX and Jason-1 altimetry based on revised reference frame and orbits." *Geophysical Research Letters* 34:L14608.

- Beever, E.A., C. Ray, P.W. Mote and J.L. Wilkening. 2010. "Testing alternative models of climate-mediated extirpations." *Ecological Applications*, 20(1), 2010, pp. 164–178.
- Bell, J.L., L.C. Sloan, and M.A. Snyder. 2004. "Regional Changes in Extreme Climatic Events: A Future Climate Scenario." *Journal of Climate*, 17(1), 81–87.
- Bell, J.L., and L.C. Sloan. 2006. "CO<sub>2</sub> sensitivity of extreme climate events in the Western United States." *Earth Interactions*, 10. Available online at http://EarthInteractions.org.
- Beukema, S.J., D.C.E. Robinson, and L.A. Greig. 2007. Forests, Insects & Pathogens and Climate Change: Workshop Report. Prepared for The Western Wildlands Threat Assessment Center, Prineville, Oregon. 39 pp.
- Bindoff, N.L., J. Willebrand, V. Artale, A, Cazenave, J. Gregory, S. Gulev,
  K. Hanawa, C. Le Quéré, S. Levitus, Y. Nojiri, C.K. Shum, L.D. Talley,
  and A. Unnikrishnan. 2007. "Observations: Oceanic Climate Change
  and Sea Level." *Climate Change 2007*. The Physical Science Basis.
  Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the
  Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Solomon, S., D. Qin,
  M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and
  H.L. Miller [eds.]). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United
  Kingdom and New York, New York.
- Bloom, A.J. 2010. *Global Climate Change, Convergence of Disciplines*. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachussetts. 398 pp.
- Bonfils, C., D.W. Pierce, B.D. Santer, H. Hidalgo, G. Bala, T. Das, T. Barnett, C. Doutriaux, A.W. Wood, A, Mirin, and T. Nazawa. 2008. "Detection and attribution of temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 21(23): 6404–6424, doi:10.1175/ 2008JCLI2397.1.
- Bonfils, C., P.B. Duffy, B.D. Santer, T.M.L. Wigley, D.B. Lobell, T.J. Phillips, and C. Doutriaux. 2007. *Identification of External Influences on Temperatures in California*. Prepared for the California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2007-047.
- Brekke, L.D., Kiang, J.E., Olsen, J.R., Pulwarty, R.S., Raff, D.A., Turnipseed, D.P., Webb, R.S., and White, K.D. 2009a. *Climate Change and Water Resources Management—A Federal Perspective*. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1331. 65 p. Also available online at http://pubs.usgs.gov/ circ/1331/.

- Brekke, L.D., E.P. Maurer, J.D. Anderson, M.D. Dettinger, E.S. Townsley, A. Harrison, and T. Pruitt. 2009b. "Assessing Reservoir Operations Risk under Climate Change." *Water Resour. Res.*, doi:10.1029/ 2008WR006941, in press.
- Brekke, L.D., M.D. Dettinger, E.P. Maurer, and M. Anderson. 2008. "Significance of model credibility in estimating climate projection distributions for regional hydroclimatological risk assessments." *Climatic Change*, 89(3-4), 371–394.
- Breshears, D.D., N.S. Cobb, P.M. Rich, K.P. Price, C.D. Allen, R.G. Balice,
  W.H. Romme, J.H. Kastens, M.L. Floyd, J. Belnap, J J. Anderson,
  O.B. Myers, and C.W. Meyer. 2005. "Regional vegetation die-off in response to global-change-style drought." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102(42): 15144–8.
- Brown, T.J., B.L. Hall, and A.L. Westerling. 2004. "The impact of twenty-first century climate change on wildland fire danger in the Western United States: An applications perspective." *Climatic Change*, 62: 365–388.
- Bull, S.R., D.E. Bilello, J, Ekmann, M.J. Sale, and D.K. Schmalzer. 2007.
  "Effects of climate change on energy production and distribution in the United States." *Effects of Climate Change on Energy Production and Use in the United States*, a report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global change Research. Washington, DC.
- Burkett, V., and J. Kusler. 2000. Climate Change: "Potential Impacts and Interactions in Wetlands of the United States." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*. Vol. 36, No. 2, p.313–320, 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2000.tb04270.x.
- CA-DWR (California Department of Water Resources). 2009. "Using Future Climate Projections to Support Water Resources Decision Making in California," draft report from the California Energy Commission, CEC-500-2009-052-D.F. Chung et al., (eds.). 66 pp.
- CA DWR. 2006. Progress on Incorporating Climate Change into Planning and Management of California's Water Resources - Technical Memorandum Report.
- CALFED ISB. 2007. Projections of Sea Level Rise for the Delta. A memo from Mike Healey CALFED lead scientist to John Kirlin Executive Director of the Delta Blue Ribbon Task Force, September 6, 2007. Available online at http://deltavision.ca.gov/BlueRibbonTaskForce/Sept2007/Handouts/ Item\_9.pdf.

- Casola, J.H., L. Cuo, B. Livneh, D.P. Lettenmaier, M. Stoelinga, P.W. Mote, and J.M. Wallace. 2009. "Assessing the impacts of global warming on snowpack in the Washington Cascades." *Journal of Climate* 22:2758– 2772, doi: 10.1175/2008JCLI2612.1.
- Cayan, D.R., T. Das, D.W. Pierce, T.P. Barnett, M. Tyreea, and A. Gershunova. 2010. "Future dryness in the southwest United States and the hydrology of the early 21<sup>st</sup> century drought." *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, (in press).
- Cayan, D.R., P.D. Bromirski, K. Hayhoe, M. Tyree, M.D. Dettinger and R.E. Flick. 2008. "Climate change projections of sea level extremes along the California coast." *Climatic Change*. (2008) 87 (Suppl 1):S57–S73, DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9376-7
- Cayan, D.R., S.A. Kammerdiener, M.D. Dettinger, J.M. Caprio, and
  D.H. Peterson. 2001. "Changes in the Onset of Spring in the Western United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorology Society* 82(3): 399–415.
- CCSP (Climate Change Science Program). 2009. Thresholds of Climate Change in Ecosystems. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research (Fagre, D.B., C.W. Charles, C.D. Allen, C. Birkeland, F.S. Chapin III, P.M. Groffman, G.R. Guntenspergen, A.K. Knapp, A.D. McGuire, P.J. Mulholland, D.P.C. Peters, D.D. Roby, and George Sugihara [eds.]). U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia. 156 pp.
- CCSP. 2008. Weather and Climate Extremes in a Changing Climate. Regions of Focus: North America, Hawaii, Caribbean, and U.S.Pacific Islands. A Report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. (Thomas R. Karl, Gerald A. Meehl, Christopher D. Miller, Susan J. Hassol, Anne M. Waple, and William L. Murray [eds.]). Department of Commerce, NOAA's National Climatic Data Center, Washington, DC. 164 pp
- Changnon, S.A. 2001. "Thunderstorm rainfall in the conterminous United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorology Society*, 82, 1925–1940.
- Christensen, N.S., A.W. Wood, N. Voisin, D. Lettenmaier. 2004. "The Effects of Climate Change on the Hydrology and Water Resources of the Colorado River Basin." *Climatic Change* 62: 337–363.

- Christensen, N.S., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "A multimodel ensemble approach to assessment of climate change impacts on the hydrology and water resources of the Colorado River Basin." *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 11, 1417–1434. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/11/ 1417/2007/.
- Christidis, N., P.A. Stott, S. Brown, D.J. Karoly, and J. Caesar. 2007. "Human Contribution to the Lengthening of the Growing Season During 1950–99." *Journal of Climate* 20: 5441–5454.
- Church, J.A., and N.J. White. 2006. "A 20<sup>th</sup> century acceleration in global sealevel rise." *Geophysical Research Letters* 33: L01602.
- Clow, D.W. 2010. Changes in the Timing of Snowmelt and Streamflow in Clorado: A Response to Recent Warming. *Journal of Climate*, doi: 10.1175/2009JCLI2951.1.
- Congressional Budget Office (CBO). 2009. *Potential Impacts of Climate Change in the United States.* Prepared at the request of the Chairman of the Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resource. May 2009.
- Conly, F.M., and G. van der Kamp. 2001. "Monitoring the Hydrology of Canadian Prairie Wetlands to Detect the Effects of Climate Change and Land Use Changes." *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 67 (1, 2): 195–215.
- Cook, E.R., C.A. Woodhouse, C.M. Eakin, D.M. Meko, and D.W. Stahle. 2004. "Long-term aridity changes in the Western United States." *Science*, 306, 1015–1018.
- Cook, B., E. Cook, K. Anchukaitis, R. Seager, and R. Miller. 2010. "Forced and unforced variability of twentieth century North American droughts and pluvials." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI: 10.1007/s00382-010-0897-9.
- Covich, P. et al. 2003. "Natural ecosystems II: Aquatic Ecosystems." *Rocky Mountain/Great Basin Regional Climate Change Assessment*, report for the U. S. Global Change Research Program, F.H. Wagner (ed.), 145–184. Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Available from http://www.usgcrp.gov/usgcrp/nacc/background/regions.htm.
- Covich, A.P., S.C. Fritz, P.J. Lamb, R.D. Marzolf, W.J. Matthews, K.A. Poiani, E.E. Prepas, M.B. Richman, T.C. Winter. 1997. "Potential Effects of Climate Change on Aquatic Ecosystems of the Great Plains of North America." *Hydrological Processes* 11(8): 993–1021.

- Crimmins, T.M., M.A. Crimmins, and C.D. Bertelsen. 2009. "Flowering range changes across an elevation gradient in response to warming summer temperatures." *Global Change Biology* 15: 1141–1152, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01831.x.
- D'Antonio, J.R. 2006. *The Impact of Climate Change on New Mexico's Water Supply and Ability to Manage Water Resources*. July 2006 Report to the Governor.
- Dai, A. 2006. "Precipitation Characteristics in Eighteen Coupled Climate Models." *Journal of Climate*, 19: 4605–4630.
- Dai, A. 2010. "Drought under global warming: a review." WIREs Climate Change, DOI: 10.1002/wcc.81.
- Das, T., H.G. Hidalgo, M.D. Dettinger, D.R. Cayan, D.W. Pierce, C. Bonfils, T.P. Barnett, G. Bala and A. Mirin. 2009. "Structure and Detectability of Trends in Hydrological Measures over the Western United States." *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, Vol. 10, doi:10.1175/2009JHM1095.1.
- DeFalco L.A., G.C.J. Fernandez, and R.S. Nowak. 2007. "Variation in the establishment of a nonnative annual grass influences competitive interactions with Mojave Desert perennials." *Biological Invasions* 9: 293–307.
- Dettinger, M.D., and D.R. Cayan. 2003. "Interseasonal covariability of Sierra Nevada streamflow and San Francisco Bay salinity." *Journal of Hydrology*, 277(3/4), 164-181.
- Dettinger, M.D., and D.R. Cayan. 1995. "Large-scale Atmospheric Forcing of Recent Trends toward Early Snowmelt Runoff in California." *Journal of Climate*, Vol. 8(3).
- Dettinger, M.D., D.R. Cayan, M.K. Meyer, and A.E. Jeton. 2004. "Simulated Hydrologic Responses to Climate Variations and Change in the Merced, Carson, and American River Basins, Sierra Nevada, California, 1900– 2099." *Climatic Change* 62: 282–317.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., and M. Ashfaq. 2010. "Intensification of hot extremes in the United States." *Geophysical Research Letters* 37: L15701, doi:10.1029/ 2010GL043888.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., J.S. Pal, R. Trapp, F. Giorgi. 2005. "Fine-scale Processes Regulate the Response of Extreme Events to Global Climate Change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102(44): 15774–8.

- Diffenbaugh, N.S., F. Giorgi, and J.S. Pal. 2008. "Climate change hotspots in the United States." *Geophysical Research Letters* 35: L16709, doi:10.1029/2008GL035075.
- Dominguez, F., J. Cañon, and J. Valdes. 2010. "IPCC-AR4 climate simulations for the Southwestern United States: the importance of future ENSO projections." *Climatic Change* 99: 499–514.
- Easterling, D.R. 2002. "Recent changes in frost days and the frost-free season in the United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 83, doi: 10.1175/1520–0477.
- Elgaali, E., L A. Garcia and D.S. Ojima. 2007. "High-resolution modeling of the regional impacts of climate change on irrigation water demand." *Climatic Change*, Vol. 84: 3–4.
- Ellis, A.W., T.W. Hawkins, R.C. Balling, and P. Gober. 2008. "Estimating future runoff levels for a semiarid fluvial system in central Arizona." *Climate Research* 35: 227–239.
- Elsner, M.M., L. Cuo, N. Voisin, J.S. Deems, A.F. Hamlet, J.A. Vano, K.E.B. Mickelson, S. Lee and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Implications of 21<sup>st</sup> Century Climate Change for the Hydrology of Washington State." *Climatic Change* (2010) 102:225–260.
- Fang, X., H.G. Stefan, J.G. Eaton, J.H. McCormickc, S.R. Alama. 2004a. "Simulation of thermal/dissolved oxygen habitat for fishes in lakes under different climate scenarios Part 1. Cool-water fish in the contiguous United States." *Journal of Ecological Modeling*. Vol. 172: 13–37, doi:10.1016/S0304-3800(03)00282-5.
- Fang, X., H.G. Stefan, J.G. Eaton, J.H. McCormickc, S.R. Alama. 2004b.
  "Simulation of thermal/dissolved oxygen habitat for fishes in lakes under different climate scenarios Part 2." Cool-water fish in the contiguous United States. *Journal of Ecological Modeling*. Vol. 172: 39–54. doi:10.1016/S0304-3800(03)00285-0.
- Favre, A., and A. Gershunov. 2008. "North Pacific cyclonic and anticyclonic transients in a global warming context: Possible consequences for western North American daily precipitation and temperature extremes." *Climate Dynamics* 32: 969–987, doi:10.1007/s00382-008-0417-3.
- Ficke, A.D., Myrick, C.A., and Hansen, L.J. 2007. "Potential impacts of global climate change fisheries." *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 17(4): 581–613, 10.1007/s11160-007-9059-5.

- Frederick, Kenneth, 1997. "Water Resources and Climate Change." *Climate Issues Brief No. 3*, Climate Economics and Policy Program.
- Garbrecht, J.D., M. Van Liew, and G.O. Brown. 2004. "Trends in Precipitation, Streamflow, and Evapotranspiration in the Great Plains of the United States." *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 9(5): 360–367.
- Garfin, G., J. Eischeid, M. Lenart, K. Cole, K. Ironside, and N. Cobb. 2010. Downscaling Climate Projections in Topographically Diverse Landscapes of the Colorado Plateau in the Arid Southwestern United States. *The Colorado Plateau IV: Shaping Conservation Through Science and Management*. Charles Van Riper III, Brian F. Wakeling, and Thomas D. Sisk (eds.), University of Arizona Press, pp. 21–44.
- Gershunov, A., D.R. Cayan, S.F. Iacobellis. 2009. "The Great 2006 heat wave over California and Nevada: Signal of an Increasing Trend." *J. Climate*, 22(23), 6181-6203.
- Giorgi, F., and L.O. Mearns. 1991. "Approaches to the Simulation of Regional Climate Change: A Review." *Reviews of Geophysics*, 29(2):191–216.
- Giorgi F., and L. Mearns. 2002. "Calculation of average, uncertainty range, and reliability of regional climate from AOGCM simulations via the "Reliability Ensemble Averaging" (REA) method." *Journal of Climate* 15:1141–1158.
- Gober, P., C.W. Kirkwood, R.C. Balling, A.W. Ellis, and S. Deitrick. 2010: Water Planning Under Climatic Uncertainty in Phoenix: Why We Need a New Paradigm. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 100: 356–372, DOI: 10.1080/00045601003595420.
- Groisman, P.Y., R.W. Knight, T.R. Karl, D.R. Easterling, B. Sun, and J.H. Lawrimore. 2004. "Contemporary Changes of the Hydrological Cycle over the Contiguous United States: Trends Derived from in situ Observations." *Journal of Hydrometeorololgy* 5: 64–85.
- Groisman, P.Y., and R.W. Knight 2008. "Prolonged dry episodes over the conterminous United States: New tendencies emerged during the last 40 years." *Journal of Climate* 21: 1850–1862.
- Grotch, S.L., and M.C. MacCracken. 1991. "The Use of General Circulation Models to Predict Regional Climatic Change." *Journal of Climate*, 4: 286–303.
- Guentchev, G., J.J. Barsugli, and J. Eischeid. 2010. Homogeneity of Gridded Precipitation Data Sets for the Colorado River Basin. *Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology* (in press).

- Gunther, Fischer, Francesco N. Tubiello, Harrij van Velthuizen and David A.
  Wiberg. 2006. "Climate change impacts on irrigation water requirements: Effects of mitigation, 1990–2080." *Technological Forecasting & Social Change* 74 (2007) 1083–1107.
- Gutowski, W.J., G.C. Hegerl, G.J. Holland, T.R. Knutson, L.O. Mearns,
  R.J. Stouffer, P.J. Webster, M.F. Wehner, F.W. Zwiers. 2008. *Causes of Observed Changes in Extremes and Projections of Future Changes in Weather and Climate Extremes in a Changing Climate*. Regions of Focus: North America, Hawaii, Caribbean, and U.S. Pacific Islands. T.R. Karl,
  G.A. Meehl, C.D. Miller, S.J. Hassol, A.M. Waple, and W.L. Murray (eds.). A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC.
- Gutzler, D.S., H.K Kim, R.W. Higgins, H. Juang, M. Kanamitsu, K. Mitchell,
  K. Mo, P. Pegion, E. Ritchie, J.K. Schemm, S. Schubert, Y. Song, and
  R. Yang. 2005. "The North American Monsoon Model Assessment
  Project: Integrating numerical modeling into a field-based process study." Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 86: 1423–1429.
- Gutzler, D.S., and T.O. Robbins. 2010. "Climate variability and projected change in the western United States: regional downscaling and drought statistics." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI 10.1007/s00382-010-0838-7.
- Haak, A.L., J.E. Williams, D. Isaak, C.C. Muhlfeld, J.L. Kershner, R.E.
  Gresswell, S.W. Hostetler, and H.M. Neville. 2010. *The Potential Influence of Changing Climate on the Persistence of Salmonids of the Inland West*. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2010-1236.
- Hamlet, A.F., P.W. Mote, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "20<sup>th</sup> century trends in runoff, evapotranspiration, and soil moisture in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 20(8): 1468–1486, DOI: 10.1175 JCLI4051.1.
- Hamlet, A.F., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "Effects of 20<sup>th</sup> century warming and climate variability on flood risk in the Western United States." *Water Resources Research* 43, W06427, doi:10.1029/2006WR005099.
- Hamlet, A.F., P.W. Mote, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2005. "Effects of Temperature and Precipitation Variability on Snowpack Trends in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate*, 18(21): 4545–4561.
- Hamlet, A.F., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 1999. "Effects of climate change on hydrology and water resources in the Columbia River Basin." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 35(6):1597–1623.

- Hann, C.T. 2002. *Statistical Methods in Hydrology*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Iowa State Press, Ames, Iowa, pp. 496.
- Harou, J.J., J. Medellín-Azuara, T. Zhu, S.K. Tanaka, J.R. Lund, S. Stine, M.A. Olivares, and M.W. Jenkins. 2010. "Economic consequences of optimized water management for a prolonged, severe drought in California." *Journal of Water Resources Research*, Vol. 46, W05522, doi:10.1029/2008WR007681.
- Hasumi H., and S. Emori (eds.). 2004. K-1 coupled GCM (MIROC) description, K-1 2 Tech. Rep. 1. Center for Clim. Syst. Res. University of Tokyo, 34 pp.
- Hatfield, J., K. Boote, P. Fay, L. Hahn, C. Izaurralde, B.A. Kimball, T. Mader, J. Morgan, D. Ort, W. Polley, A. Thomson, and D. Wolfe. 2008.
  "Agriculture." *The effects of climate change on agriculture, land resources, water resources, and biodiversity in the United States.* A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC., 362 pp.
- Hayhoe, K., D. Cayanc, C.B. Field, P.C. Frumhoff, E.P. Maurer, N.L. Miller, S.C. Moser, S.H. Schneider, K.N. Cahill, E.E. Cleland, L. Daleg, R. Drapek, R.M. Hanemann, L.S. Kalkstein, J. Lenihan, C.K. Lunch, R.P. Neilson, S.C. Sheridan, and J.H. Vervillee. 2004. "Emissions Pathways, Climate Change, and Impacts on California." *Proceedings of the National Academy of the Sciences* 101: 34.
- Hellmann, J.J., J.E. Byers, B.G. Bierwagen, and J.S. Dukes. 2008. "Five Potential Consequences of Climate Change for Invasive Species." *Conservation Biology*, Volume 22(3), 534–543, DOI: 10.1111/j.1523– 1739.2008.00951.x.
- Hidalgo H.G., T. Das, M.D. Dettinger, D.R. Cayan, D.W. Pierce, T.P. Barnett, G. Bala, A. Mirin, A.W. Wood, and C. Bonfils. 2009. "Detection and Attribution of Streamflow Timing Changes to Climate Change in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 22(13): 3838, doi:10.1175/2008JCLI2470.1.
- Hidalgo, H.G., M.D. Dettinger, and D.R. Cayan. 2008b. Downscaling with Constructed 13 Analogues: Daily Precipitation and Temperature Fields Over the United States. California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research.15 CEC-500-2007-123. Available online at http://www.energy.ca.gov/2007publications/CEC-500-2007-123/CEC-500-2007-17 123.PDF. 48 pp.
- Hidalgo,H., D. Cayan, and M. Dettinger. 2005. "Sources of Variability of Evapotranspiration in California." *Journal of Hydrometeorology* 6: 3–19.

- Hoerling, M., and J. Eischeid. 2007. "Past Peak Water in the Southwest." *Southwest Hydrology*, 6(1):18–19: 35.
- Hoerling, M., D.P. Lettenmaier, D. R. Cayan, and B. Udall. 2009. "Reconciling Projections of Colorado River Streamflow." Southwest Hydrology 8: 20– 21, 31.
- Hoerling M., J. Eischeid, and J. Perlwitz. 2010. "Regional Precipitation Trends: Distinguishing Natural Variability from Anthropogenic Forcing." *Journal of Climate* (in press).
- Hotchkiss R.H., S.F. Jorgensen, M.C. Stone, and T.A. Fontaine. 2000.
  "Regulated River Modeling for Climate Change Impact Assessment: The Missouri River." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 36 (2): 375–386.
- Hughes, M.K., and H.F. Diaz. 2008. Climate variability and change in the drylands of Western North America. *Global and Planetary Change* 64(3-4): 111-118, doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2008.07.005.
- Hurd, B.H., and J. Coonrod. 2007. *Climate Change and Its Implications for New Mexico's Water Resources and Economic Opportunities*. Available online at http://agecon.nmsu.edu/bhurd/hurdhome/index.htm).
- IDSCU. 2005. Integrated decision support consumptive use model. Version 3.1.20. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- IPCC (International Panel on Climate Change). 2007. "The Physical Science Basis," contribution of Working Group I to *The Fourth Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 996 pp.
- IPCC. 2001. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Houghton, J.T., et al. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 881 pp.
- IPCC. 2000. Special Report on Emissions Scenarios. Nakicenovic, N. and R. Swart (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 599 pp. Available online at http://www.grida.no/climate/ipcc/emission/.
- IPCC. 1996. *Climate Change 1995: The Science of Climate Change*. Contribution of Working Group I to the *Second Assessment Report*

*of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Houghton., J.T., et al. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 572 pp.

- Janetos, A., L. Hansen, D. Inouye, B.P. Kelly, L. Meyerson, B. Peterson, and R. Shaw. 2008. "Biodiversity." *The effects of climate change on agriculture, land resources, water resources, and biodiversity in the United States.* A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Johnson, C.W., B.V. Millet, T. Gilmanov, R.A. Voldseth, G.R. Guntenspergen, and D.E. Naugle. 2005. "Vulnerability of Northern Prairie Wetlands to Climate Change." *BioScience*, October 2005/Vol. 55 No. 10: 863–872.
- Kalra, A., T.C. Piechota, R. Davies, and G. Tootle. 2008. "Changes in U.S. Streamflow and Western U.S. Snowpack." *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 13:3 156–163.
- Kelly A.E., and M.L. Goulden. 2008. "Rapid shifts in plant distribution with recent climate change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America*, 105: 11823–11826.
- Kennedy, T.L., D.S. Gutzler, and R.L. Leung. 2009. "Predicting future threats to the long-term survival of Gila trout using a high-resolution simulation of climate change." *Climatic Change* 94: 503–515, DOI 10.1007/s10584-008-9503-0.
- Kirkpatrick, C., C.J. Conway, and D. LaRoche. 2009. Surface Water Depletion and Riparian Birds: Final Report. Wildlife Research Report #2009-02.
   Phoenix, Arizona: Arizona Game and Fish Department. 69 pp.
- Kittel, T.G.F., N.A. Rosenbloom, T.H. Painter, and D.S. Schimel. 1995. VEMAP Modeling Participants. "The VEMAP integrated database for modeling United States ecosystem/vegetation sensitivity to climate change." *Journal of Biogeography* 22: 857–862.
- Knowles, N., M. Dettinger, and D. Cayan. 2007. Trends in Snowfall Versus Rainfall for the Western United States, 1949–2001. Prepared for California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2007-032.
- Knowles, N., and D.R. Cayan. 2004. "Elevational dependence of projected hydrologic changes in the San Francisco estuary and watershed." *Climatic Change*, 62, 319–336.
- Kunkel, K.E. 2003. "North American Trends in Extreme Precipiation." *Natural Hazards.* 29: 291–305. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands.

- Kunkel, K.E., D.R. Easterling, K. Redmond, and K. Hubbard. 2003. "Temporal variations of estreme precipitation events in the United States: 1895– 2000." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 30, No. 17, 1900, doi:10.1029/2003GLO18052, 2003.
- Kunkel, K.E., K. Andsager, and D.R. Easterling. 1998. "Long-Term Trends in Extreme Preciptiation Events over the Conterminous United States and Canada." *American Meteorological Society*, Vol. 12, August 1999.
- Lee, S., A.F. Hamlet, C.J. Fitzgerald, and S.J. Burges. 2009. "Optimized Flood Control in the Columbia River Basin for a Global Warming Scenario." *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management*, doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9496(2009)135:6(440).
- Lettenmaier, D., D. Major, L. Poff, and S. Running. 2008. "Water Resources." Chapter 4 of SAP 4.3- *The Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States.* A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Lettenmaier, D.P. 2004. "The role of climate in water resources planning and management." pp. 247–266 in R. Lawford, D. Fort, H. Hartmann, and S. Eden (eds.), *Water: Science, Policy, and Management*, AGU Press Monograph, 422 pp.
- Lettenmaier, D.P., A.W. Wood, R.N. Palmer, E.F. Wood, and E.Z. Stakhiv. 1999. "Water Resources Implications of Global Warming: A U.S. Regional Perspective." *Climatic Change* 43(3):537–79.
- Leung, L.R., Y. Qian, X.D. Bian, W.M. Washington, J.G. Han, and J O. Roads. 2004. "Mid-century ensemble regional climate change scenarios for the Western United States." *Climate Change*, 62:75–113.
- Lewis, K.J., and D Hathaway. 2002. "New Mexico Climate and Hydrology: Is the Historic Record Valid for Predictive Modeling?" *Hydrologic Science and Technology*, 19:20–21.
- Lin, J., B.E. Mapes, K.M. Weickmann, G.N. Kiladis, S.D. Schubert, M.J. Suarez, J.T. Bacmeister, and M. Lees. 2008. "North American monsoon and convectively coupled equatorial waves simulated by IPCC AR4 Coupled GCMs." J. Climate, 21:2919–2937.
- Littell, J.S., E.E. Oneil, D. McKenzie, J.A. Hicke, J.A. Lutz, R.A. Norheim, and M.M. Elsner. 2009. "Forest Ecosystems, Disturbances, and Climatic Change in Washington State, USA." *Climatic Change*, DOI 10.1007 s10584-010-9859-x.

- Loáiciga, H.A., D.R. Maidment, and J B. Valdes. 2000. "Climate-change impacts in a regional karst aquifer," Texas. *Journal of Hydrology*, 227:173–194.
- Logan, J.A., J. Regniere, and J.A. Powell. 2003. "Assessing the impacts of global warming on forest pest dynamics." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 1:130–137.
- Luce, C.H., and Z.A. Holden. 2009. "Declining annual streamflow distributions in the Pacific Northwest United States, 1948–2006." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 36, L16401, doi:10.1029/2009GL039407.
- Lundquist, J.D., M.D. Dettinger, I.T. Stewart, and D.R. Cayan. 2009. "Variability and Trends in Spring Runoff in the Western United States." *Climate warming in western North America—Evidence and environmental effects*, University of Utah Press, 63–76.
- MacDonald, G.M., et al. 2008. "Climate Warming and 21<sup>st</sup> Century Drought in Southwestern North America." *Eos Trans. AGU*, 89(9), doi:10.1029/ 2008EO090003.
- MacDonald, G.M. 2008. "Southern California and the perfect drought: Simultaneous prolonged drought in southern California and the Sacramento and Colorado River systems." *Quaternary International* 188: 11–23.
- Madsen, T., and E. Figdor. 2007. "When It Rains It Pours Global Warming and the Rising Frequency of Extreme Precipitation in the United States." Environment America Research and Policy Center. Available online at http://www.environmentamerica.org/uploads/oy/ws/oywshWAwZy-EXPsabQKd4A/When-It-Rains-It-Pours----US---WEB.pdf.
- Mantua, N.J., I. Tohver, and A. Hamlet. 2010. "Climate change impacts on streamflow extremes and summertime stream temperature and their possible consequences for freshwater salmon habitat in Washington State." *Climatic Change*, DOI 10.1007/s10584-010-9845-2.
- Marinec, J., and A. Rango. 1989. "Effects of Climate Change on Snowmelt Runoff Patterns." *Remote Sensing and Large-Scale Global Processes -Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences Third International Assembly*, IAHS Publ. 186 pp.
- Mastin, M.C. 2008. "Effects of potential future warming on runoff in the Yakima River Basin, Washington." U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2008-5124. 12 pp.

- Matter, M.A., L.A. Garcia, D.G. Fontane, and B. Bledsoe. 2010. "Characterizing hydroclimatic variability in tributaries of the Upper Colorado River Basin—WY1911-2001." *Journal of Hydrology*, 380:260–276, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.10.040.
- Maurer, E.P., H.G. Hidalgo, T. Das, M.D. Dettinger, and D.R. Cayan. 2010. The utility of daily large-scale climate data in the assessment of climate change impacts on daily streamflow in California. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Journal*, Vol. 14:1125–1138. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/14/1125/2010/doi:10.5194/hess-14-1125-2010.
- Maurer, E.P. 2007. "Uncertainty in hydrologic impacts of climate change in the Sierra Nevada, California under two emissions scenarios." *Climatic Change*, Vol. 82, No. 3–4:309–325, doi: 10.1007/s10584-006-9180-9.
- Mauer E.P., I.T. Stewart, C. Bonfils, P.B. Duffy, and D. Cayan. 2007. "Detection, Attribution, and Sensitivity of Trends toward Earlier Streamflow in the Sierra Nevada." *Journal of Geophysical Science* 112(D11118).
- McAfee, S.A., and J.L. Russell. 2008. "Northern Annular Mode impact on spring climate in the western United States." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35:L17701, doi:10.1029/2008GL034828.
- McCabe, G.J., and D.M. Wolock. 2007. "Warming May Create Substantial Water Supply Shortages in the Colorado River Basin." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L22708, doi:10.1029/2007GL031764.
- McCabe, G.J., M.A. Palecki, and J L. Betancourt. 2004. "Pacific and Atlantic Ocean influences on multidecadal drought frequency in the United States." *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 101:4136–4141.
- McCarty, J. 2001. "Ecological Consequences of Recent Climate Change." Journal of Conservation Biology, Volume 15, No. 2:320–331. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2001.015002320.x.
- McDowell, N., C.D. Allen, and L. Marshall. 2010. "Growth, carbon-isotope discrimination, and drought-associated mortality across a Pinus ponderosa elevational transect." *Global Change Biology* 16: 399–415.
- McKenzie, D., Z.E. Gedalof, D.L. Peterson, and P. Mote. 2004. "Climatic Change, Wildfire, and Conservation." *Conservation Biology* 18(4): 890–902.

- McKinney, T., D.E. Brown, and L. Allison. 2008. "Winter Precipitation and Recruitment of Pronghorns in Arizona." *The Southwestern Naturalist* 53(3):319–325.
- Meehl, G.A., C. Tebaldi, and D. Nychka. 2004. "Changes in frost days in simulations of twenty-first century climate." *Climate Dynamics* 23: 495–511.
- Meko, D.M., C.A. Woodhouse, C.A. Baisan, T. Knight, J.L. Lukas, M.K. Hughes, and M.W. Salzer. 2007. "Medieval drought in the Upper Colorado River Basin." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L10705, doi:10.1029/ 2007GL029988.
- Miller, N.L., and N.J. Schlegel. 2006. "Climate change projected fire weather sensitivity: California Santa Ana wind occurrence." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33:1–5, L15711, doi:10.1029/2006GL025808, 2006.
- Milly, P.C.D., K.A. Dunne, and A.V. Vecchia. 2005. "Global pattern of trends in streamflow and water availability in a changing climate." *Nature*, 438: 347–350.
- Minder, J.R. 2010. "The sensitivity of mountain snowpack accumulation to climate warming." *Journal of Climate* 23:10, 2634–2650.
- Mohseni, O., H.G.Stefan, and J.G. Eaton, 2003. "Global warming and potential changes in fish habitat in U.S. streams." *Climatic Change*, 59(3): 389–409, 10.1023/A:1024847723344.
- Moser, S., G. Franco, S. Pittiglio, W. Chou, and D. Cayan. 2009. The Future Is Now: An Update on Climate Change Science Impacts and Response Options for California. California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research Program. CEC-500-2008-071.
- Mote, P.W., and E.P. Salathé. 2010. "Future climate in the Pacific Northwest." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 29-50, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9848-z.
- Mote, P.W., A.F. Hamlet, and E.P. Salathé. 2008. "Has spring snowpack declined in the Washington Cascades?" *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 12: 193–206.
- Mote, P.W. 2006. "Climate-driven variability and trends in mountain snowpack in western North America." *J. Climate*, 19: 6209–6220.
- Mote, P.W., A.F. Hamlet, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2005. "Declining mountain snowpack in western North America." *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.*, 86:39–49.

- Mote, P.W., E.A. Parson, A.F. Hamlet, W.S. Keeton, D. Lettenmair, N. Mantua, E.L. Miles, D.W. Peterson, D.L. Peterson, R. Slaughter, and A.K. Snover. 2003. "Preparing for Climate Change: the Water, Salmon, and Forests of the Pacific Northwest." *Climatic Change* 61:45–88.
- Nakićenović, N., and R. Swart (eds.). 2000. Special Report on Emissions Scenarios. A Special Report of Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 599 pp.
- Nash, L.L., and P.H. Gleick. 1993. The Colorado River Basin and Climatic Change: The Sensitivity of Streamflow and Water Supply to Variations in Temperature and Precipitation. United States Environmental Protection Agency: 121.
- Nash, L.L., and P.H. Gleick. 1991. "The Sensitivity of Streamflow in the Colorado River Basin to Climatic Changes." *Journal of Hydrology*, 125: 221–241.
- Nozawa, T., T. Nagashima, T. Ogura, T. Yokohata, N. Okada, and H. Shiogama.
  2007. Climate change simulations with a coupled ocean-atmosphere GCM called the Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate: MIROC. CGER's Supercomputer monograph report, Vol. 12, Center for Global Environmental Research, National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan, 93 pp.
- Null, S.E., J.H. Viers, and J.F. Mount. 2010. "Hydrologic Response and Watershed Sensitivity to Climate Warming in California's Sierra Nevada." *PLoS One*, Vol. 5(4): e9932, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009932.
- Ojima D., L. Garcia, E. Elgaali, K. Miller, T.G.F. Kittel, and J. Lackett. 1999. "Potential Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources in the Great Plains." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 35 (6): 1443–1454.
- Pacific Institute. 2009. Water Scarcity & Climate Change: Growing Risks for Business and Investors. A Ceres Report. Boston, Massachusetts.
- Pagano, T., P. Pasteris, M. Dettinger, D. Cayan, and K. Redman. 2004. "Water Year 2004: Western water managers feel the heat." *Eos, Transactions of the American Geophysical Union* 85(40): 385, 392–393.
- Painter, T.H., J.S. Deems, J. Belnap, A.F. Hamlet, C.C. Landry, and B. Udall. 2010. "Response of Colorado River runoff to dust radiative forcing in snow." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, October 5, 2010, 1007(40): 17125–30.

- Painter, T.H., A.P. Barrett, C.C. Landry, J.C. Neff, M.P. Cassidy, C.R. Lawrence, K.E. McBride, and G.L. Farmer. 2007. "Impact of disturbed desert soils on duration of mountain snow cover." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L12502, doi:10.1029/2007gl030284.
- Pan, Z., R.W. Arritt, E.S. Takle, W.J. Gutowski, C.J. Anderson, and M. Segal. 2004. "Altered Hydrologic Feedback in a Warming Climate Introduces a "Warming Hole."" *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31:L17109.
- Passell, H.D., C.N. Dahm, and E.J. Bedrick. 2004. "Hydrological and Geochemical Trends and Patterns in the Upper Rio Grande, 1975 to 1999." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* (40): 111–127.
- Payne, J.T., A.W. Wood, A.F. Hamlet, R.N. Palmer, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2004.
  "Mitigating the effects of climate change on the water resources of the Columbia River Basin." *Climatic Change* 62(1–3):233–256.
- Peterson, D.H., I. Stewart, and F. Murphy. 2008. "Principal Hydrologic Responses to Climatic and Geologic Variability in the Sierra Nevada, California." San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science 6(1): Article 3.
- Pierce, D.W., T. Barnett, H. Hidalgo, T. Das, C. Bonfils, B.D. Santer, G. Bala, M. Dettinger, D. Cayan, A. Mirin, A.W. Wood, and T. Nazawa. 2008. "Attribution of declining Western United States snowpack to human effects." *Journal of Climate* 21(23): 6425–6444, doi:10.1175/2008JCLI2405.1.
- Pirtle, Z., R. Meyer, and A. Hamilton. 2010. "What does it mean when climate models agree? A case for assessing independence among general circulation models." *Environmental Science & Policy* 13: 351–361.
- Poiani, K.A., and W.C. Johnson. 1993. "Potential Effects of Climate Change on a Semi-Permanent Prairie Wetland." *Climatic Change* 24: 213–232.
- Purkey, D.R., B. Joyce, S. Vicuna, M.W. Hanemann, L.L. Dale, D. Yates, and J.A. Dracup. 2008. "Robust Analysis of Future Climate Change Impacts on Water for Agriculture and Other Sectors: A Case Study in the Sacramento Valley" *Climatic Change* (2008) 87 (Suppl 1):S109–S122, DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9375-8.
- Raff, D.A., T. Pruitt, and L.D. Brekke. 2009. "A framework for assessing flood frequency based on climate projection information." *Hydrology and Earth System Science Journal*. Vol. 13, p. 2119–2136. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/13/2119/2009/.

- Rahel, F.J., and J.D. Olden. 2008. "Assessing the Effects of Climate Change on Aquatic Invasive Species." *Conservation Biology*, 22(3): 521–533, DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00950.x.
- Rahel, F.J., B. Bierwagen, and Y. Taniguchi. 2008. "Managing aquatic species of conservation concern concern in the face of climate change and invasive species." *Conservation Biology*, 22(3): 551–561, 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00953.x.
- Rahmstorf, S. 2007. "A Semi-Empirical Approach to Projecting Future Sea-Level Rise." *Science*, 315: 368–370.
- Rajagopalan, B., K. Nowak, J. Prairie, M. Hoerling, B. Harding, J. Barsugli, A. Ray, and B. Udall. 2009. "Water Supply Risk on the Colorado River: Can Management Mitigate?" *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 45, W08201, doi:10.1029/2008WR007652.
- Ramirez, J.A., and B. Finnerty. 1996. "CO<sub>2</sub> and Temperature Effects on Evapotranspiration and Irrigated Agriculture." *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, May/June 1996.
- Rangwala, I., and J.R. Miller. 2010. "Twentieth Century Temperature Trends in Colorado's San Juan Mountains." *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, Vol. 42, No. 1, 89–97, doi: 10.1657/1938-4246-42.1.89.
- Rauscher, S.A., J.S. Pal, N.S. Diffenbaugh, and M.M. Benedetti. 2008. "Future Changes in Snowmelt-driven Runoff Timing Over the Western United States." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 35, L16703, doi:10.1029/ 2008GL034424.
- Ray, A.J., J.J. Barsugli, K. Wolter, and J. Eischeid. 2010. Rapid-Response Climate Assessment to Support the FWS Status Review of the American Pika. Available online at http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/news/2010/ 020210.html.
- Reclamation. 2009. Literature Synthesis on Climate Change Implications for Reclamation's Water Resources. Technical Memorandum 86-68210-091, prepared by Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Department of the Interior, 290 pp.
- Reclamation. 2007. *Review of Science and Methods for Incorporating Climate Change Information into Reclamation's Colorado River Basin Planning Studies.*
- Regonda, S.K., B. Rajagopalan, M. Clark, and J. Pitlick. 2005. "Seasonal Cycle Shifts in Hydroclimatology Over the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 18(2): 372–384.

- Reichler, T., and J. Kim. 2008. "How Well Do Coupled Models Simulate Today's Climate?" *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 89(3), 303–311.
- Reiners, W.A., W.L. Baker, J.S. Baron, D M. Debinski, S.A. Elias, D.B. Fagre, J.S. Findley, L.O. Mearns, D.W. Roberts, T.R. Seastedt, T.J. Stohlgren, T.T. Veblen, and F.H. Wagner. 2003. "Natural ecosystems I: The Rocky Mountains." *Rocky Mountain/Great Basin Regional Climate Change Assessment*, report for the U. S. Global Change Research Program, F.H. Wagner (ed.), 145–184. Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Available online at http://www.usgcrp.gov/usgcrp/nacc/background/ regions.htm.
- Revelle, R.R., and P.E. Waggoner. 1983. "Effects of a Carbon Dioxide Induced Climatic Change on Water Supplies in the Western United States." *Changing Climate*. National Academy of Sciences Press, Washington, DC.
- Robinson, D.C.E., S.J. Beukema, and L.A. Greig. 2008. Vegetation models and climate change:workshop results. Prepared by ESSA Technologies Ltd., for Western Wildlands Environmental Threat Assessment Center, U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Prineville, Oregon. 50 pp.
- Rosenberg, E.A., P.W. Keys, D.B. Booth, D. Hartley, J. Burkey,
  A.C. Steinemann, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Precipitation extremes and the impacts of climate change on stormwater infrastructure in Washington State." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 319-349, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9847-0.
- Rosenberg, N.J., D.J. Epstein, D. Wang, L. Vail, R. Srinivasan, and J.G. Arnold. 1999. "Possible Impacts of Global Warming on the Hydrology of the Ogallala Aquifer Region." *Climatic Change* 42(4): 677–692.
- Rosenzweig, C., A. Iglesius, X.B. Yang, P.R. Epstein, and E. Chivian. 2001. "Climate change and extreme weather events: implications for food production, plant diseases, and pests." *Global Change and Human Health*, 2(2): 90–104, 10.1023/A:1015086831467.
- Ryan, M.G., S.R. Archer, R. Birdsey, C. Dahm, L. Heath, J. Hicke, D. Hollinger, T. Huxman, G. Okin, R. Oren, J. Randerson, and W. Schlesinger. 2008.
  "Land Resources." *The Effects of climate change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States*. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC. 362 pp.

- Salathé, E.P., L.R. Leung, Y. Qian, and Y. Zhanf. 2009. "Regional Climate Models Projections for the State of Washington." *The Washington Climate Change Impacts Assessment*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington.
- Scott, M.J., and Y.J. Huang. 2007. Effects of Climate Change on Energy Use in the United States in Effects of Climate Change on Energy Production and Use in the United States. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC.
- Seager, R., and G.A. Vecchi. 2010. "Greenhouse warming and the 21<sup>st</sup> Century Hydroclimate of Southwestern North America." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (in press). Available online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0709640104.
- Seager R., M.Ting, I. Held, Y. Kushnir, J. Lu, and G. Vecchi. 2007. "Model Projections of an Imminent Transition to a More Arid Climate in Southwestern North America." *Science* 316(5828): 1181–1184.
- Serrat-Capdevila, A., J.B. Valdés, J. González Pérez, K. Baird, L.J. Mata, and T. Maddock III. 2007. "Modeling climate change impacts—and uncertainty—on the hydrology of a riparian system: the San Pedro Basin (Arizona/Sonora)." *Journal of Hydrology* 347:48–66, DOI 10.1016/ j.jhydrol.2007.08.028.
- Shin, S., and P.D. Sardeshmukh. 2010. "Critical influence of the pattern of Tropical ocean warming on remote climate trends." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI 10.1007/s00382-009-0732-3.
- Sheppard, P.R., A.C. Comrie, A.C., G.D. Packin, K. Angersbach, K., and M.K. Hughes. 2002. "The Climate of the U.S. Southwest." *Climate Research* 21: 219–238.
- Slaughter, R., and J.D. Wiener. 2007. "Water, adaptation, and property rights on the Snake and Klamath Rivers." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 43(2):308–21, DOI: 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2007.00024.x.
- Smoliak, B.V., J.M. Wallace, M.T. Stoelinga, and T.P. Mitchell. 2010. "Application of partial least squares regression to the diagnosis of year-toyear variations in Pacific Northwest snowpack and Atlantic hurricanes." *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 37, L03801, doi:10.1029/2009GL041478.

- Stefan, H.G., X. Fang, and J.G. Eaton. 2001. "Simulated Fish Habitat Changes in North American Lakes in Response to Projected Climate Warming." *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, Vol. 130: 459–477. Available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2001)130< 0459:SFHCIN>2.0.CO;2.
- Stewart, I.T. 2009. "Changes in snowpack and snowmelt runoff for key mountain regions." *Hydrological Processes* 23: 78–94, DOI: 10.1002/hyp.7128.
- Stewart, I.T., D.R. Cayan, and M.D. Dettinger. 2004. "Changes in Snowmelt Runoff Timing in Western North America Under a 'Business as Usual' Climate Change Scenario." *Climatic Change* 62: 217–232.
- Stewart, I.T., D.R. Cayan, and M.D. Dettinger. 2005. "Changes toward Earlier Streamflow Timing Across Western North America." *Journal of Climate* 18: 1136–55.
- Stine, S. 1994. "Extreme and persistent drought in California and Patagonia during mediaeval time." *Nature Journal* 369:546–49.
- Stoelinga, M.T., M.D. Albright, and C.F. Mass. 2010. "A new look at snowpack trends in the Cascade Mountains." J. Climate, 23, 2473–2491, doi: 10.1175/2009JCLI2911.
- Stromberg, J.C., V.B. Beauchamp, M.D. Dixon, S.J. Lite, and C. Paradzick. 2007. "Importance of low-flow and high-flow characteristics to restoration of riparian vegetation along rivers in arid Southwestern United States." *Freshwater Biology*, 52(4): 651–679.
- Sun, Y., S.Solomon, A.Dai, and R.W. Portmann. 2007. "How Often Will It Rain?" J. Climate, 20, 4801–4818, doi: 10.1175/JCLI4263.1.
- Tebaldi, C, K. Hayhoe, J.M. Arblaster, and G.A. Meehl. 2006. "Going to the extremes; An intercomparison of model-simulated historical and future changes in extreme events." *Climatic Change*, 79: 185–211.
- Thompson, D.W.J., J.J. Kennedy, J.M. Wallace, and P.D. Jones. 2008. "A Large Discontinuity in the Mid-twentieth Century in Observed Global-mean Surface Temperature." *Nature*, Vol. 453, doi:10.1038/nature06982.
- Van Rheenen, N.T., A.W. Wood, R.N. Palmer, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2004. "Potential Implications of PCM Climate Change Scenarios for Sacramento-San Joaquin River Basin Hydrology and Water Resources." *Climatic Change* 62(1–3):257–281.

- Vano, J.A., N. Voisin, L. Cuo, A.F. Hamlet, M.M. Elsner, R.N. Palmer,
  A. Polebitski, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Climate change impacts on water management in the Puget Sound region, Washington, USA." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 261-286, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9846-1.
- Vermeer, M., and S. Rahmstorf. 2009. "Global sea level linked to global temperature." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. Available online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0907765106.
- Vicuna, S., and J.A. Dracup. 2007. "The Evolution of Climate Change Impact Studies on Hydrology and Water Resources in California." *Climatic Change* 82(3–4): 327–350.
- Vicuna, S., J.A. Dracup, J.R. Lund, L.L. Dale, and E.P. Maurer. 2010.
  "Basin-scale water system operations with uncertain future climate conditions: Methodology and case studies." *Journal of Water Resources Research*. Vol. 46, W04505, doi:10.1029/2009WR007838, 2010.
- Villarini, G., F. Serinaldi, J.A. Smith, and W.F. Krajewski. 2009. "On the stationarity of annual flood peaks in the continental United States during the 20<sup>th</sup> century." *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 45, W08417, doi:10.1029/2008WR007645.
- Washington, W.M., J.W. Weatherly, G.A. Meehl, A.J. Semtner Jr., T.W. Bettge, P. Craig, W.G. Strand Jr., J. Arblaster, V.B. Wayland, R. James, and Y. Zhang. 2000. "Parallel climate model (PCM) control and transient simulations." *Climate 15 dynamics*, 16: 755-774.
- Weiss, J.L., C.L. Castro, and J.T. Overpeck. 2009. "Distinguishing Pronounced Droughts in the Southwestern United States: Seasonality and Effects of Warmer Temperatures." *Journal of Climate* 22: 5918-5932.
- Weiss, J., and J.T. Overpeck. 2005. "Is the Sonoran Desert losing its cool?" *Global Change Biology*, 11: 2065–2077.
- Westerling, A.L., and B.P. Bryant. 2008. "Climate change and wildfire in California." *Climatic Change* 87 (Suppl 1): S231–S249, DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9363-z.
- Westerling, A.L., H.G. Hidalgo, D.R. Cayan, and T.W. Swetnam. 2006. "Warming and Earlier Spring Increase Western U.S. Forest Wildfire Activity." *Science* 313(5789): 940–943.
- Wiens, J.A., D. Stralberg, D. Jongsomjit, C.A. Howell, and M.A. Snyder. 2009. "Niches, models, and climate change: Assessing the assumptions and uncertainties." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (Suppl.2): 19729–19736.

- Wigley, T.M.L. 2005. "The climate change commitment." *Science* 307:1766–1769.
- Williams, K.K., J.D. McMillin, T E. DeGomez, K M. Clancy, and A. Miller. 2008. "Influence of Elevation on Bark Beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) Community Structure and Flight Periodicity in Ponderosa Pine Forests of Arizona." *Environ. Entomol.* 37(1): 94–109.
- Williams, J.E., A.L. Haak, H.M. Neville, and W.T. Colyer. 2009. "Potential Consequences of Climate Change to Persistence of Cutthroat Trout Populations." *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 29:533– 548. Available from the Trout Unlimited Web site.
- Wolkovich, E.M., and E.E. Cleland. 2010. "The phenology of plant invasions: a community ecology perspective." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*.
- Wood, A.W., E.P. Maurer, A. Kumar, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2002. "Long-range experimental hydrologic forecasting for the Eastern United States." *J. Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 107(D20), 4429, doi:10.1029/ 2001JD000659.
- Woodhouse, C., J. Russell, and E. Cook. 2009. "Two Modes of North American Drought from Instrumental and Paleoclimatic Data." *Journal of Climate*, 22(16): 4336-4347, doi:10.1175/2009JCLI2705.1.
- Woodhouse, C.A., S.T. Gray, and D.M. Meko. 2006. "Updated streamflow reconstructions for the Upper Colorado River Basin." *Water Resour. Res.*, 42, W05415, doi:10.1029/2005WR004455.
- Yin, J., S.M. Griffies, and R.J. Soufeer. 2010. "Spatial Variability of Sea Level Rise in Twenty-First Century Projections." *Journal of Climate*, 23, 4585– 4607, DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3533.1.

## **Appendix A. Literature Bibliographies**

This appendix contains a tabulated summary of cited references and other references pertaining to the subject matter of this report and an associated comprehensive bibliography. The tables are subdivided into the categories of peer reviewed journal articles, peer reviewed synthesis documents and reports, and nonpeer reviewed documents. Information summarized in each table includes resource themes, time coverage, and geographic coverage.

Resource themes include: regional or local climate change, runoff and surface water supplies, sea level rise, flood control, hydropower, ecosystems, water quality, ground water, and water demand. Time coverage is historical and future. Geographic coverage is broken into the five Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) regions: Pacific Northwest (PN); Mid-Pacific (MP); Lower Colorado (LC); Upper Colorado (UC); and Great Plains (GP).

The summarized information is based on cursory reviews performed by the authors, and every effort has been made to ensure accuracy. However, given the large amount of information summarized and the potential for misinterpretations and errors, the reader should use the summary for a guide and verify all information before using or citing this report as a source.

_		-			_	_	_	_	_		-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		-	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-
				9			×	×		×	×			×							×		×			×	×		×		×	ŀ
	phic	<u></u>		S	×	×	×	×	×	×	×			×	×	×	×	×			×		×			×	×		×		×	ŀ
	ogra			2	×		×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×			×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×		×	ļ
	9 0	<u>'</u>		₽			×	×		×	×	×		×						×		×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	ŀ
				M			×	×		×	×			×					×			⊢	×			×	×		×		×	ŀ
	verade			Future	x		×				×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×			×	×	×	×			×	×	×	,
	Time Co			Historical		х	×			×	×			×		Х						×	×			×	×	Х				
			Hydro-	power																									×			
			Flood	Control																				×					×			Γ
			Reservoir System	Operations										×		×													×	×		
	()		Water	Demand								×	×			×										×			×			ſ
	. Theme(s		Ground-	water																									×			Γ
	esource		Water	Quality																									×			
	Ľ		Eco-	systems	Х	×	×	×	×			×							×	×	×		×		×	×			×			,
			Sea Level	Rise																		×							×			
s		3	Surface Water	Supplies						×				×	×	х	х	×									×		×	×	×	
Articles			or Local	Change						×	×			×		×			×						×		×	×	×		×	,
Peer Reviewed Journal			Journal Articles	(Peer Reviewed)	Adams et al. 2009	Allen 2007	Allen et al. 2010	Ansu and McCarney 2008	Anderson et al. 2008	Andreadis and Lettenmaier 0006	3ala et al. 2008	Saldocchi and Wong 2006	3ark et al. 2009	Sarnett et al. 2008	Sarnett and Pierce 2009a	3arnett and Pierce 2009b	Sarnett and Pierce 2008	3arsugli et al. 2009	3attin et al. 2007	sattles et al. 2008	Beauchamp and Stromberg	seckley et al. 2007	seever et al. 2010	sell and Sloan 2006	sell et al. 2004	sloom 2010	Sonfills et al. 2008	Sonfils et al. 2007	srekke et al. 2009a	srekke et al. 2009b	3rekke et al. 2008	

Π		Ι		GР	х					×	×	×					×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×						×	×
	ohic De	<u>"</u>		С	Х			×		×	×	×	×		×		×		×	×		×	×	×	×	×						×	×
	ograf			С	Х	×		×	×	×	×	×	×		×				×	×			×	×	×	×	×	×			×	×	×
	a c	۶Ľ		МΡ	Х	×			×	×	×	×				х			×	×			×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×
		$\downarrow$		М	×		×			×	×	×							×	×			×	×	×	×						×	×
	Werade	verage		Future	Х	×	×	×	×			×	×		×						×	×			×		×	×	×			×	×
	Time Co			Historical	Х		×	х		×	×	х				Х	Х	Х	х	×			×	×		×			Х	Х	Х		
			Hvdro-	power																													
		ſ	Flood	Control							×																						
			Reservoir Svstem	Operations																													
			Water	Demand								×																					
	• Theme(•		Ground-	water																													
	esource		Water	Quality																										×			
	ш		Eco-	systems	Х					×		×						Х			×	×	×				×			х			
			Sea Level	Rise					×							×																	
<u>د</u>			Runoff and Surface Water	Supplies			×	×		×			×		×		Х		×	×				×		×			Х	х	×		
Article			Regional or Local Climate	Change	Х	×	×	×			×								×	×					×			×				×	×
Peer Reviewed Journa			Journal Articles	(Peer Reviewed)	Burkett and Kusler 2000	Caldwell 2010	Casola et al. 2009	Cayan et al. 2010	Cayan et al. 2008	Cayan et al. 2001	Changnon 2001	Christidis et al. 2007	Christensen and	Lettenmaier 2007	Christensen et al. 2004	Church and White 2006	Clow 2010	Conley and Kemp 2001	Cook et al. 2010	Cook et al. 2004	Cooney et al. 2005	Covich et al. 1997	Crimmins et al. 2009	Dai et al. 2009	Dai 2006	Das et al. 2009	DeFalco et al. 2007	Dettinger 2005	Dettinger et al. 2004	Dettinger and Cayan 2003	Dettinger and Cayan 1995	Diffenbaugh and Ashfaq 2010	Diffenbaugh et al. 2008

_		_			_	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	_	_	-	-	-	
		L		GР	×		×	×		×			×	×	×	×	×	×		×		×	×		×	×	×		×	×	×	×
	phic			ñ	×	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×	×		×	×		×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
	ogra	L		С	×	×	×	×			×		×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
	õ õ			МΡ	×		×	×					×	×	Х	×	×			×	×	×	×		×	×	×		×	×	×	×
				Ы	×		×	×				×	×	×	Х	×	×			×		×	×		×	×	×		×	×	×	×
	verade	0.65.04		Future	Х	×				×	×	×	×	×	х		х		×	×	×	×	х	×			х		×	×	×	
	Time Co			Historical			×	×	х	х					х	х		Х							Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	×
				Hydro- power																												
				Flood Control	Х																											
			Reservoir	System Operations																												
				Water Demand						×								×						×					×			
	• Theme(•			Ground- water																												
	Resource			Water Quality																												
				Eco- systems	Х								×	×			х															
			Sea	Level Rise																												×
s			Runoff and Surface	Water Supplies			×				×	×				×		х							х					×		×
Article			Regional or Local	Climate Change	Х	×	×	×	×	×		×			х	×		Х	×	×	×	×	×	×	х	×	х	Х		×	×	
Peer Reviewed Journal			International Articlas	(Peer Reviewed)	Diffenbaugh et al. 2005	Dominguez et al. 2010	Over and Mote 2006	asterling 2002	cddy 1996	ilgaali et al. 2007	illis et al. 2008	lsner et al. 2010	ang et al. 2004a	ang et al. 2004b	avre and Gershunov 2008	eng and Hu 2007	icke et al. 2007	Sarbrecht et al. 2004	barfin et al. 2010	Seorgi and Mearns 2002	sershunov et al. 2009	biorgi and Mearns 1991	öleckler et al. 2008	Sober et al. 2010	Broisman et al. 2004	<b>Broismand and Knight 2008</b>	Grotch and McCracken 1991	Suentchev et al. 2010	bunther et al. 2006	butzler et al. 2010	butzler et al. 2005	Hamlet and Lettenmaier

eviewed Journal	Articles															
200		,												eogr	aphic	
			ľ	2	esource	e Theme(s	s)				Time Co	verage		, si	rage	
Articles viewed)	Regional or Local Climate Change	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	Sea Level Rise	Eco- systems	Water Quality	Ground- water	Water Demand	Reservoir System Operations	Flood Control	Hydro- power	Historical	Future	N N	<u>ح</u>	<u> </u>	
ttenmaier		×						X				×	×	-		
007		×					×				×		×	<u>^</u>	×	×
005	×										×		×	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	×	×
010	×	×						×		×		×	r T	\^ \∠		
2004	×	×										×	^	$\hat{}$		
. 2008				×								×	×	Ŷ	×	×
2009		×									×		×	Ŷ	×	×
2008a		×									×		×	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	×	×
2008b	×										×		×	^ ×	×	×
2005							×				×			Ê	×	
Eischeid 2007	×	×										×		^	×	
2010	×										×		×	Ŷ		
2009		×										×		Â	×	
I. 2000	×	×										×				×
rood 2007		×		х			х					×			×	
iaz 2008	×			х							Х	х	×	×	×	×
2005				х												×
08		×											×	Ŷ	×	×
lden 2008				x							Х		×	×	×	×
. 2009				×								×		_	×	×
95				х								x	×	^ ×	×	×
			×									×	^	×		
Cayan 2004		×		×	×							×	^	×		
. 2007	×										Х		×	×	×	×
	×										х		×	×	×	×
2009	×	×									х		×	Ŷ	×	×
2007	×	×									×		×	Ŷ	×	×
2003	×										×		×	<u>~</u>	×	×

Peer Reviewed Journal	Articles	"															-
														eogi	aphi	5	_
					esource	e Theme(s	<u>_</u>				Time Co	verage	ł	š	rage	$\left  \right $	-
	Regional	Runoff and															
Journal Articles (Peer Reviewed)	or Local Climate Change	Surface Water Supplies	Sea Level Rise	Eco- svstems	Water Quality	Ground- water	Water Demand	Keservoir System Operations	Flood	Hydro- power	Historical	Future	N	د ٩	ٽ	6	
Kunkel et al. 1998	×										×		×	Ê	×	×	_
Lee et al. 2009								×	×			×	×	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		<u> </u>
Lettenmaier 2004		×									×		×	<u>^</u>	×	×	<u> </u>
Lettenmaier et al. 2008b				×			×				×	×	×	1 L	×	×	<b>—</b>
Lettenmaier et al. 1999		×										×	×	┝	$\vdash$	×	<b>—</b>
Leung et al. 2004	×											×	×		×	×	<b>—</b>
Lewis and Hathaway 2002		×									×			$\vdash$	×		<u> </u>
Lin et al. 2008	×											×	×	$\frac{1}{2}$	×	×	
Littell et al. 2009	×			×								×	×	$\vdash$			<u> </u>
Loaiciga et al. 2000						×						×		$\vdash$		×	<u> </u>
Logan et al. 2003				×								×	×	$\frac{1}{2}$	×	×	<u> </u>
Luce and Holden 2009		×		×							×	×	×				<b>—</b>
Lundquist et al. 2009		×									×	×	×	$\sim$	×	×	_
MacDonald 2008	×	×									×			Ê			<b>—</b>
MacDonald et al. 2008	×	×									×	×		Ê			<u> </u>
Madsen and Figdor 2007		×							×		×	×	×	$\sim$	×	×	
Mauget 2004		×									×			$\vdash$		×	
Mantua et al. 2009	×			×								×	×				_
Marinec and Rango 1989		×										×			×		
Matter et al. 2010		×					×				×			$\vdash$	×		
Maurer 2007		×										×		×			_
Maurer et al. 2010	×	×										×		$\sim$	~		
Maurer et al. 2007		×									Х			×			
McAfee and Russell 2008	×	×									Х	×	×	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	×	×	
McCabe et al. 2004	×										х		×	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	×	×	
McCabe and Wolock 2007		×										×		$\hat{}$	×		
McCarty 2001				×							х	×	×	$\sim$	×	×	
McDowell et al. 2010				×							х	×	×	$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	×	×	
McKenzie et al. 2004				×								x	×	$\hat{}$	×	×	
McKinney et al. 2008				×							×			$\hat{}$	~	$\vdash$	_

		Т		~				<u> </u>	<u> </u>															<u> </u>										Т
		F		g	×			×		×		×			×				×		×	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×		ļ
	ade	2		S	×	×		×		×		×			×		×	×	×			×	×	×		×			×	×	×			ļ
	ogra			2 ·	×		×	×		×	×	×			×		×	×	×	×		×	×	×				×	×	×	×			ļ
	မီပ	ľ		ΜP	×		×	×		×	×	×			×				×	×		×		×				×	×	×	×		×	ļ
		∔		M	×			×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×			×			×		×			×		×	×	×			ŀ
	verade	- And		Future	×		×	×	×	×	×		×			х	×	×	×	×	×				×		×		×		×	×	×	;
	Time Co			Historical		х					Х	Х		Х	Х							Х	х			х		Х		х				
			Hvdro-	power																×														I
		ſ	Flood	Control																														ļ
			Reservoir Svstem	Operations																														Γ
			Water	Demand																	×												×	Γ
	. Theme(s		Ground-	water																														ſ
	esource		Water	Quality																														Ī
	œ		Eco-	systems			×			×	×					×					×											×		Γ
		Γ	Sea Level	Rise							×		×																					Γ
			Runoff and Surface Water	Supplies		×		×	×		×	×		х	×	х	×	×		×	×		×	×		×	×	×		×			×	ſ
Article		ſ	Regional or Local Climate	Change	×	×	×		×		х		×				×	×	х			х			×				×		х		×	Γ
Peer Reviewed Journal			Journal Articles	(Peer Reviewed)	Meehl et al. 2004	Meko et al. 2007	Miller and Schlegel 2006	Milly et al. 2005	Minder 2010	Mohensi et al. 2003	Moser et al. 2009	Mote 2006	Mote and Salathe 2009	Mote et al. 2008	Mote et al. 2005	Mote et al. 2003	Nash and Gleick 1993	Nash and Gleick 1991	Nozawa et al. 2007	Null et al. 2010	Ojima et al. 1999	Pagano et al. 2004	Painter et al. 2010	Painter et al. 2007	Pan et al. 2004	Passell et al. 2004	Payne et al. 2004	Peterson et al. 2008	Peierce et al. 2009	Pierce et al. 2008	Pirtle et al. 2010	Poiani and Johnson 1993	Purkey et al. 2008	

Peer Reviewed Journal	Article	<b>\$</b>															<b>—</b>										
														eogr	aphi		<u> </u>										
					source	e Theme(s	آ				Time Co	verage	┟	ŝ	rage	┟	-										
	Regional	Runoff and																									
Journal Articles (Peer Reviewed)	or Local Climate Change	Surrace Water Supplies	Sea Level Rise	Eco- systems	Water Quality	Ground- water	Water Demand	Keservoir System Operations	Flood Control	Hydro- power	Historical	Future	N	د د	ž	5											
Rahel and Olden 2008				×								×	×	Ê	×	×	<b>—</b>										
Rahmstorf 2007			×								×	×		Ļ	-	$\vdash$	<b>_</b>										
Rahel et al. 2008				×								×	×	Ĉ	×	×	<u> </u>										
Ramirez and Finnerty 1996							×					×		$\vdash$	×												
Rajagopalan et al. 2009		×					×	×			×	×	$\vdash$	ŕ	×		<u> </u>										
Rangwala and Miller 2010	×										×			$\vdash$	×												
Rauscher et al. 2008		×										×	×	Ĵ	×	×	<u> </u>										
Ray et al. 2010				×							×	×	×	Ĵ	×	×											
Reclamation 2009	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	Ŷ	×	×											
Reclamation 2007		×					×	×	×	×	×	×		Ê	×												
Regonda et al. 2005		×									×		×	Ĵ	×	×											
Reichler and Kim 2008	×										×	×	×	Ĵ	×	×											
Revelle and Waggoner 1983	×										×	×	×	$\hat{}$	×	×											
Rosenweig et al. 2001				×							×	×															
Rosenberg et al. 2010	x	×									х	×	×														
Rosenberg et al. 1999		×				×	×					×				×											
Scanlon et al. 2007				×							×			$\vdash$		×											
Seager and Vecchi 2010	×											×	~	Ŷ	×	×											
Seager et al. 2007	×	×										×	~	$\hat{}$	×	×											
Serrat-Capdevila et al. 2007	×	×										×		Ĥ													
Sheppard et al. 2002	×										х			$\hat{}$	×	×											
Shin and Sardeshmukh 2010	×										×		×	~	×	×											
Slaughter and Wiener 2007							×				×		×														
Stefan et al. 2001	×			×								×	×	$\hat{}$	×	×											
Stewart 2009		×									х		×	$\hat{}$	×	×											
Stewart et al. 2005	×	Х									Х		×	$\overline{}$	×	×											
Stewart et al. 2004		×										×	×	Ĵ	×	×											
Stine 1994	х										х		-	~													
Stoelinga et al. 2010	×	×									×		×														
		Τ	GР		×	×		×					×	×				×	×	×	×		×	×	×		
-----------------------	------	--------------	--	-----------------------	-----------------	---------------------	----------------------	-------------------	-------------------------	------------------	-----------------------	--------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------	----------------------------	------------------------	-------------------	-------------	----------------------	----------------------	----------------------------	------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------
	phic	ge	n		×	×		×					×	×		×		×	×	×	×		×	×	×	$\times$	
	ogra	over	Ľ	×	×	×	×	×					×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×
	ð,	ŏ	ЧЬ		×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×			×	×	×	×			×	×	×		×
		$\downarrow$	N		×	×		×		×			×	×				×	×	×			×	×	×		
		verage	Future	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×		х					×	×	×	×	×	×			×
	i	Time Co	Historical	Х		×	×				х		×	Х	Х	Х		х				Х		×	×	Х	
			Hydro- power																								
			Flood Control					×					×														
			Reservoir System Operations						×			×															
		ش	Water Demand							×																	
	i	E Theme	Ground- water																								
		source	Water Quality																								
		"[	Eco- systems	×													×	×	х		х	х	×				
			Sea Level Rise				×				×									×							×
s			Runoff and Surface Water Supplies		×			×	×	×		×				х									×	×	
Article			Regional or Local Climate Change		×	×		×	×	×				х	×	х				х				×	×	×	
Peer Reviewed Journal			Journal Articles (Peer Reviewed)	Stromberg et al. 2007	Sun et al. 2007	Tebaldi et al. 2006	Thompson et al. 2008	Trapp et al. 2007	Van Rheenen et al. 2004	Vano et al. 2009	Vermeer and Rahmstorf	Vicuna et al. 2010	Villarini et al. 2009	Washington et al. 2000	Weiss and Overpeck 2005	Weiss et al. 2009	Westerling and Bryant 2008	Westerling et al. 2006	Wiens et al. 2009	Wigley 2005	Williams et al. 2009	Williams et al. 2008	Wolkovich and Cleland 2010	Wood et al. 2002	Woodhouse and Cook 2009	Woodhouse et al. 2006	Yin et al. 2010

Peer Reviewed Synthesi:	s Docum	nents an	d Report	S													
					Resource	e Theme(s					Time Co	verage		So S	Jraph erag	ه ا	
Synthesis Documents and Reports (Peer Reviewed)	Regional or Local Climate Change	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	Sea Level Rise	Eco- systems	Water Quality	Ground- water	Water Demand	Reservoir System Operations	Flood Control	Hydro- power	Historical	Future	Z	đ	<u>د</u> د	<u></u> ଓ ସ	0
Allan et al. 2005				×								×	×	×	×	×	
Bates et al. 2008	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\times}$	
Beukema et al. 2007				×								×	×	$\vdash$	×	$\frac{1}{\times}$	
Bindoff et al. 2007			×										╞	┢	┢	$\vdash$	
Breshears et al. 2005	×	×		×								×		$\times$	×	^ ×	
Bull et al. 2007							×					×	×	×	×	^ ×	
CA DWR 2006	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×		×		×	×		
CBO 2009	×	×		×		×						×	×	×	×	$\sim$	
CCSP 2009				×								×	×	×	×	×	
CCSP2008	×								×			×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Collins et al. 2007	×												×	×	×	×	
Covich et al. 2003				×								×				×	
Dai 2010	×										×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
D'Antonio 2006	×	×		×			×		×		×	×				×	
Gutowski et al. 2008	×								×			×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Haak et al. 2010				×							×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Hatfield et al. 2008							×					×	×	×	×	$\sim$	
IPCC 2007	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
IPCC 2001	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
IPCC 1996	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Janetos et al. 2008				×								×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Lettenmaier et al. 2008a		×		×			×				×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Mastin 2008		×										×	×				
Nakicenovic and Swart 2000	×											×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Reiners et al. 2003				×							х	х	×	×	×	×	
Robinson et al. 2008				×								×	×	×	×	×	
Ryan et al. 2008				×		×	×				×	×	×	×	×	^ ×	
Scott et al. 2007										×		×	×	$\times$	×	^ ×	
Vicuna and Dracup 2007		×									×	×		×	×		

Nonpeer Reviewed Doc	:uments															
				Resou	rce The	me(s)				Time Co	verage		Co Co	graph erag	e ic	
Synthesis Documents, Reports and Other (Nonpeer Reviewed)	Regional or Local Climate Change	Runoff and Surface Water Supplies	Sea Level Rise	Flood Control	Hydro- power	Eco- systems	Water Quality	Ground- water	Water Demand	Historical	Future	Nd	ط ع	 ខ	ິ ຊ	e.
ASCE 1990									×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
BRAC 2007	×	×	×			×			×	×	×				×	
CA DWR 2009	×	×									×		×	×		
CALFED ISB 2007			×								×		×	×		
Frederick 1997							×				×	х	×	×	×	×
Hann 2002		×										×	×	×	×	×
Hasumi and Emori 2002	×										×	×	×	×	×	×
IDSCU 2005		×							×			×	×	×	×	×
Kirkpatrick et al. 2009						×				×				×		
Mathews 2008						×				×	×					×
Pacific Institute 2009									×			×	×	×	×	×

Adams, H.D., M. Guardiola-Claramonte, G.A. Barron-Gafford, J. Camilo Villegas, D.D. Breshears, C.B. Zou, P.A. Troch, and T.E. Huxman. 2009. "Temperature sensitivity of drought-induced tree mortality portends increased regional die-off under global-changetype drought." *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 106(17):7063–66, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901438106.

- American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). 1990. Manual No. 70, Evapotranspiration and Irrigation Water Requirements. ASCE, Reston, Virginia.
- Allan, J.D, M. Palmer, and N.L. Poff. 2005. "Climate Change and Freshwater Ecosystems." *Climate Change and Biodiversity*, edited by Thomas E. Lovejoy and Lee Hannah. Yale University Press.
- Allen, C.D. 2007. "Interactions across spatial scales among forest dieback, fire, and erosion in northern New Mexico landscapes." *Ecosystems*, 10(5), 797–808, doi:10.1007/s10021-007-9057-4.
- Allen, C.D., A I. Macalady, H. Chenchouni, D. Bachelet, N. McDowell, M. Vennetier, T. Kitzberger, A. Rigling, D.D. Breshears, E.H. Hogg, P. Gonzalez, R. Fensham, Z. Zhang, J. Castro, N. Demidova, J-H Lim, G. Allard, S.W. Running, A. Semerci, and N. Cobb. 2010. "A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emrging climate change risks for forests." *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 660-684.
- Anderson, J., F. Chung, M. Anderson, L. Brekke, D. Easton, M. Ejeta,
  R. Peterson, and R. Snyder. 2008. "Progress on Incorporating Climate Change into Management of California's Water Resources." *Climatic Change*, Springer, Netherlands, Volume 89, Supplement 1, pp. 91–108. Published online December 22, 2007. ISSN: 0165-0009 (Print) 1573–1480. (Online) DOI: 10.1007/s10584-007-9353-1.
- Andreadis, K.M., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2006. "Trends in 20<sup>th</sup> century drought over the continental United States." *Geophysical Research Letters 33*, L10403, doi:10.1029/2006GL025711.
- Ansu, K., and C. McCarney. 2008. "Climate Change Bibliography." *The Wildlife Professional.* Fall 2008, Vol. 2, No. 3. Available online at http://joomla.wildlife.org/ccbib/ccbib.pdf.
- Bala, G., R.B. Rood, A. Mirin, J. McClean, K. Achutarao, D. Bader, P. Gleckler, R.9 Neale, and P. Rash. 2008. "Evaluation of a CCSM3 simulation with a finite volume 10 dynamical core for the atmosphere at 1 deg lat x 1.25 deg lon resolution." *J.11 Climate*, 21: 1467–1486.

- Baldocchi, D., and S. Wong. 2006. An Assessment of the Impacts of Future CO<sub>2</sub> and Climate on California Agriculture. Prepared for California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2005-187-SF.
- Bark, R.H., B.G. Colby, and F. Dominguez. 2009. "Snow days? Snowmaking adaptation and the future of low latitude, high elevation skiing in Arizona, USA." *Climatic Change*, DOI 10.1007/s10584-009-9708-x.
- Barnett, T.P., and D.W. Pierce. 2009. "When Will Lake Mead Go Dry?" Water Resources Research, 44, W03201, doi:10.1029/2007WR006704.
- Barnett, T.P., and D.W. Pierce. 2009a. "Sustainable water deliveries from the Colorado River in a changing climate." Proc. *Ntl. Acad. Sci.*, 106(18): 7334–7338. Available online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/ pnas.0812762106.
- Barnett, T.P., and D.W. Pierce. 2009b. Reply to Comment by J.J. Barsugli et al. on "When will Lake Mead go dry?" *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 45, W09602, doi:10.1029/2009WR008219.
- Barnett, T.P., D.W. Pierce, H.G. Hidalgo, C. Bonfils, B.D. Santer, T. Das,
  G. Bala, A. Wood, T. Nazawa, A. Mirin, D. Cayan, and M. Dettinger.
  2008. "Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the Western United States." *Science*, 319(5866), 1080–1083, doi:10.1126/science.1152538.
- Barsugli, J., K. Nowak, B. Rajagopalan, J. Prairie, and B. Harding. 2009. Comment on "When Will Lake Mead Go Dry?" by T.P. Barnett and D.W. Pierce. *Water Resour. Res.*, 45, Art. No. W09601, issn: 0043-1397, ids 497LH, doi: 10.1029/2008WR007627.
- Bates, B.C., Z.W. Kundzewicz, S. Wu, and J.P. Palutikof (eds.). 2008. "Climate Change and Water." *Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva. 210 pp.
- Battin, J., M.W. Wiley, M.H. Ruckelshaus, R.N. Palmer, E. Korb, K.K. Bartz, and H. Imaki. 2007. "Projected impacts of climate change on salmon habitat restoration." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104(16): 6720–6725.
- Battles, J.J., T. Robards, A. Das, K. Saring, J.Keith Gilless, G. Biging, and F. Schurr. 2008. "Climate change impacts on forest growth and tree mortality: a data-driven modeling study in the mixed-conifer forest of the Sierra Nevada, California." *Climatic Change*, 87, (Suppl 1):S193-S213, doi:10.1007/s10584-007-9358-9.

- Beauchamp, V.B., and J.C. Stromberg. 2007. "Flow Regulation of the Verde River, Arizona Encourages Tamarix Recruitment but Has Minimal Effect on Populus and Salix Stand Density." *Wetlands*, 27(2): 381–389.
- Beckley, B.D., F.G. Lemoine, S.B. Luthcke, R.D. Ray, and N.P. Zelensky. 2007.
  "A reassessment of global and regional mean sea level trends from TOPEX and Jason-1 altimetry based on revised reference frame and orbits." *Geophysical Research Letters* 34:L14608.
- Beever, E.A., C. Ray, P.W. Mote, and J.L. Wilkening. 2010. "Testing alternative models of climate-mediated extirpations." *Ecological Applications*, 20(1), 2010, pp. 164-178.
- Bell, J.L., L.C. Sloan, and M.A. Snyder. 2004. "Regional Changes in Extreme Climatic Events: A Future Climate Scenario." *Journal of Climate*, 17(1), 81–87.
- Bell, J.L., and L.C. Sloan. 2006. "CO<sub>2</sub> sensitivity of extreme climate events in the Western United States." *Earth Interactions*, 10. Available online at http://EarthInteractions.org.
- Beukema, S.J., D.C.E. Robinson, and L.A. Greig. 2007. Forests, Insects & Pathogens and Climate Change: Workshop Report. Prepared for The Western Wildlands Threat Assessment Center, Prineville, Oregon. 39 pp.
- Bindoff, N.L., J. Willebrand, V. Artale, A, Cazenave, J. Gregory, S. Gulev,
  K. Hanawa, C. Le Quéré, S. Levitus, Y. Nojiri, C.K. Shum, L.D. Talley,
  and A. Unnikrishnan. 2007. "Observations: Oceanic Climate Change
  and Sea Level" in *Climate Change 2007*. The Physical Science Basis.
  Contribution of Working Group I to the *Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, Solomon, S., D. Qin,
  M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and
  H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United
  Kingdom and New York, New York.
- Bloom, A.J. 2010. *Global Climate Change, Convergence of Disciplines*. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachussetts. 398 pp.
- Blue Ribbon Advisory Council (BRAC) Report on Climate Change. 2007. *Climate Change and Utah: The Scientific Consensus – Executive Summary*. Available online at http://www.deq.utah.gov/BRAC\_Climate/ docs/Final\_Report/Sec-A-1\_SCIENCE\_REPORT.pdf.

- Bonfils, C., D.W. Pierce, B.D. Santer, H. Hidalgo, G. Bala, T. Das, T. Barnett, C. Doutriaux, A.W. Wood, A, Mirin, and T. Nazawa. 2008. "Detection and attribution of temperature changes in the mountainous Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 21(23): 6404–6424, doi:10.1175/ 2008JCLI2397.1.
- Bonfils, C., P.B. Duffy, B.D. Santer, T.M.L. Wigley, D.B. Lobell, T.J. Phillips, and C. Doutriaux. 2007. *Identification of External Influences on Temperatures in California*. Prepared for California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2007-047.
- Brekke, L.D., Kiang, J.E., Olsen, J.R., Pulwarty, R.S., Raff, D.A., Turnipseed, D.P., Webb, R.S., and White, K.D. 2009a. *Climate Change and Water Resources Management—A Federal Perspective*. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1331. 65 p. Also available online at http://pubs.usgs.gov/ circ/1331/.
- Brekke, L.D., E.P. Maurer, J.D. Anderson, M.D. Dettinger, E.S. Townsley, A. Harrison, and T. Pruitt. 2009b. "Assessing Reservoir Operations Risk under Climate Change." *Water Resour. Res.*, doi:10.1029/ 2008WR006941, in press.
- Brekke, L.D., M.D. Dettinger, E.P. Maurer, and M. Anderson. 2008. "Significance of model credibility in estimating climate projection distributions for regional hydroclimatological risk assessments." *Climatic Change*, 89(3-4), 371–394.
- Breshears, D.D., N.S. Cobb, P.M. Rich, K.P. Price, C.D. Allen, R.G. Balice,
  W.H. Romme, J.H. Kastens, M.L. Floyd, J. Belnap, J J. Anderson,
  O.B. Myers, and C.W. Meyer. 2005. "Regional vegetation die-off in response to global-change-style drought." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102(42): 15144–8.
- Brown, T.J., B.L. Hall, and A.L. Westerling. 2004. "The impact of twenty-first century climate change on wildland fire danger in the Western United States: An applications perspective." *Climatic Change*, 62: 365–388.
- Bull, S.R., D.E. Bilello, J, Ekmann, M.J. Sale, and D.K. Schmalzer. 2007.
  "Effects of climate change on energy production and distribution in the United States." *Effects of Climate Change on Energy Production and Use in the United States*, a report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global change Research. Washington, DC.

- Burkett, V., and J. Kusler. 2000. Climate Change: "Potential Impacts and Interactions in Wetlands of the United States." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*. Vol. 36, No. 2, p.313–320, 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2000.tb04270.x.
- CA-DWR (California Department of Water Resources). 2009. "Using Future Climate Projections to Support Water Resources Decision Making in California," draft report from the California Energy Commission, CEC-500-2009-052-D., F. Chung et al., (eds.). 66 pp.
- CA-DWR. 2006. Progress on Incorporating Climate Change into Planning and Management of California's Water Resources - Technical Memorandum Report.
- Caldwell, P. 2010. "California Wintertime Precipitation Bias in Regional and Global Climate Models." *Journal of the American Meteorlogical Society*. *Vol. 49*, DOI: 10.1175/2010JAMC2388.1.
- CALFED ISB. 2007. Projections of Sea Level Rise for the Delta. A memo from Mike Healey CALFED lead scientist to John Kirlin Executive Director of the Delta Blue Ribbon Task Force, September 6, 2007. Available online at http://deltavision.ca.gov/BlueRibbonTaskForce/Sept2007/ Handouts/Item\_9.pdf.
- Casola, J.H., L. Cuo, B. Livneh, D.P. Lettenmaier, M. Stoelinga, P.W. Mote, and J.M. Wallace. 2009. "Assessing the impacts of global warming on snowpack in the Washington Cascades." *Journal of Climate* 22:2758-2772, doi: 10.1175/2008JCLI2612.1.
- Cayan, D.R., T. Das, D.W. Pierce, T.P. Barnett, M. Tyreea, and A. Gershunova. 2010. "Future dryness in the southwest US and the hydrology of the early 21<sup>st</sup> century drought." *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences*, (in press).
- Cayan, D.R., P.D. Bromirski, K. Hayhoe, M. Tyree, M.D. Dettinger, and R.E. Flick. 2008. "Climate change projections of sea level extremes along the California coast." *Climatic Change*. (2008) 87 (Suppl 1):S57–S73 DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9376-7
- Cayan, D.R., S.A. Kammerdiener, M.D. Dettinger, J.M. Caprio, and
  D.H. Peterson. 2001. "Changes in the Onset of Spring in the Western United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorology Society* 82(3): 399–415.
- CCSP (Climate Change Science Program). 2009. *Thresholds of Climate Change in Ecosystems*. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Fagre, D.B., C.W.

Charles, C.D. Allen, C. Birkeland, F.S. Chapin III, P.M. Groffman, G.R. Guntenspergen, A.K. Knapp, A.D. McGuire, P.J. Mulholland, D.P.C. Peters, D.D. Roby, and George Sugihara (eds.). U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia. 156 pp.

- CCSP. 2008. Weather and Climate Extremes in a Changing Climate. Regions of Focus: North America, Hawaii, Caribbean, and U.S.Pacific Islands. A Report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. Thomas R. Karl, Gerald A. Meehl, Christopher D. Miller, Susan J. Hassol, Anne M. Waple, and William L. Murray (eds.). Department of Commerce, NOAA's National Climatic Data Center, Washington, DC. 164 pp
- Changnon, S.A. 2001. "Thunderstorm rainfall in the conterminous United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorology Society*, 82, 1925–1940.
- Christensen, N.S., A.W. Wood, N. Voisin, and D. Lettenmaier. 2004. "The Effects of Climate Change on the Hydrology and Water Resources of the Colorado River Basin." *Climatic Change* 62: 337–363.
- Christensen, N.S., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "A multimodel ensemble approach to assessment of climate change impacts on the hydrology and water resources of the Colorado River Basin." *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 11, 1417–1434. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/ 11/1417/2007/.
- Christidis, N., P.A. Stott, S. Brown, D.J. Karoly, and J. Caesar. 2007. "Human Contribution to the Lengthening of the Growing Season during 1950–99." *Journal of Climate* 20: 5441–5454.
- Church, J.A., and N.J. White. 2006. "A 20<sup>th</sup> century acceleration in global sealevel rise." *Geophysical Research Letters* 33: L01602.
- Clow, D.W. 2010. Changes in the Timing of Snowmelt and Streamflow in Clorado: A Response to Recent Warming. *Journal of Climate*, doi: 10.1175/2009JCLI2951.1.
- Collins, W.D., C.M. Bitz, M.L. Blackmon, G.B. Bonan, C.S. Bretherton,
  J.A. Carton, P. Chang, S.C. Doney, J.J. Hack, T.B. Henderson, J.T. Kiehl,
  W.G. Large, D.S. McKenna, B.D. Santer, and R.D. Smith. 2007. "The
  Community Climate 6 System Model: CCSM3." *Journal of Climate CCSM3* special issue, 19, 2144–7 2161.
- Congressional Budget Office (CBO). 2009. *Potential Impacts of Climate Change in the United States*. Prepared at the request of the Chairman of the Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resource. May 2009.

- Conly, F.M., and G. van der Kamp. 2001. "Monitoring the Hydrology of Canadian Prairie Wetlands to Detect the Effects of Climate Change and Land Use Changes." *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 67 (1, 2): 195–215.
- Cook, E.R., C.A. Woodhouse, C.M. Eakin, D.M. Meko, and D.W. Stahle. 2004. "Long-term aridity changes in the Western United States." *Science*, 306, 1015–1018.
- Cook, B., E. Cook, K. Anchukaitis, R. Seager, and R. Miller. 2010. "Forced and unforced variability of twentieth century North American droughts and pluvials." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI: 10.1007/s00382-010-0897-9.
- Cooney, S.J., et al. 2005. "Modeling global warming scenarios in greenback cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii stomias) streams: implications for species recovery." Western North American Naturalist, 65(3), p.371–381. Available online at http://contentdm.lib.byu.edu/cdm4/document.php? CISOROOT=/NANaturalist&CISOPTR=5106&REC=20.
- Covich, P., et al. 2003. "Natural ecosystems II: Aquatic Ecosystems." Rocky Mountain/Great Basin Regional Climate Change Assessment, report for the U.S. Global Change Research Program, F.H. Wagner (ed.), 145–184. Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Available online at http://www.usgcrp.gov/usgcrp/nacc/background/regions.htm.
- Covich, A.P., S.C. Fritz, P.J. Lamb, R.D. Marzolf, W.J. Matthews, K.A. Poiani, E.E. Prepas, M.B. Richman, and T.C. Winter. 1997. "Potential Effects of Climate Change on Aquatic Ecosystems of the Great Plains of North America." *Hydrological Processes* 11(8): 993–1021.
- Crimmins, T.M., M.A. Crimmins, and C.D. Bertelsen. 2009. "Flowering range changes across an elevation gradient in response to warming summer temperatures." *Global Change Biology* 15: 1141–1152, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01831.x.
- D'Antonio, J.R. 2006. *The Impact of Climate Change on New Mexico's Water Supply and Ability to Manage Water Resources*. July 2006 Report to the Governor.
- Dai, A. 2006. "Precipitation Characteristics in Eighteen Coupled Climate Models." *Journal of Climate*, 19: 4605–4630.
- Dai, A., T. Qian, and K.E. Trenberth. 2009. "Changes in Continental Freshwater Discharge from 1948 to 2004." *Journal of Climate*, Vol. 22, doi:10.1175/ 2008JCLI2592.1.

- Dai, A. 2010. "Drought under global warming: a review." WIREs Climate Change, DOI: 10.1002/wcc.81.
- Das, T., H.G. Hidalgo, M.D. Dettinger, D.R. Cayan, D.W. Pierce, C. Bonfils, T.P. Barnett, G. Bala, and A. Mirin. 2009. "Structure and Detectability of Trends in Hydrological Measures over the Western United States." *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, Vol. 10, doi:10.1175/2009JHM1095.1.
- DeFalco L.A., G.C.J. Fernandez, and R.S. Nowak. 2007. "Variation in the establishment of a nonnative annual grass influences competitive interactions with Mojave Desert perennials." *Biological Invasions* 9: 293–307.
- Dettinger, M. 2005. "From climate-change spaghetti to climate-change distributions for 21<sup>st</sup> century California." *San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science*. 3(1). Available online at http://escholarship.org/uc/item/2pg6c039.
- Dettinger, M.D., and D.R. Cayan. 2003. "Interseasonal covariability of Sierra Nevada streamflow and San Francisco Bay salinity." *Journal of Hydrology*, 277(3/4), 164–181.
- Dettinger, M.D., and D.R. Cayan. 1995. "Large-scale Atmospheric Forcing of Recent Trends toward Early Snowmelt Runoff in California." *Journal of Climate*, Vol. 8(3).
- Dettinger, M.D., D.R. Cayan, M.K. Meyer, and A.E. Jeton. 2004. "Simulated Hydrologic Responses to Climate Variations and Change in the Merced, Carson, and American River Basins, Sierra Nevada, California, 1900– 2099." *Climatic Change* 62: 282–317.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., and M. Ashfaq. 2010. "Intensification of hot extremes in the United States." *Geophysical Research Letters* 37: L15701, doi:10.1029/ 2010GL043888.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., F. Giorgi, and J.S. Pal. 2008. "Climate change hotspots in the United States." *Geophysical Research Letters* 35: L16709, doi:10.1029/ 2008GL035075.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., J.S. Pal, et al. 2005. "Fine-scale Processes Regulate the Response of Extreme Events to Global Climate Change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102(44): 15774–8.
- Dominguez, F., J. Cañon, and J. Valdes. 2010. "IPCC-AR4 climate simulations for the Southwestern United States: the importance of future ENSO projections." *Climatic Change* 99: 499–514.

- Easterling, D.R. 2002. "Recent changes in frost days and the frost-free season in the United States." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 83, doi: 10.1175/1520–0477.
- Eddy, R.L. 1996. Variability of wet and dry periods in the Upper Colorado River Basin and the possible effects of climate change [microform]; and, Sensitivity of probable maximum precipitation estimates to climate change. Richard L. Eddy, Publisher, Denver, Colorado. U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Denver Office. Available from the National Technical Information Service, Operations Division, Springfield, Virginia.
- Elgaali, E., L A. Garcia, and D.S. Ojima. 2007. "High-resolution modeling of the regional impacts of climate change on irrigation water demand." *Climatic Change*, Vol. 84: 3–4.
- Ellis, A.W., T.W. Hawkins, R.C. Balling, and P. Gober. 2008. "Estimating future runoff levels for a semiarid fluvial system in central Arizona." *Climate Research* 35: 227–239.
- Elsner, M.M., L. Cuo, N. Voisin, J.S. Deems, A.F. Hamlet, J.A. Vano, K.E.B. Mickelson, S. Lee, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Implications of 21<sup>st</sup> Century Climate Change for the Hydrology of Washington State." *Climatic Change* (2010) 102:225–260.
- Fang, X., H.G. Stefan, J.G. Eaton, J.H. McCormickc, and S.R. Alama. 2004a. "Simulation of thermal/dissolved oxygen habitat for fishes in lakes under different climate scenarios Part 1. Cool-water fish in the contiguous United States." *Journal of Ecological Modeling*, Vol. 172: 13–37, doi:10.1016/S0304-3800(03)00282-5.
- Fang, X., H.G. Stefan, J.G. Eaton, J.H. McCormickc, and S.R. Alama. 2004b. "Simulation of thermal/dissolved oxygen habitat for fishes in lakes under different climate scenarios Part 2. Cool-water fish in the contiguous United States." *Journal of Ecological Modeling*, Vol. 172: 39–54, doi:10.1016/S0304-3800(03)00285-0.
- Favre, A., and A. Gershunov. 2008. "North Pacific cyclonic and anticyclonic transients in a global warming context: Possible consequences for western North American daily precipitation and temperature extremes." *Climate Dynamics* 32: 969–987, doi:10.1007/s00382-008-0417-3.
- Ficke, A.D., C.A. Myrick, and L.J.Hansen. 2007. "Potential impacts of global climate change fisheries." *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 17(4): 581–613, 10.1007/s11160-007-9059-5.

- Frederick, K. 1997. "Water Resources and Climate Change." *Climate Issues Brief No. 3*, Climate Economics and Policy Program.
- Garbrecht, J.D., M. Van Liew, and G.O. Brown. 2004. "Trends in Precipitation, Streamflow, and Evapotranspiration in the Great Plains of the United States." *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 9(5): 360–367.
- Gershunov, A., D.R. Cayan, and S.F. Iacobellis. 2009. "The Great 2006 heat wave over California and Nevada: Signal of an Increasing Trend." *J. Climate.*, 22(23), 6181–6203.
- Giorgi, F., and L.O. Mearns. 1991. "Approaches to the Simulation of Regional Climate Change: A Review." *Reviews of Geophysics*, 29(2):191–216.
- Giorgi F., and L. Mearns. 2002. "Calculation of average, uncertainty range, and reliability of regional climate from AOGCM simulations via the "Reliability Ensemble Averaging" (REA) method." *Journal of Climate* 15:1141–1158.
- Gleckler, P.J., K.E. Taylor, and C. Doutriaux. 2008. "Performance metrics for climate models." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 113(D06104).
- Gober, P., C.W. Kirkwood, R.C. Balling, A.W. Ellis, and S. Deitrick. 2010.
  "Water Planning Under Climatic Uncertainty in Phoenix: Why We Need a New Paradigm." *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 100: 356-372, DOI: 10.1080/00045601003595420.
- Groisman, P.Y., R.W. Knight, T.R. Karl, D.R. Easterling, B. Sun, and J.H. Lawrimore. 2004. "Contemporary Changes of the Hydrological Cycle over the Contiguous United States: Trends Derived from in situ Observations." *Journal of Hydrometeorololgy* 5: 64–85.
- Groisman, P.Y., and R.W. Knight. 2008. "Prolonged dry episodes over the conterminous United States: New tendencies emerged during the last 40 years." *Journal of Climate* 21: 1850–1862.
- Grotch, S.L., and M.C. MacCracken. 1991. "The Use of General Circulation Models to Predict Regional Climatic Change." *Journal of Climate*, 4: 286–303.
- Guentchev, G., J.J. Barsugli, and J. Eischeid. 2010. "Homogeneity of Gridded Precipitation Data Sets for the Colorado River Basin. "Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology (in press).

- Gunther, F., F.N. Tubiello, H. van Velthuizen, and D.A. Wiberg. 2006. "Climate change impacts on irrigation water requirements: Effects of mitigation, 1990–2080." *Technological Forecasting & Social Change* 74 (2007) 1083–1107.
- Gutowski, W.J., G.C. Hegerl, G.J. Holland, T.R. Knutson, L.O. Mearns, R.J. Stouffer, P.J. Webster, M.F. Wehner, and F.W. Zwiers. 2008. *Causes of Observed Changes in Extremes and Projections of Future Changes in Weather and Climate Extremes in a Changing Climate*. Regions of Focus: North America, Hawaii, Caribbean, and U.S. Pacific Islands. T.R. Karl, G.A. Meehl, C.D. Miller, S.J. Hassol, A.M. Waple, and W.L. Murray (eds.). A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research. Washington, DC.
- Gutzler, D.S., and T.O. Robbins. 2010. "Climate variability and projected change in the western United States: regional downscaling and drought statistics." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI 10.1007/s00382-010-0838-7.
- Gutzler, D.S., H.K Kim, R.W. Higgins, H. Juang, M. Kanamitsu, K. Mitchell,
  K. Mo, P. Pegion, E. Ritchie, J.K. Schemm, S. Schubert, Y. Song, and
  R. Yang. 2005. "The North American Monsoon Model Assessment
  Project: Integrating numerical modeling into a field-based process study." Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 86: 1423–1429.
- Haak, A.L., J.E. Williams, D. Isaak, C.C. Muhlfeld, J.L. Kershner,
  R.E. Gresswell, S.W. Hostetler, and H.M. Neville. 2010. *The Potential Influence of Changing Climate on the Persistence of Salmonids of the Inland West*. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2010-1236.
- Hamlet, A.F., P.W. Mote, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "20<sup>th</sup> century trends in runoff, evapotranspiration, and soil moisture in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 20(8): 1468–1486, DOI: 10.1175/ JCLI4051.1.
- Hamlet, A.F., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2007. "Effects of 20<sup>th</sup> century warming and climate variability on flood risk in the Western United States." *Water Resources Research* 43, W06427, doi:10.1029/2006WR005099.
- Hamlet, A.F., P.W. Mote, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2005. "Effects of Temperature and Precipitation Variability on Snowpack Trends in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate*, 18(21): 4545–4561.
- Hamlet, A.F., and D.P. Lettenmaier. 1999. "Effects of climate change on hydrology and water resources in the Columbia River Basin." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 35(6):1597–1623.

- Hann, C.T. 2002. *Statistical Methods in Hydrology*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Iowa State Press, Ames, Iowa. pp. 496.
- Harou, J.J., J. Medellín-Azuara, T. Zhu, S.K. Tanaka, J.R. Lund, S. Stine, M.A. Olivares, and M.W. Jenkins. 2010. "Economic consequences of optimized water management for a prolonged, severe drought in California." *Journal of Water Resources Research*, Vol. 46, W05522, doi:10.1029/2008WR007681.
- Hasumi H., and S. Emori (eds.). 2004. K-1 coupled GCM (MIROC) description, K-1 2 Tech. Rep. 1. Center for Clim. Syst. Res. University of Tokyo. 34 pp.
- Hatfield, J., K. Boote, P. Fay, L. Hahn, C. Izaurralde, B.A. Kimball, T. Mader, J. Morgan, D. Ort, W. Polley, A. Thomson, and D. Wolfe. 2008.
  "Agriculture." *The effects of climate change on agriculture, land resources, water resources, and biodiversity in the United States*. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research, Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Hayhoe, K., D. Cayanc, C.B. Field, P.C. Frumhoff, E.P. Maurer, N.L. Miller, S.C. Moser, S.H. Schneider, K.N. Cahill, E.E. Cleland, L. Daleg, R. Drapek, R.M. Hanemann, L.S. Kalkstein, J. Lenihan, C.K. Lunch, R.P. Neilson, S.C. Sheridan, and J.H. Vervillee. 2004. "Emissions Pathways, Climate Change, and Impacts on California." *Proceedings of the National Academy of the Sciences* 101: 34.
- Hellmann, J.J., J.E. Byers, B.G. Bierwagen, and J.S. Dukes. 2008. "Five Potential Consequences of Climate Change for Invasive Species." *Conservation Biology*, Volume 22(3), 534–543, DOI: 10.1111/j.1523– 1739.2008.00951.x.
- Hidalgo H.G., T. Das, M.D. Dettinger, D.R. Cayan, D.W. Pierce, T.P. Barnett, G. Bala, A. Mirin, A.W. Wood, and C. Bonfils. 2009. "Detection and Attribution of Streamflow Timing Changes to Climate Change in the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 22(13): 3838, doi:10.1175/ 2008JCLI2470.1.
- Hidalgo, H.G., M.D. Dettinger, and D.R. Cayan. 2008b. Downscaling with Constructed 13 Analogues: Daily Precipitation and Temperature Fields Over the United States. California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research.15 CEC-500-2007-123. Available online at http://www.energy.ca.gov/2007publications/CEC-500-2007-123/CEC-500-2007-17 123.PDF. 48 pp.
- Hidalgo,H., D. Cayan, and M. Dettinger. 2005. "Sources of Variability of Evapotranspiration in California." *Journal of Hydrometeorology* 6: 3–19.

- Hoerling, M., and J. Eischeid. 2007. "Past Peak Water in the Southwest." *Southwest Hydrology*, 6(1):18–19: 35.
- Hoerling, M., D.P. Lettenmaier, D.R. Cayan, and B. Udall. 2009. "Reconciling Projections of Colorado River Streamflow." Southwest Hydrology 8: 20– 21, 31.
- Hoerling M., J. Eischeid, and J. Perlwitz. 2010. "Regional Precipitation Trends: Distinguishing Natural Variability from Anthropogenic Forcing." *Journal of Climate* (in press).
- Hotchkiss R.H., S.F. Jorgensen, M.C. Stone, and T.A. Fontaine. 2000.
  "Regulated River Modeling for Climate Change Impact Assessment: The Missouri River." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 36 (2): 375–386.
- Hughes, M.K., and H.F. Diaz. 2008. "Climate variability and change in the drylands of Western North America." *Global and Planetary Change* 64(3-4): 111-118, doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2008.07.005.
- Hurd, B.H., and J. Coonrod. 2007. *Climate Change and Its Implications for New Mexico's Water Resources and Economic Opportunities*. Available online at http://agecon.nmsu.edu/bhurd/hurdhome/index.htm.
- IDSCU. 2005. Integrated decision support consumptive use model. Version 3.1.20. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- IPCC (International Panel on Climate Change). 2007. "The Physical Science Basis," contribution of Working Group I to *The Fourth Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 996 pp.
- IPCC. 2001. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Houghton, J.T., et al. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 881 pp.
- IPCC. 1996. Climate Change 1995: The Science of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group I to the Second Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Houghton., J.T., et al. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 572 pp.

- Janetos, A., L. Hansen, D. Inouye, B.P. Kelly, L. Meyerson, B. Peterson, and R. Shaw. 2008. "Biodiversity." *The effects of climate change on agriculture, land resources, water resources, and biodiversity in the United States.* A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research, Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Johnson, C.W., B.V. Millet, T. Gilmanov, R.A. Voldseth, G.R. Guntenspergen, and D.E. Naugle. 2005. "Vulnerability of Northern Prairie Wetlands to Climate Change." *BioScience*, October 2005/Vol. 55 No. 10: 863–872.
- Kalra, A., T.C. Piechota, R. Davies, and G. Tootle. 2008. "Changes in U.S. Streamflow and Western U.S. Snowpack." *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 13:3 156–163.
- Kelly A.E., and M.L. Goulden. 2008. "Rapid shifts in plant distribution with recent climate change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America*, 105: 11823–11826.
- Kennedy, T.L., D.S. Gutzler, and R.L. Leung. 2009. "Predicting future threats to the long-term survival of Gila trout using a high-resolution simulation of climate change." *Climatic Change* 94: 503–515, DOI 10.1007/s10584-008-9503-0.
- Kirkpatrick, C., C.J. Conway, and D. LaRoche. 2009. Surface Water Depletion and Riparian Birds: Final Report. Wildlife Research Report #2009-02. Arizona Game and Fish Department, Phoenix, Arizona. 69 pp.
- Kittel, T.G.F., N.A. Rosenbloom, T.H. Painter, and D.S. Schimel. 1995. VEMAP Modeling Participants. "The VEMAP integrated database for modeling United States ecosystem/vegetation sensitivity to climate change." *Journal of Biogeography* 22: 857–862.
- Knowles, N. 2010. "Potential Inundation Due to Rising Sea Levels in the San Francisco Bay Region." California Climate Change Center. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science, 8(1).
- Knowles, N., and D.R. Cayan. 2004. "Elevational dependence of projected hydrologic changes in the San Francisco estuary and watershed." *Climatic Change*, 62, 319–336.
- Knowles, N., M. Dettinger, and D. Cayan. 2007. Trends in Snowfall Versus Rainfall for the Western United States, 1949–2001. Prepared for California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research Program, Project Report CEC-500-2007-032.
- Kunkel, K.E. 2003. "North American Trends in Extreme Precipiation." *Natural Hazards.* 29: 291–305. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands.

- Kunkel, K.E., D.R. Easterling, K. Redmond, and K. Hubbard. 2003. "Temporal variations of estreme precipitation events in the United States: 1895– 2000." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 30, No. 17, 1900, doi:10.1029/2003GLO18052, 2003.
- Kunkel, K.E., K. Andsager, and D.R. Easterling. 1998. "Long-Term Trends in Extreme Preciptiation Events over the Conterminous United States and Canada." *American Meteorological Society*, Vol. 12, August 1999.
- Lee, S., A.F. Hamlet, C.J. Fitzgerald, and S.J. Burges. 2009. "Optimized Flood Control in the Columbia River Basin for a Global Warming Scenario." *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management*, doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9496(2009)135:6(440).
- Lettenmaier, D., D. Major, L. Poff, and S. Running. 2008a. "Water Resources." *The Effects of Climate Change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States.* A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research, Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Lettenmaier, D.P. 2004. "The role of climate in water resources planning and management." pp. 247–266 in R. Lawford, D. Fort, H. Hartmann, and S. Eden (eds.), *Water: Science, Policy, and Management*, AGU Press Monograph, 422 pp.
- Lettenmaier, D.P., A.W. Wood, R.N. Palmer, E.F. Wood, and E.Z. Stakhiv. 1999. "Water Resources Implications of Global Warming: A U.S. Regional Perspective." *Climatic Change* 43(3):537–79.
- Leung, L.R., Y. Qian, X.D. Bian, W.M. Washington, J.G. Han, and J O. Roads. 2004. "Mid-century ensemble regional climate change scenarios for the Western United States." *Climate Change*, 62:75–113.
- Lewis, K.J., and D Hathaway. 2002. "New Mexico Climate and Hydrology: Is the Historic Record Valid for Predictive Modeling?" *Hydrologic Science and Technology*, 19:20–21.
- Lin, J., B.E. Mapes, K.M. Weickmann, G.N. Kiladis, S.D. Schubert, M.J. Suarez, J.T. Bacmeister, and M. Lees. 2008. "North American monsoon and convectively coupled equatorial waves simulated by IPCC AR4 Coupled GCMs." J. Climate, 21:2919–2937.
- Littell, J.S., E.E. Oneil, D. McKenzie, J.A. Hicke, J.A. Lutz, R.A. Norheim, and M.M. Elsner. 2009. "Forest Ecosystems, Disturbances, and Climatic Change in Washington State, USA." *Climatic Change*, DOI 10.1007/ s10584-010-9859-x.

- Loáiciga, H.A., D.R. Maidment, and J B. Valdes. 2000. "Climate-change impacts in a regional karst aquifer, Texas." *Journal of Hydrology*, 227:173–194.
- Logan, J.A., J. Regniere, and J.A. Powell. 2003. "Assessing the impacts of global warming on forest pest dynamics." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 1:130–137.
- Luce, C.H., and Z.A. Holden. 2009. "Declining annual streamflow distributions in the Pacific Northwest United States, 1948–2006." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 36, L16401, doi:10.1029/2009GL039407.
- Lundquist, J.D., M.D. Dettinger, I.T. Stewart, and D.R. Cayan. 2009. "Variability and Trends in Spring Runoff in the Western United States." *Climate warming in western North America—Evidence and environmental effects*, University of Utah Press. pp. 63-76.
- MacDonald, G.M., et al. 2008. "Climate Warming and 21<sup>st</sup> Century Drought in Southwestern North America." *Eos Trans. AGU*, 89(9), doi:10.1029/ 2008EO090003.
- MacDonald, G.M. 2008. "Southern California and the perfect drought: Simultaneous prolonged drought in southern California and the Sacramento and Colorado River systems." *Quaternary International* 188: 11–23.
- Madsen, T., and E. Figdor. 2007. "When It Rains It Pours Global Warming and the Rising Frequency of Extreme Precipitation in the United States." Environment America Research and Policy Center. Available online at http://www.environmentamerica.org/uploads/oy/ws/oywshWAwZy-EXPsabQKd4A/When-It-Rains-It-Pours----US---WEB.pdf.
- Mantua, N.J., I. Tohver, and A.F. Hamlet. 2010. "Climate change impacts on streamflow extremes and summertime stream temperature and their possible consequences for freshwater salmon habitat in Washington State." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 187-223, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9845-2.
- Marinec, J., and A. Rango. 1989. "Effects of Climate Change on Snowmelt Runoff Patterns." *Remote Sensing and Large-Scale Global Processes -Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences Third International Assembly*, IAHS Publ. 186 p.
- Mastin, M.C. 2008. "Effects of potential future warming on runoff in the Yakima River Basin, Washington." U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2008-5124. 12 pp.

- Matter, M.A., L.A. Garcia, D.G. Fontane, and B. Bledsoe. 2010. "Characterizing hydroclimatic variability in tributaries of the Upper Colorado River Basin—WY1911-2001." *Journal of Hydrology*, 380:260–276. Available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.10.040.
- Maurer, E.P., H. G. Hidalgo, T. Das, M.D. Dettinger, and D.R. Cayan. 2010. "The utility of daily large-scale climate data in the assessment of climate change impacts on daily streamflow in California." *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Journal*, Vol. 14:1125–1138. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/14/1125/2010/doi:10.5194/hess-14-1125-2010.
- Maurer, E.P. 2007. "Uncertainty in hydrologic impacts of climate change in the Sierra Nevada, California under two emissions scenarios." *Climatic Change*, 82(3–4):309–325, doi: 10.1007/s10584-006-9180-9.
- Mauer E.P., I.T. Stewart, C. Bonfils, P.B. Duffy, and D. Cayan. 2007. "Detection, Attribution, and Sensitivity of Trends toward Earlier Streamflow in the Sierra Nevada." *Journal of Geophysical Science* 112(D11118).
- McAfee, S.A., and J.L. Russell. 2008. "Northern Annular Mode impact on spring climate in the Western United States." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35:L17701, doi:10.1029/2008GL034828.
- McCabe, G.J., and D.M. Wolock. 2007. "Warming May Create Substantial Water Supply Shortages in the Colorado River Basin." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L22708, doi:10.1029/2007GL031764.
- McCabe, G.J., M.A. Palecki, and J L. Betancourt. 2004. "Pacific and Atlantic Ocean influences on multidecadal drought frequency in the United States." *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 101:4136–4141.
- McCarty, J. 2001. "Ecological Consequences of Recent Climate Change." *Journal of Conservation Biology*, Volume 15, No. 2:320–331. Available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2001.015002320.x.
- McDowell, N., C.D. Allen, and L. Marshall. 2010. "Growth, carbon-isotope discrimination, and drought-associated mortality across a Pinus ponderosa elevational transect." *Global Change Biology* 16: 399–415.
- McKenzie, D., Z.E. Gedalof, D.L. Peterson, and P. Mote. 2004. "Climatic Change, Wildfire, and Conservation." *Conservation Biology* 18(4):890–902.

- McKinney, T., D.E. Brown, and L. Allison. 2008. "Winter Precipitation and Recruitment of Pronghorns in Arizona." *The Southwestern Naturalist* 53(3):319–325.
- Meehl, G.A., C. Tebaldi, and D. Nychka. 2004. "Changes in frost days in simulations of twenty-first century climate." *Climate Dynamics* 23:495– 511.
- Meko, D.M., C.A. Woodhouse, C.A. Baisan, T. Knight, J L. Lukas, M.K. Hughes, and M.W. Salzer. 2007. "Medieval drought in the Upper Colorado River Basin." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L10705, doi:10.1029/ 2007GL029988.
- Miller, N.L., and N.J. Schlegel. 2006. "Climate change projected fire weather sensitivity: California Santa Ana wind occurrence." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33:1–5, L15711, doi:10.1029/2006GL025808, 2006.
- Milly, P.C.D., K.A. Dunne, and A.V. Vecchia. 2005. "Global pattern of trends in streamflow and water availability in a changing climate." *Nature*, 438: 347–350.
- Minder, J.R. 2010. "The sensitivity of mountain snowpack accumulation to climate warming." *Journal of Climate* 23:10, 2634–2650.
- Mohseni, O., H.G. Stefan, and J.G. Eaton. 2003. "Global warming and potential changes in fish habitat in U.S. streams." *Climatic Change*, 59(3): 389–409, 10.1023/A:1024847723344.
- Moser, S., G. Franco, S. Pittiglio, W. Chou, and D. Cayan. 2009. The Future Is Now: An Update on Climate Change Science Impacts and Response Options for California. California Energy Commission, PIER Energy-Related Environmental Research Program, CEC-500-2008-071.
- Mote, P.W. 2006. "Climate-driven variability and trends in mountain snowpack in western North America." *J. Climate*, 19: 6209–6220.
- Mote, P.W., A.F. Hamlet, and E.P. Salathé. 2008. "Has spring snowpack declined in the Washington Cascades?" *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 12: 193–206.
- Mote, P.W., A.F. Hamlet, M.P. Clark, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2005. "Declining mountain snowpack in western North America." *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.*, 86:39–49.

- Mote, P.W., E.A. Parson, A.F. Hamlet, W.S. Keeton, D. Lettenmair, N. Mantua, E.L. Miles, D.W. Peterson, D.L. Peterson, R. Slaughter, and A.K. Snover. 2003. "Preparing for Climate Change: the Water, Salmon, and Forests of the Pacific Northwest." *Climatic Change* 61:45–88.
- Mote, P.W., and E.P. Salathé. 2010. "Future climate in the Pacific Northwest." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 29-50, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9848-z.
- Nakićenović, N., and R. Swart (eds.). 2000. Special Report on Emissions Scenarios. A Special Report of Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, New York. 599 pp.
- Nash, L.L., and P.H. Gleick. 1993. The Colorado River Basin and Climatic Change: The Sensitivity of Streamflow and Water Supply to Variations in Temperature and Precipitation. United States Environmental Protection Agency: 121.
- Nash, L.L., and P.H. Gleick. 1991. "The Sensitivity of Streamflow in the Colorado River Basin to Climatic Changes." *Journal of Hydrology*, 125: 221–241.
- Nozawa, T., T. Nagashima, T. Ogura, T. Yokohata, N. Okada, and H. Shiogama.
  2007. Climate change simulations with a coupled ocean-atmosphere GCM called the Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate: MIROC. CGER's Supercomputer monograph report, Vol. 12, Center for Global Environmental Research, National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan. 93 pp.
- Null, S.E., J.H. Viers, and J.F. Mount. 2010. "Hydrologic Response and Watershed Sensitivity to Climate Warming in California's Sierra Nevada." *PLoS One.* Vol. 5(4): e9932, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009932.
- Ojima D., L. Garcia, E. Elgaali, K. Miller, T.G.F. Kittel, and J. Lackett. 1999. "Potential Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources in the Great Plains." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 35 (6): 1443–1454.
- Pacific Institute. 2009. Water Scarcity & Climate Change: Growing Risks for Business and Investors. A Ceres Report, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Pagano, T., P. Pasteris, M. Dettinger, D. Cayan, and K. Redman. 2004. "Water Year 2004: Western water managers feel the heat." *Eos, Transactions of the American Geophysical Union* 85(40): 385, 392–393.

- Painter, T.H., A.P. Barrett, C.C. Landry, J.C. Neff, M.P. Cassidy, C.R. Lawrence, K.E. McBride, and G.L. Farmer. 2007. "Impact of disturbed desert soils on duration of mountain snow cover." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34:L12502, doi:10.1029/2007gl030284.
- Painter, T.H., J.S. Deems, J. Belnap, A.F. Hamlet, C.C. Landry, and B. Udall. 2010. "Response of Colorado River runoff to dust radiative forcing in snow." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, October 5, 2010, 1007(40): 17125–30.
- Pan, Z., R.W. Arritt, E.S. Takle, W.J. Gutowski, C.J. Anderson, and M. Segal. 2004. "Altered Hydrologic Feedback in a Warming Climate Introduces a 'Warming Hole." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31:L17109.
- Passell, H.D., C.N. Dahm, and E.J. Bedrick. 2004. "Hydrological and Geochemical Trends and Patterns in the Upper Rio Grande, 1975 to 1999." Journal of the American Water Resources Association (40):111– 127.
- Payne, J.T., A.W. Wood, A.F. Hamlet, R.N. Palmer, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2004.
  "Mitigating the effects of climate change on the water resources of the Columbia River Basin." *Climatic Change* 62(1–3):233–256.
- Peterson, D.H., I. Stewart, and F. Murphy. 2008. "Principal Hydrologic Responses to Climatic and Geologic Variability in the Sierra Nevada, California." San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science 6(1): Article 3.
- Pierce, D.W., T.P. Barnett, B.D. Santerb, and P.J. Glecklerb. 2009. "Selecting global climate models for regional climate change studies." *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences.* Vol. 106, No. 21, 8441–8446.
- Pierce, D.W., T. Barnett, H. Hidalgo, T. Das, C. Bonfils, B.D. Santer, G. Bala, M. Dettinger, D. Cayan, A. Mirin, A.W. Wood, and T. Nazawa. 2008.
  "Attribution of declining Western U.S. snowpack to human effects." *Journal of Climate* 21(23): 6425–6444, doi:10.1175/2008JCLI2405.1.
- Pirtle, Z., R. Meyer, and A. Hamilton. 2010. "What does it mean when climate models agree? A case for assessing independence among general circulation models." *Environmental Science & Policy* 13: 351–361.
- Poiani, K.A., and W.C. Johnson. 1993. "Potential Effects of Climate Change on a Semi-Permanent Prairie Wetland." *Climatic Change* 24: 213–232.

- Purkey, D.R., B. Joyce, S. Vicuna, M.W. Hanemann, L.L. Dale, D. Yates, and J.A. Dracup. 2008. "Robust Analysis of Future Climate Change Impacts on Water for Agriculture and Other Sectors: A Case Study in the Sacramento Valley" *Climatic Change* (2008) 87 (Suppl 1):S109–S122, DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9375-8.
- Raff, D.A., T. Pruitt, and L.D. Brekke. 2009. "A framework for assessing flood frequency based on climate projection information." *Hydrology and Earth System Science Journal*. Vol. 13, p. 2119–2136. Available online at www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/13/2119/2009/.
- Rahel, F.J., and J.D. Olden. 2008. "Assessing the Effects of Climate Change on Aquatic Invasive Species." *Conservation Biology*, 22(3): 521–533. DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00950.x.
- Rahel, F.J., D. Bierwagen, and Y. Taniguchi. 2008. "Managing aquatic species of conservation concern in the face of climate change and invasive species." *Conservation Biology*, 22(3): 551–561, 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00953.x.
- Rahmstorf, S. 2007. "A Semi-Empirical Approach to Projecting Future Sea-Level Rise." *Science*, 315: 368–370.
- Rajagopalan, B., K. Nowak, J. Prairie, M. Hoerling, B. Harding, J. Barsugli, A. Ray, and B. Udall. 2009. "Water Supply Risk on the Colorado River: Can Management Mitigate?" *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 45, W08201, doi:10.1029/2008WR007652.
- Ramirez, J.A., and B. Finnerty. 1996. "CO<sub>2</sub> and Temperature Effects on Evapotranspiration and Irrigated Agriculture." *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, May/June 1996.
- Rangwala, I., and J.R. Miller. 2010. "Twentieth Century Temperature Trends in Colorado's San Juan Mountains." *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, Vol. 42, No. 1, 89–97, doi: 10.1657/1938-4246-42.1.89.
- Rauscher, S.A., J.S. Pal, N.S. Diffenbaugh, and M.M. Benedetti. 2008. "Future Changes in Snowmelt-driven Runoff Timing Over the Western United States." *Geophysical Research Letters*, Vol. 35, L16703, doi:10.1029/ 2008GL034424.
- Ray, A.J., J.J. Barsugli, K. Wolter, and J. Eischeid. 2010. Rapid-Response Climate Assessment to Support the FWS Status Review of the American Pika. Available online at http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/news/2010/ 020210.html.

- Reclamation. 2009 Literature Synthesis on Climate Change Implications for Reclamation's Water Resources. Technical Memorandum 86-68210-091, prepared by Bureau of Reclamation, U.S. Department of the Interior. 290 pp.
- Reclamation. 2007. *Review of Science and Methods for Incorporating Climate Change Information into Reclamation's Colorado River Basin Planning Studies.*
- Regonda, S.K., B. Rajagopalan, M. Clark, and J. Pitlick. 2005. "Seasonal Cycle Shifts in Hydroclimatology Over the Western United States." *Journal of Climate* 18(2): 372–384.
- Reichler, T., and J. Kim. 2008. "How Well Do Coupled Models Simulate Today's Climate?" *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 89(3), 303–311.
- Reiners, W.A., W.L. Baker, J.S. Baron, D M. Debinski, S.A. Elias, D.B. Fagre, J.S. Findley, L.O. Mearns, D.W. Roberts, T.R. Seastedt, T.J. Stohlgren, T.T. Veblen, and F.H. Wagner. 2003. "Natural ecosystems I: The Rocky Mountains." *Rocky Mountain/Great Basin Regional Climate Change Assessment*, report for the U. S. Global Change Research Program. F.H. Wagner (ed.), 145–184. Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Available online at http://www.usgcrp.gov/usgcrp/nacc/background/ regions.htm.
- Revelle, R.R., and P.E. Waggoner. 1983. "Effects of a Carbon Dioxide Induced Climatic Change on Water Supplies in the Western United States." *Changing Climate*. National Academy of Sciences Press, Washington, DC.
- Robinson, D.C.E., S.J. Beukema, and L.A. Greig. 2008. Vegetation models and climate change:workshop results. Prepared by ESSA Technologies Ltd., for Western Wildlands Environmental Threat Assessment Center, U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Prineville, Oregon. 50 pp.
- Rosenberg, E.A., P.W. Keys, D.B. Booth, D. Hartley, J. Burkey, A.C. Steinemann, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Precipitation extremes and the impacts of climate change on stormwater infrastructure in Washington State." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 319–349, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9847-0.
- Rosenberg, N.J., D.J. Epstein, D. Wang, L. Vail, R. Srinivasan, and J.G. Arnold.
  1999. "Possible Impacts of Global Warming on the Hydrology of the Ogallala Aquifer Region." *Climatic Change* 42(4): 677–692.

- Rosenzweig, C., A. Iglesius, X.B. Yang, P.R. Epstein, and E. Chivian. 2001. "Climate change and extreme weather events: implications for food production, plant diseases, and pests." *Global Change and Human Health*, 2(2): 90–104, 10.1023/A:1015086831467.
- Ryan, M.G., S.R. Archer, R. Birdsey, C. Dahm, L. Heath, J. Hicke, D. Hollinger, T. Huxman, G. Okin, R. Oren, J. Randerson, and W. Schlesinger. 2008.
  "Land Resources." *The Effects of climate change on Agriculture, Land Resources, Water Resources, and Biodiversity in the United States*. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research, Washington, DC. 362 pp.
- Salathé, E.P., L.R. Leung, Y. Qian, and Y. Zhanf. 2009. "Regional Climate Models Projections for the State of Washington." *The Washington Climate Change Impacts Assessment*. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington.
- Scott, M.J., and Y.J. Huang. 2007. Effects of Climate Change on Energy Use in the United States in Effects of Climate Change on Energy Production and Use in the United States. A report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global Change Research, Washington, DC.
- Seager, R., and G.A. Vecchi. 2010. "Greenhouse Warming and the 21<sup>st</sup> Century Hydroclimate of Southwestern North America." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (in press). Available online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0709640104.
- Seager R., M.Ting, I. Held, Y. Kushnir, J. Lu, G. Vecchi, 2007. "Model Projections of an Imminent Transition to a More Arid Climate in Southwestern North America." *Science* 316(5828): 1181–1184.
- Serrat-Capdevila, A., J.B. Valdés, J. González Pérez, K. Baird, L.J. Mata, and T. Maddock III. 2007. "Modeling climate change impacts—and uncertainty—on the hydrology of a riparian system: the San Pedro Basin (Arizona/Sonora)." *Journal of Hydrology* 347:48–66, DOI 10.1016/ j.jhydrol.2007.08.028.
- Shin, S., and P.D. Sardeshmukh. 2010. "Critical influence of the pattern of Tropical ocean warming on remote climate trends." *Climate Dynamics*, DOI 10.1007/s00382-009-0732-3.
- Sheppard, P.R., A.C. Comrie, A.C., G.D. Packin, K. Angersbach, K., and M.K. Hughes. 2002. "The Climate of the U.S. Southwest." *Climate Research* 21: 219–238.

- Slaughter, R., and J.D. Wiener. 2007. "Water, adaptation, and property rights on the Snake and Klamath Rivers." *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 43(2):308–21, DOI: 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2007.00024.x.
- Smoliak, B.V., J.M. Wallace, M.T. Stoelinga, and T.P. Mitchell. 2010. "Application of partial least squares regression to the diagnosis of year-toyear variations in Pacific Northwest snowpack and Atlantic hurricanes." *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 37, L03801, doi:10.1029/2009GL041478.
- Stefan, H.G., X. Fang, and J.G. Eaton. 2001. "Simulated Fish Habitat Changes in North American Lakes in Response to Projected Climate Warming." *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, Vol. 130: 459–477. Available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2001)130< 0459:SFHCIN>2.0.CO;2.
- Stewart, I.T. 2009. "Changes in snowpack and snowmelt runoff for key mountain regions." *Hydrological Processes* 23: 78–94, DOI: 10.1002/hyp.7128.
- Stewart, I.T., D.R. Cayan, and M.D. Dettinger. 2004. "Changes in Snowmelt Runoff Timing in Western North America Under a 'Business as Usual' Climate Change Scenario." *Climatic Change* 62: 217–232.
- Stewart, I.T., D.R. Cayan, and M.D. Dettinger. 2005. "Changes toward Earlier Streamflow Timing Across Western North America." *Journal of Climate* 18: 1136–55.
- Stine, S. 1994. "Extreme and persistent drought in California and Patagonia during mediaeval time." *Nature Journal* 369:546–49.
- Stoelinga, M.T., M.D. Albright, and C.F. Mass. 2010. "A New Look at Snowpack Trends in the Cascade Mountains." J. Climate, 23, 2473–2491, doi: 10.1175/2009JCLI2911.1.
- Stromberg, J.C., V.B. Beauchamp, M.D. Dixon, S.J. Lite, and C. Paradzick. 2007. "Importance of low-flow and high-flow characteristics to restoration of riparian vegetation along rivers in arid Southwestern United States." *Freshwater Biology*, 52(4): 651–679.
- Sun, Y., S. Solomon, A. Dai, R.W. Portmann. 2007. "How Often Will It Rain?" J. Climate, 20, 4801–4818, doi: 10.1175/JCLI4263.1.
- Tebaldi, C, K. Hayhoe, J.M. Arblaster, and G.A. Meehl. 2006. "Going to the extremes; An intercomparison of model-simulated historical and future changes in extreme events." *Climatic Change*, 79: 185–211.

- Thompson, D.W.J., J.J. Kennedy, J.M. Wallace, and P.D. Jones. 2008. "A Large Discontinuity in the Mid-twentieth Century in Observed Global-mean Surface Temperature." *Nature*, Vol. 453, doi:10.1038/nature06982.
- Van Rheenen, N.T., A.W. Wood, R.N. Palmer, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2004. "Potential Implications of PCM Climate Change Scenarios for Sacramento-San Joaquin River Basin Hydrology and Water Resources." *Climatic Change* 62(1–3):257–281.
- Vano, J.A., N. Voisin, L. Cuo, A.F. Hamlet, M.M. Elsner, R.N. Palmer, A. Polebitski, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2010. "Climate change impacts on water management in the Puget Sound region, Washington, USA." *Climatic Change* 102(1-2): 261–286, doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9846-1.
- Vermeer, M., and S. Rahmstorf. 2009. "Global sea level linked to global temperature." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. Available online at www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0907765106.
- Vicuna, S., and J.A. Dracup. 2007. "The Evolution of Climate Change Impact Studies on Hydrology and Water Resources in California." *Climate Change* 82(3-4): 327–350, DOI: 10.1007/s10584-006-9207-2.
- Vicuna, S., J.A. Dracup, J.R. Lund, L.L. Dale, and E.P. Maurer. 2010.
  "Basin-scale water system operations with uncertain future climate conditions: Methodology and case studies." *Journal of Water Resources Research*, Vol. 46, W04505, doi:10.1029/2009WR007838, 2010.
- Vicuna, S., and J.A. Dracup. 2007. "The Evolution of Climate Change Impact Studies on Hydrology and Water Resources in California." *Climatic Change* 82(3–4): 327–350.
- Villarini, G., F. Serinaldi, J.A. Smith, and W.F. Krajewski. 2009. "On the stationarity of annual flood peaks in the continental United States during the 20<sup>th</sup> century." *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 45, W08417, doi:10.1029/2008WR007645.
- Washington, W.M., J.W. Weatherly, G.A. Meehl, A.J. Semtner Jr., T.W. Bettge, P. Craig, W.G. Strand Jr., J. Arblaster, V.B. Wayland, R. James, and Y. Zhang. 2000. "Parallel climate model (PCM) control and transient simulations." *Climate 15 dynamics*, 16: 755–774.
- Weiss, J., and J.T. Overpeck. 2005. "Is the Sonoran Desert losing its cool?" *Global Change Biology*, 11: 2065–2077.
- Weiss, J.L., C.L. Castro, and J.T. Overpeck. 2009. "Distinguishing Pronounced Droughts in the Southwestern United States: Seasonality and Effects of Warmer Temperatures." *Journal of Climate* 22: 5918–5932.

- Westerling, A.L., H.G. Hidalgo, D.R. Cayan, and T.W. Swetnam. 2006. "Warming and Earlier Spring Increase Western U.S. Forest Wildfire Activity." *Science* 313(5789): 940–943.
- Westerling, A.L., and B.P. Bryant. 2008. "Climate change and wildfire in California." *Climatic Change* 87 (Suppl 1): S231–S249, DOI 10.1007/s10584-007-9363-z.
- Wigley, T.M.L. 2005. "The climate change commitment." *Science* 307:1766–1769.
- Williams, K.K., J.D. McMillin, T E. DeGomez, K M. Clancy, and A. Miller.
  2008. "Influence of Elevation on Bark Beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) Community Structure and Flight Periodicity in Ponderosa Pine Forests of Arizona." *Environ. Entomol.* 37(1): 94–109.
- Williams, J.E., A.L. Haak, H.M. Neville, and W.T. Colyer. 2009. "Potential Consequences of Climate Change to Persistence of Cutthroat Trout Populations." *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 29:533– 548. Available from the Trout Unlimited Web site.
- Wolkovich, E.M., and E.E. Cleland. 2010. "The phenology of plant invasions: a community ecology perspective." *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*.
- Wood, A.W., E.P. Maurer, A. Kumar, and D.P. Lettenmaier. 2002. "Long-range experimental hydrologic forecasting for the Eastern United States." *J. Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 107(D20), 4429, doi:10.1029/ 2001JD000659.
- Woodhouse, C.A., S.T. Gray, and D.M. Meko. 2006. "Updated streamflow reconstructions for the Upper Colorado River Basin." *Water Resour. Res.*, 42, W05415, doi:10.1029/2005WR004455.
- Woodhouse, C., J. Russell, and E. Cook. 2009. "Two Modes of North American Drought from Instrumental and Paleoclimatic Data." *Journal of Climate*, 22(16): 4336–4347, doi:10.1175/2009JCLI2705.1.
- Yin, J., S.M. Griffies, and R.J. Soufeer. 2010. "Spatial Variability of Sea Level Rise in Twenty-First Century Projections." *Journal of Climate*, 23, 4585– 4607, DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3533.1.

## Appendix B. Graphical Resources – Downscaled Climate Changes Projected over Reclamation Regions

This appendix contains maps that summarize an assessment of downscaled, current climate projections<sup>1</sup> for decadal moving changes in 30-year mean precipitation and temperature. The downscaled climate projections used in this assessment are described in the main report, chapter 4. Each map shows change by the Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) region, climate variable, and projected future period relative to a given base period (periods are indicated in map title).

About the climate periods, projected future period varies from 1960–1989 to 2070–2099. The projected base period provides the reference for assessing climate change and is always "simulated historical" 1950-1979 period. Being simulated and not observed, the reference climate is unique for each projection. It is statistically close but not equal to the historically observed climate during 1950–1979. The reason for the latter relates to discussion in chapter 4 of the main report. The base period climates in these projections are generated using a given climate model forced by estimated historical time series atmospheric composition (1900–1999) and starting from a given estimate of the initial climate system condition in year 1900. Multiple initial condition estimates might be considered, leading to multiple historical "runs."<sup>2</sup> As discussed in chapter 4, the "simulated historical" climate of each projection has been bias-corrected to be statistically consistent with historically observed climate during 1950–1999. This biascorrection procedure does not constrain frequency characteristics to be the same (e.g., occurrence of drought and surplus spells). Thus, when these bias-corrected "simulated historical" climates are sampled for 30-year subperiods (e.g., 1950– 1979, 1960–1989, 1970–1999) within the bias-correction period (1950–1999), it is possible that the sampled 30-year statistics will vary among projections and also vary relative to historically observed 30-year statistics.

On computing changes in period climate, period mean-annual changes were first computed for both climate variables for each projection and downscaling location. For temperature, the computed change is incremental of future period minus base period (degrees Fahrenheit [°F]). For precipitation, the computed change is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Data source the World Climate Research Programme's (WCRP's) Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phase 3 (CMIP3) multimodel dataset (http://wwwpcmdi.llnl.gov/ipcc/about\_ipcc.php). Finer spatial resolution translations of these data were then obtained from the "Statistically Downscaled WCRP CMIP3 Climate Projections" archive at http://gdo-dcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip3\_projections/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www-pcmdi.llnl.gov/ipcc/time\_correspondence\_summary.htm.

quotient of "incremental change of future period minus base period" divided by base period, expressed as a percent. At each downscaling location and for a given pair of periods (e.g., 2020–2049 relative to the base 1950–1979 period), these computations resulted in an ensemble of 112 projection-specific changes. From these results, the maps show ensemble-median change at each location. It is relevant to focus on the ensemble-median change given that the projections do not all start from the same climate-system state and because natural multidecadal climate variability can affect period-specific climate statistics like 30-year means. Change values are indicated in two ways on the maps: (a) color shading as indicated by the color bar legend and (b) contours with change values labeled (i.e., contours at 5 percent [%] intervals for precipitation change and at 0.5 °F intervals for temperature change).

It is recommended that the maps be interpreted as follows:

- All of the downscaled climate projections that contributed to this assessment offer a plausible portrayal of how temperature and precipitation might have evolved during the past and could evolve into the future.
- At any projection time-stage, we can focus on the middle condition among all of the projections' conditions to get a sense about mean climate state in the context of this sequencing uncertainty (i.e., focus on the projection ensemble-median).
- If we apply this view to "change in period-mean climate" and track the middle change through time, we can evaluate the information for presence or absence of climate change trends.

## Pacific Northwest Region – Precipitation Change



Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1970-1999 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1990-2019 from 1950-1979




Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2010-2039 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2030-2059 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2050-2079 from 1950-1979



B-7



Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2070-2099 from 1950-1979



## Mid-Pacific Region – Precipitation Change





B-12





**Mid-Pacific Region** 



B-15



**Mid-Pacific Region** 

## Lower Colorado Region – Precipitation Change









Lower Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2030-2059 from 1950-1979





B-23



## Upper Colorado Region – Precipitation Change





Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1970-1999 from 1950-1979





Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1980-2009 from 1950-1979







Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2000-2029 from 1950-1979







Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2020-2049 from 1950-1979









Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2050-2079 from 1950-1979







Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2070-2099 from 1950-1979



## Great Plains Region – Precipitation Change



Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1960-1989 from 1950-1979







Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1980-2009 from 1950-1979

Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 1990-2019 from 1950-1979





Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2000-2029 from 1950-1979

Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2010-2039 from 1950-1979





Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2020-2049 from 1950-1979

Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2030-2059 from 1950-1979





Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2040-2069 from 1950-1979

Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2050-2079 from 1950-1979





Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2060-2089 from 1950-1979

Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Precipitation, Percentage 2070-2099 from 1950-1979


### Pacific Northwest Region – Temperature Change



Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 1970-1999 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 1990-2019 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2010-2039 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2030-2059 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2050-2079 from 1950-1979





Pacific Northwest Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2070-2099 from 1950-1979



### Mid-Pacific Region – Temperature Change













### Lower Colorado Region – Temperature Change













## Upper Colorado Region – Temperature Change



Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 1970-1999 from 1950-1979





Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 1980-2009 from 1950-1979







5

105<sup>°</sup> W

115<sup>°</sup>W

110<sup>°</sup> W

B-69



Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2030-2059 from 1950-1979



B-70



Upper Colorado Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2050-2079 from 1950-1979









Upper Colorado Region

# Great Plains Region – Temperature Change



**Great Plains Region** Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F



110° W

105<sup>°</sup> W

100<sup>°</sup> W

95° W

**Great Plains Region** Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F




ອີກ boundary Office boundaries

100<sup>°</sup> W

105<sup>°</sup> W

Reği Area

110° W

1

95<sup>°</sup> W

**Great Plains Region** 

R

25° N





Great Plains Region Change in Mean Annual Temperature, deg F 2070-2099 from 1950-1979



## Appendix C. Glossary of Terms

Anthropogenic: Resulting from or produced by human beings.

**Atmosphere-Ocean General Circulation Model (AOGCM):** See Climate Model.

**Bias Correction:** Simulations or forecasts of climate from dynamical models such as AOGCMs do not precisely correspond to reality (i.e., observations), thus, resulting in "bias." There are statistical methods to correct this, often referred to as "bias correction" methods. Typically, they involve fitting a statistical model between the dynamical model simulations and the observations over a period. The fitted statistical model is used to correct future model simulations.

**Climate (International Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] 2007):** Climate, in a narrow sense, usually is defined as the average weather, or more rigorously, as the statistical description in terms of the mean and variability of relevant quantities over a period of time ranging from months to thousands or millions of years. The classical period for defining a climate normal is 30 years, as defined by the World Meteorological Organization. The relevant quantities for water resources are most often surface or near-surface variables such as temperature, precipitation, and wind. Climate in a wider sense is the state, including a statistical description, of the climate system. Beginning with the view of local climate as little more than the annual course of long-term averages of surface temperature and precipitation, the concept of climate had broadened and evolved in recent decades in response to the increased understanding of the underlying processes that determine climate and its variability.

**Climate Change (IPCC 2007):** Climate change refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. Climate change may be due to natural internal processes or external *forcings* or to persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or in land use. Note that the Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), in its Article 1, defines climate change as: "a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods." The UNFCCC, thus, makes a distinction between climate change attributable to human activities altering the atmospheric composition, and climate variability attributable to natural causes. See also **Climate variability**.

**Climate Model (IPCC 2007):** A numerical representation of the climate system based on the physical, chemical, and biological properties of its components, their interactions and feedback processes, and accounting for all or some of its known properties. The climate system can be represented by models of varying complexity, that is, for any one component or combination of components a spectrum or hierarchy of models can be identified, differing in such aspects as the number of spatial dimensions, the extent to which physical, chemical or biological processes are explicitly represented, or the level at which empirical parameterizations are involved. Climate models are applied as a research tool to study and simulate the climate and for operational purposes, including monthly, seasonal and interannual climate predictions.

**Atmosphere-Ocean General Circulation Model (AOGCM)** (IPCC 2007): Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean General Circulation Models (AOGCMs) provide a representation of the climate system that is near the most comprehensive end of the spectrum currently available. These models simulate atmosphere and ocean circulation and their interactions with each other, land, and cryospheric processes. Simulations are forced by several factors, including time series assumptions on atmospheric greenhouse gas and aerosol concentrations.

**General Circulation Models (GCMs):** Abbreviated term that could mean AOGCM, atmospheric global climate model (GCM) with specified ocean boundary condition (AGCM), ocean GCM with specified atmospheric boundary condition (OGCM), or global climate model that could be any of the aforementioned.

**Climate Projection (IPCC 2007):** Response of the climate system to emission or concentration scenarios of greenhouse gases and aerosols, or radiative forcing scenarios, often based upon simulations by climate models. Climate projections are distinguished from climate predictions to emphasize that climate projections depend upon the emission/concentration/radiative forcing scenario used, which are based on assumptions concerning, for example, future socioeconomic and technological developments that may or may not be realized and are, therefore, subject to substantial uncertainty.

**Climate System (IPCC 2007):** The climate system is the highly complex system consisting of five major components: the atmosphere, the hydrosphere, the cryosphere, the land surface and the biosphere, and the interactions between them. The climate system evolves in time under the influence of its own internal dynamics and because of external forcings such as volcanic eruptions, solar variations, and anthropogenic forcings such as the changing composition of the atmosphere and land-use change.

**Climate Variability (IPCC 2007):** Climate variability refers to variations in the mean state and other statistics (such as standard deviations, the occurrence of extremes, etc.) of the climate on all spatial and temporal scales beyond that of

individual weather events. Variability may be due to natural internal processes within the climate system (internal variability), or to variations in natural or *anthropogenic* or external *forcing* (external variability). See also **Climate change**.

**Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phase 3 (CMIP3):** In response to a proposed activity of the World Climate Research Programme's (WCRP's) Working Group on Coupled Modelling (WGCM), the Program for Climate Model Diagnosis and Intercomparison (PCMDI) volunteered to collect model output contributed by leading modeling centers around the world. Climate model output from simulations of the past, present, and future climate was collected by PCMDI mostly during the years 2005 and 2006, and this archived data constitutes phase 3 of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP3). In part, the WGCM organized this activity to enable those outside the major modeling centers to perform research of relevance to climate scientists preparing the Fourth Asssessment Report (AR4) of the IPCC.

**Downscaling:** This is the process of spatially translating relatively coarse-scale *climate projection* output from *AOGCMs* to a relatively fine-scale resolution that is often necessary for regional impacts assessment. The process can involve simulating atmospheric conditions at a finer spatial scale (i.e., dynamical downscaling), or it can involve identifying *empirical* relationships between finer-scale surface climate and coarse-scale output from the *AOGCMs* (i.e., statistical downscaling). Downscaling is a separate issue from *bias-correction*, which involves identifying and accounting for AOGCM tendencies to simulate climate that differs from observations (e.g., historical climate simulations that are too warm, cool, wet, or dry relative to observations).

**Drought:** A period of abnormally dry weather or below-normal runoff that is sufficiently long enough to cause stress for a given resource system (e.g., surface water supply versus demand, soil moisture availability versus plant water needs). Drought is a relative term; therefore, any discussion in terms of precipitation or hydrologic deficit must refer to the particular resource system in question.

**Empirical:** Relying upon or derived from observation or experiment; based on experimental data, not on a theory.

**El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) (IPCC 2007):** The term El Niño initially was used to describe a warm-water current that periodically flows along the coast of Ecuador and Perú, disrupting the local fishery. It has since become identified with a basin-wide warming of the tropical Pacific Ocean east of the dateline. This oceanic event is associated with a fluctuation of a global-scale tropical and subtropical surface pressure pattern called the Southern Oscillation. This coupled atmosphere-ocean phenomenon, with preferred time scales of 2 to about 7 years, is collectively known as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO). It is often measured by the surface pressure anomaly difference between Darwin and Tahiti

and the sea surface temperatures in the central and eastern equatorial Pacific. During an ENSO event, the prevailing trade winds weaken, reducing upwelling and altering ocean currents such that the sea surface temperatures warm, further weakening the trade winds. This event has a great impact on the wind, sea surface temperature, and precipitation patterns in the tropical Pacific. It has climatic effects throughout the Pacific region and in many other parts of the world, through global teleconnections. The cold phase of ENSO is called La Niña.

**Forcings:** Factors influencing dynamic response in a system. For example, precipitation and temperature conditions drive hydrologic dynamics in a watershed and might be thought of as *forcings* on the watershed hydrologic system. In a modeling sense, *forcings* are often the input time series boundary conditions creating the dynamical system response during simulation (i.e., input time series assumptions for precipitation and temperature would be the meteorological *forcings* for the hydrologic simulation).

## General Circulation Models (GCMs): See Climate Model.

**Greenhouse Gas (GHG) (IPCC 2007):** Greenhouse gases are those gaseous constituents of the atmosphere, both natural and anthropogenic, that absorb and emit radiation at specific wavelengths within the spectrum of thermal infrared radiation emitted by the Earth's surface, the atmosphere itself, and by clouds. This property causes the greenhouse effect. Water vapor (H<sub>2</sub>O), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), and ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) are the primary greenhouse gases in the Earth's atmosphere. Moreover, there are a number of entirely human-made greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, such as the halocarbons and other chlorine- and bromine-containing substances, dealt with under the Montreal Protocol. Beside CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and CH<sub>4</sub>, the Kyoto Protocol deals with the greenhouse gases sulphur hexafluoride (SF<sub>6</sub>), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), and perfluorocarbons (PFCs).

**GHG Emission Scenario (IPCC 2007):** A plausible representation of the future development of emissions of substances that are/could contribute to *radiative forcing* (e.g., greenhouse gases, aerosols), based on a coherent and internally consistent set of assumptions about driving forces (such as demographic and socioeconomic development, technological change) and their key relationships. Concentration scenarios, derived from emission scenarios, are used as input to a climate model to compute climate projections. In IPCC (1992), a set of emission scenarios was presented that were used as a basis for the climate projections in IPCC (1996). These emission scenarios (Nakićenović and Swart 2000)—new emission scenarios, the so-called *SRES Scenarios*, were published, some of which were used, among others, as a basis for the climate projections presented in chapters 9 to 11 of IPCC (2001) and chapters 10 and 11 of IPCC (2007). See **SRES scenarios**.

**Groundwater:** Subsurface water that occupies the zone of saturation; thus, only the water below the water table, as distinguished from interflow and soil moisture.

**Hydrology:** The scientific study of the waters of the earth, especially with relation to the effects of precipitation and evaporation upon the occurrence and character of water in streams, lakes, and on or below the land surface.

**Impaired Inflows:** In contrast to *natural flows*, these are reservoir or water system inflows affected by an upstream combination of natural runoff, human use, diversion, management, and/or allocation.

**Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)** The IPCC was established by World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) and provides an assessment of the state of knowledge on climate change based on peer-reviewed and published scientific/technical literature in regular time intervals.

**IPCC Fourth Assessment Report:** The Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) Climate Change 2007 is a series of reports by the *IPCC* and provides an assessment of the current state of knowledge on climate change including the scientific aspects of climate change, impacts, and vulnerabilities of human, natural, and managed systems and adaptation and mitigation strategies.

**Interpolation:** The estimation of unknown intermediate values from known discrete values of a dependent variable.

**Lees Ferry:** A reference point in the Colorado River 1 mile below the mouth of the Paria River in Arizona that marks the division between Upper Colorado and Lower Colorado River Basins.

Million Acre-feet (MAF): The volume of water that would cover 1 million acres to a depth of 1 foot.

**National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA):** The National Environmental Policy Act requires Federal agencies to integrate environmental values into their decisionmaking processes by considering the environmental impacts of their proposed actions and reasonable alternatives to those actions. To meet this requirement, Federal agencies prepare a detailed statement known as an environmental impact statement (EIS), disclosing the environmental effects of the proposed action being considered.

**Natural Flow:** Streamflow that has not been affected by upstream human activity, water diversions, or river regulation; also called virgin flows.

**Paleoclimate (or "Paleo"):** Climate during the period prior to the development of measuring instruments. This period includes historical and geologic time, for which only proxy climate records are available. (Paleoclimatolgoy: The study of past climate throughout geologic and historic time and the causes of their variations.)

**Paleo Streamflow Reconstruction:** Using analyses from tree ring reconstructions, streamflow volumes prior to the gauge record can be estimated using a statistical model, which captures the relationship between tree growth and the gauge record during their period of overlap. Then, this model is applied to the tree ring data for the period prior to the gauge record.

**Parts Per Million (ppm):** Parts per million denotes one particle of a given substance for every 999,999 other particles.

Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO): See Pacific Decadal Variability.

**Pacific Decadal Variability (IPCC 2007):** Coupled decadal-to-interdecadal variability of the atmospheric circulation and underlying ocean in the Pacific Basin. It is most prominent in the North Pacific, where fluctuations in the strength of the winter Aleutian low pressure system co-vary with North Pacific sea surface temperatures and are linked to decadal variations in atmospheric circulation, sea surface temperatures, and ocean circulation throughout the whole Pacific Basin. Such fluctuations have the effect of modulating the El Niño-Southern Oscillation cycle. Key measures of Pacific decadal variability are the North Pacific Index (NPI), the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) index and the Interdecadal Pacific Oscillation (IPO) index.

**Quantile:** A generic term for any fraction that divides a collection of observations arranged in order of magnitude into two or more specific parts.

**Radiative Forcing:** Radiative forcing is the change in the net, downward minus upward, irradiance at the atmosphere's tropopause due to a change in an external driver of climate change, such as, for example, a change in the concentration of carbon dioxide or a change in solar output (IPCC 2007). A net change in the irradiance causes change in other climate system conditions (e.g., the temperature changes accordingly).

Riparian: Of, on, or pertaining to the bank of a river, pond, or lake.

**Shortage:** In a given watershed, a water supply deficit relative to demands, attributed to below average streamflow volumes due to natural or managerial attributions.

**Snow-water Equivalent (SWE):** The amount of water contained within the snowpack. It can be thought of as the depth of water that theoretically would result if you melted the entire snowpack instantaneously. SWE typically is measured by pushing a "snow tube" into the snowpack to measure the height of the snow. The tube then is carefully lifted with the snow inside and weighed on a calibrated scale that gives the SWE directly.

SRES Scenarios (IPCC 2007): SRES scenarios are *GHG emission scenarios* (2000) and used, among others, as a basis for some of the *climate projections* shown in IPCC 2007. The following terms are relevant for a better understanding of the structure and use of the set of SRES scenarios:

**Storyline:** A narrative description of a scenario (or family of scenarios), highlighting the main scenario characteristics, relationships between key driving forces, and the dynamics of their evolution.

**Scenario Family**: Scenarios that have a similar demographic, societal, economic, and technical change storyline. Four scenario families comprise the SRES scenario set: A1, A2, B1, and B2. Generally speaking, the A1 scenarios are of a more integrated world. The A2 scenarios are of a more divided world. The B1 scenarios are of a world more integrated and more ecologically friendly. The B2 scenarios are of a world more divided but more ecologically friendly.

## **Illustrative Scenario:**

and Swart (2000). They include four revised scenario markers for the scenario groups A1B, A2, B1, B2, and two additional scenarios for the A1FI and A1T groups. All scenario groups are equally sound.

**Stochastic Hydrology:** The science that pertains to the probabilistic description and modeling of the value of hydrologic phenomena, particularly the dynamic behavior and the statistical analysis of records of such phenomena.

**Storage:** The retention of water or delay of runoff either by planned operation, as in a reservoir, or by temporary filling of overflow areas, as in the progression of a flood wave through a natural stream channel.

**Temporal:** Of, relating to, or limited by time (i.e., temporal boundaries).

**Variable Infiltration Capacity (VIC) Model:** VIC is a macroscale hydrologic model that solves full water and energy balances. VIC is a research model; and in its various forms, it has been applied to many watersheds including the Columbia River, the Ohio River, the Arkansas-Red Rivers, and the Upper Mississippi Rivers as well as being applied globally.

**Water Balance (Water Budget):** A summation of inputs, outputs, and net changes to a particular water resource system over a fixed period.

**Watershed:** All the land and water within the confines of a certain water drainage area; the total area drained by a river and its tributaries.

**Water Aupply:** Process or activity by which a given amount of water is provided for some use (e.g., municipal, industrial, and agricultural).

**Water Year:** A continuous 12-month period selected to present data relative to hydrologic or meteorological phenomena during which a complete annual hydrologic cycle normally occurs. The water year used by the U.S. Geological Survey runs from October 1 through September 30 and is designated by the year in which it ends.